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YASHILI INTERNATIONAL HOLDINGS
LTD (THE “COMPANY"” OR “YASHILI")
(STOCK CODE: 01230) and its
subsidiaries (collectively the “Group”)

as a whole is a domestically leading professional infant
formula producer with international presence that
produces and sells premium infant formula and nutrition
food in China.

The Group has factories in Guangdong, Shanghai,
Shanxi, Inner Mongolia, New Zealand, etc. It sells infant
formula products through widely recognized brands
such as Yashily, Reeborne, Dumex, Arla and Scient, as
well as various nutrition food including adult milk
powder and dissolvable products.
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AUTHORIZED REPRESENTATIVES
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COMPANY SECRETARY
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PRINCIPAL PLACE OF BUSINESS IN THE PRC

9/F Nova Tower

No. 185 Yuexiu Road South

Yuexiu District, Guangzhou City
Guangdong Province, 510057

The People’s Republic of China (the “PRC")

PRINCIPAL PLACE OF BUSINESS IN HONG KONG

Room A, 32nd Floor
COFCO Tower

262 Gloucester Road
Causeway Bay

Hong Kong

REGISTERED ADDRESS OF THE COMPANY

Cricket Square

Hutchins Drive, P.O. Box 2681
Grand Cayman KY1-1111
Cayman Islands
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On behalf of the board of directors (the
“"Board”) of Yashili International
Holdings Ltd, | hereby present the
Annual Report of the Group for the
year ended 31 December 2017 to all
shareholders of the Company (the
“Shareholders”).
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LETTER TO SHAREHOLDERS
HIRRHE

On behalf of the board of directors (the “Board”) of Yashili International
Holdings Ltd, | hereby present the Annual Report of the Group for the year
ended 31 December 2017 to all shareholders of the Company (the
“Shareholders”).

In 2017, Yashili continued to pursue for transformation through
consolidation with a focus on refined market segments, in an effort to
rebuild core competitiveness and brand differentiation, so as to achieve its
strategic competition goal. With the implementation of The Administrative
Measures for the Registration of Recipes of Infant Formula Milk Powder
Products (the “Recipe Registration Requirement”), dubbed “The Most
Stringent Policy for Milk Powder Products”, Yashili Group completed recipe
registration for 39 recipes of 13 product series, having the most approved
recipes on the first batch list. 2017 turned out to be quite challenging for
the milk powder industry. However, driven by the positive effects brought
by the implementation of new regulatory policies such as the Recipe
Registration Requirement, consumption upgrade and the nationwide two-
child policy, we witnessed recovery in the infant formula market in China.

On market performance, we achieved continuous self-improvement and
increasing sophistication in brand upgrading, channel transformation,
product development, quality management and system support, and
consolidated our online and offline resources to push ahead the integration
of online and offline channels. By promoting sales model optimization and
channel transformation, Oushi Mengniu (Inner Mongolia) Dairy Products
Co., Ltd. (“Oushi Mengniu”) achieved rapid and steady growth, and the
organic brand Reeborne won the Award of the Most Trustworthy Mother-
and-infant Brand for 2017 organized by Mama.cn (#51548) (1515495 52 &
W#20174Z Q8 T) for its organic and nutritional milk formula. The Dumex
brand was reshaped and upgraded with increased awareness of its image
highlighting body defenses. As part of the strategic cooperation between
the Group and Arla Foods, the super-premium organic product series “Baby
& Me" and the series “Doraler” introduced from Australia have enjoyed
rapid growth with fast growing market share.
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LETTER TO SHAREHOLDERS (conTiINUED)
BB ERWE @

During the past year, Yashili continued to receive strong support from
shareholders Mengniu and Danone. In addition to the resulting advantages
in supply chain coordination and brand value, Yashili joined hand with
Mengniu to become the official milk powder of 2018 FIFA World Cup,
demonstrating the recognition of our brand and product quality by the
Federation International of Football Association, and also presenting us an
important opportunity to introduce Chinese milk brands to the world.
Moreover, Yashili introduced from Arla Foods the world’s top organic infant
formula series “Baby & Me"” and also introduced from Australia the
premium infant formula goat milk powder series “Doraler”, successfully
expanding to the high-end market. Meanwhile, at the production side, the
New Zealand factory of Yashili signed a strategic cooperation supply
agreement with Danone to further improve capacity utilization rate and
reduce fixed production costs, so as to enhance the synergy between the
Group and Danone Group. The Group also signed a research and
development support and service agreement for the transitional period with
Danone Group to gain access to Danone’s research data, thus further
consolidating its R&D strength.

In 2018, with the official implementation of the new policy of milk powder
products, the dairy industry will reach new milestones. Facing the new
opportunities and challenges in the market, the Group is well positioned to
address changes in market condition through production innovation, brand
upgrading and channel development. During the year, we have introduced
the business partner mechanism under which the business partners will
undertake risks with the Company, giving the staff a stronger and more
direct sense of the operation performance. The business partner mechanism
nurtures not only dedicated executives but entrepreneurial talent. This
mechanism provides a significant foundation and safeguard either in terms
of the efficiency and benefits of our existing operations, or innovations and
exploration of new businesses.
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LETTER TO SHAREHOLDERS (conTiNUED)
HBREWE @

By making improvements during the course of action, we are determined to
push forward through dedication and transformation. Looking ahead into
2018, the Group will continue to partner with large resource platforms such
as COFCO, Mengniu, Danone and Arla Foods to create a sound ecological
chain in the dairy industry, aiming to develop premium infant formula milk
powder products that are more suitable for Chinese babies.

In 2018, Yashili will consolidate global resources to provide super-quality
products for our customers.

Jeffrey, Minfang Lu
Chairman

Hong Kong, 26 March 2018
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SELECTED FINANCIAL DATA
Bk 2 1Y B %5 BUE

Yearended 31 December & Z12A31B It F &

Percentage
2017 2016 change
FH) LA
(All amounts in Renminbi (BR45RIZIRR SN FTE SR

("RMB"”) million ARBTARYE]D

unless otherwise stated) BB IR
Key results TEXEE
Revenue S| 2,254.7 2,203.3 2.3%
Gross profit EF 922.2 1,037.3 -11.1%
Operating profit 1 -335.0 -444.0 —24.5%
Earnings before interest, tax, BT B 8 A A

depreciation and amortization

(EBITDA) -156.4 -274.3 -43.0%
Profit attributable to equity holders 7K X B fX#E £ 8 A FE 15 3% £

of the Company -179.8 -320.2 -43.8%
Net operating cash flow (Note 1) K& L mEF5 (ME1) -254.9 —477.2 -46.6%
Basic earnings per share (RMB cents) &A% ZE AR 2 F| (A R 5)

(Note 2) (Kt&E2) -3.8 -6.7 -43.3%
Net asset value per share (RMB) FRFEE(ANREIT)

(Note 3) (H7E3) 1.2 1.2 —

Proposed final dividend EF N ) — — -
Dividend payout ratio % 8.5 K bt & = — —
Key performance ratios FTEXEELE
Profitability ratios & F L &
Gross profit margin E R X 40.9% 47 1%
Operating profit margin £ H R = -14.9% -20.2%
Net profit margin ]S -8.0% -14.5%
Margin of profit attributable to IRAEREB A FEAE R N R

equity holders -8.0% -14.5%
Return on net assets F & EE B 3R & -3.3% -5.6%
Net profit to total assets (Note 10) % FIJ 8 42 & & & (3£ 10) -2.4% -4.0%
Asset ratios BEHXE
Current ratio (Note 4) B b & (52 4) 2.1 1.8
Inventory turnover days (Note 5) FERAEXH(KES) 215 194
Trade receivable turnover days ) L ENEE PN

(Note 6) (Mf3E6) 23 27
Trade payable turnover days (Note 7) & 5 F& 15 Zx B 8 < £ (M1 3% 7) 93 74
Debt to equity ratio (Note 8) BEEERLE(ES) 35.3% 39.7%

Gearing ratio (Note 9) BEBEBERX (KM 7.1% 14.3%

-
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SELECTED FINANCIAL DATA (CONTINUED)

PR 3= B B 75 2B e

Year ended 31 December

Notes:

10.

HENZANALEFE

Cash inflow generated from operating activities for the year less cash outflow
generated from operating activities for the year.

Profit attributable to equity holders of the Company for the year divided by the
weighted average number of ordinary shares in issue for the year.

Net assets at year end divided by the number of ordinary shares in issue for the
year.

Total current assets at year end divided by total current liabilities at year end.

Inventory balances at year end divided by cost of sales for the year and multiplied by
365 days.

Balances of trade and bills receivables at year end divided by turnover for the year
and multiplied by 365 days.

Balances of trade and bills payables at year end divided by cost of sales for the year
and multiplied by 365 days.

Total liabilities at year end divided by total equity attributable to equity holders of
the Company at year end.

Total interest-bearing bank loans at year end divided by total assets at year end.

Profit for the year divided by total assets at year end.

—

10.
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K o
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K BELAZ65K ©
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BEEENWE D

In 2017, China’s economy operated within an appropriate range of stable
and positive macro statistical indicators, beating market expectations.
According to data released by the National Bureau of Statistics of China on
18 January 2018, the gross domestics products (“GDP") of China for 2017
reached RMB82,712.2 billion which broke the threshold of RMBS80 trillion
for the first time in history, and represented an increase of 6.9% from the
previous year. The GDP growth rate increased by 0.2 percentage point as
compared with that of 2016, marking the first acceleration in economic
growth since 2010.

From the demographic perspective, the total population grew steadily in
2017 with 17.23 million newborns for the full year and a birth rate of
12.43%, which represented a decrease of 0.52% as compared to 12.95%
for 2016, but still higher than 12.07% as recorded in 2015. With the
accelerating growth in residents’ income, the annual national disposable
income per capita for 2017 was RMB25,974, representing a nominal
growth of 9.0% from the previous year, and a real growth of 7.3% after
excluding price factors which increased by 1.0 percentage point as
compared with last year. The annual national consumption expenditure per
capita amounted to RMB18,322, representing a nominal growth of 7.1%
from the previous year and a real growth of 5.4% after excluding price
factors.

While China’s economy is developing steadily, the domestic infant formula
milk market is also undergoing “Quality Revolution”. The Recipe
Registration Requirement, known as “The Most Stringent New Policy for
Milk Powder Products” was implemented on 1 January 2018. It strictly
monitored the source of product and strengthened the supervision over the
production of milk powder enterprises from both China and foreign capital,
and it also requires that every enterprise, in principle, shall not have more
than three product series or nine product recipes, triggering reshuffle to
“survive for the fittest” in the domestic infant formula milk industry.

As at 29 December 2017, China Food and Drug Administration received a
total of 1,330 applications for infant formula milk powder products, of
which 952 applications had been approved, which involved 130 enterprises.
The first batch of approved recipes included infant formula milk powder
products produced by Yashili, Beingmate, Mead Johnson and other
companies. The stringent new policy was implemented so as to promote
the healthy competition of the domestic milk powder industry, laying a solid
foundation to restore consumer confidence. Many expensive and small

MANAGEMENT’S DISCUSSION AND ANALYSIS

2017 FEKEETRBEAERMH &
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E/RE(GDP)) a2 B A R¥-827,12218 7T
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MANAGEMENT’S DISCUSSION AND ANALLYSIS (CONTINUED)

BIEE 5T E D AT @)

imported brands that are rejected in the recipe registration procedure would
be squeezed out of the market through large-scale promotion campaigns,
leaving huge market space worth tens of billions, which will offer an
excellent opportunity for the major milk powder producers to grasp market
share with focused sources. With the increased entry barrier, rigorous
production regulation and channels transformation, the competition
landscape of the industry is shifting. To gain market share, it is essential for
the milk powder producers to focus on production management, product
innovation, building multiple communication channels with consumers and
brand building.

The year of 2017 marked the second year after the implementation of the
nationwide two-child policy, and the demographic dividend for the milk
powder industry was gradually seen, which effectively offset the impact
from the significant drop in the number of first-borns. During the year, the
overall infant formula milk powder market grew rapidly, with increases both
in quantity and price. According to AC Nielsen, as at December 2017, the
overall infant formula milk powder market (in dollar amounts) exceeded
RMB100 billion, up by 12% from the same period of last year, with strong
growth both in the mother-and-baby products and e-commerce. With the
visible trend of consumption upgrading, ultra-high-end products recorded a
year-on-year growth of 87% and high-end products a year-on-year growth
of 23% by sales volume, while the sales volume of low-end products
decreased by 9%.

In 2013, Mengniu Group commenced strategic cooperation with the Group
by way of a general offer, thereby becoming the Group’s controlling
shareholder. In 2014, the Group, China Mengniu International Company
Limited (“Mengniu International”) and Danone Asia Baby Nutrition Pte. Ltd.
("Danone Asia”) entered into a share subscription agreement. As the
transaction closed in February 2015, Danone Asia officially became the
Group’s second largest shareholder. In December 2015, the Group
completed the acquisition of the entire equity interest in Oushi Mengniu, a
member of Mengniu Group. In May 2016, the Group completed the
acquisition of the entire equity interest in Dumex Baby Food Co., Ltd. (“Dumex
China"), a member of Danone Group, and completed the initial stage of its
brand consolidation and domestic capacity expansion.

BET-mMBLBREMNMEZER  BKAE
ImeEERETETPERBMETSNEE
o BEEEAPIEMNRERT  AREBITHEE
RE - RENER EETENEFRED
FEHAENE TELEETE EmAlF 47
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BIEE T EE D AT @)

The Group is committed to developing wholesome nutritious products for
consumers, including the branded product series for promoting healthy

growth of infants and toddlers such as “Yashili”, “Reeborne”, “Dumex”,
“Arla” and “Scient”, as well as those designed to meet the nutritional
needs of adults such as "Youyi”, “Huanging” and “Zhengwei”. The

Group'’s business model incorporates such key factors as premium imported
dairy raw materials, premium imported original infant formula milk powder
products, self-developed recipes, an advanced manufacturing system and
professional marketing teams with sufficient knowledge of local consumer
markets, which enables it to offer trustworthy products to consumers.

Introduction of Product Categories

Infant Formula Products

The infant milk formula products developed by the Group are mainly aimed
at satisfying the health and nutritional needs of infants and toddlers during
daily feeding, and can serve as a major source of nutrition for infants and
toddlers supplementary to breast milk. All of the Group’s branded infant
milk formula products are produced using premium imported raw materials.
The Group is striving to develop infant formula with the most ideal nutrition
composition to well cater for the needs of infants and toddlers during
different stages of growth and development.

As one of the first batch of enterprises that have passed the review
procedure under the so-called “The Most Stringent New Policy for Milk
Powder Products”, Yashili's products are re-launched with brand new
images. Yashily’s “Super « -Golden”, originally canned and imported from
New Zealand and renamed as “lJingpo” infant milk powder after the
implementation of the new government policy, targets mid-range to high-
end customer groups and pool resources globally. The INFATTM active
energy system promotes growth of babies’ own probiotic group six times,
releasing internal intestinal vitality and improving digestion of nutrients,
which will keep the babies energetic. Yashili's “ a-Golden”, originally
canned and imported from New Zealand and renamed as “Jingyue” infant
milk powder after the implementation of the new policy, targets mid-range
customer groups. Produced by outstanding local manufacturers following
rigorous procedures and under strict supervision, this product is
supplemented with prebiotics combinations, which help to maintain
gastrointestinal health, keep the babies energetic and promote healthy and
happy growth. Products of this series contain the 1+1 nutrition mix to
supply key nutrition for physical and intellectual growth, providing all-round
nutrition for babies.

MANAGEMENT’S DISCUSSION AND ANALLYSIS (CONTINUED)
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Yashily’'s “Super Golden”, renamed as “Qin’ershi” after the implementation
of the new government policy, targets mid-range customers. Infant formula
milk powder of this series is painstakingly developed by the Group’s R&D
team based on the growth characteristics and nutritional needs of infants
and toddlers so as to provide them with necessary and balanced nutrition,
with specifications to suit their physical constitution for better digestion and
healthy growth. Yashily’s “Golden”, renamed as “Qin‘ershuo” as a result of
the new government policy, targets low-end to mid-range customers, which
provides balanced nutrition to facilitate the healthy growth of infants.
Yashily’s “New Formula” targets low-end to mid-range customers. Infant
formula milk powder products of this series contain prebiotics combinations,
DNA and nucleotides, which help to maintain gastrointestinal health,
facilitate intellectual development and develop the immune system.
Following the renaming as “Yashili” series after the implementation of the
new government policy and the formula upgrading, this product is
supplemented with probiotics and lactoferrin, building up the physical
strength and promoting healthy growth of babies.

As a strategic brand of the Group, Mengniu’s “Reeborne” was listed among
the first batch of products that have passed the review procedure under the
Recipe Registration Requirement. The “Qinyou” series and organic series
under this brand have successfully completed packaging and formula
upgrading, making it the best choice of milk powder products in the era of
the new policy. Mengniu’s “Platinum Jiazhi”, officially renamed as “Mengniu”
after the recipe registration, has kept its quality formula and focuses on
mid-range consumers, which provides infants with comprehensive nutrition.

“Doraler”, Yashili's first high-end imported goat milk powder brand, was
successfully launched to the market in November 2017 and obtained its
recipe registration code in December. As a strategic brand of the Group,
this product enriches the high-end product pipeline of the Company and
fills the gap in the high-end goat milk powder market. Originally canned
and imported from Australia and containing 100% pure goat milk protein,
this product has a smooth and creamy texture for better digestion.

The “Dumex” brand, originated in Europe, has been focused on the
research of immune systems for the Chinese babies for the past 25 years,
and has obtained two patents granted by the European authorities (i.e., the
patented prebiotics mixture and the patented technology of DHA
microencapsulated flavour). The product also contains OPO and Omega3
unsaturated fatty acids, and is focused on strengthening the immune
systems of the Chinese babies.
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Since its establishment 137 years ago, the “Arla Baby & Me Organic” brand,
as the ultra-high-end milk powder originally canned and imported from
Denmark and living up to its reputation as the “Brand Consumed by the
Royal Family”, has imposed strict quality controls spanning the entire
processes ranging from forage, research and development to transportation
and marketing, so as to ensure the organic nature and health of every drop
of milk.

Tailored Infant Formula Products

The accelerating modernisation and industrialisation process, and the
changing environment, lifestyles and diets in China pose increasing health
challenges to Chinese infants and toddlers. As an infant nutrition expert,
the Group not only endeavors to satisfy the nutritional needs of infants and
toddlers, but also has professional formula products under Dumex to meet
the unique nutritional needs of special infants and toddlers. At present, the
Group has three series of professional formula products under Dumex:

—  Products for Allergies: This category includes products for prevention
of allergies (HA) and treatment of allergies (PEPTI). HA products can
effectively protect infants and toddlers exposed to high risk of allergy
against such risk through semi-hydrolysing techniques. PEPTI products
serve as an effective remedy to allergies to protein in food of infants
and toddlers through intensive hydrolysing techniques.

—  Products for Digestion: This category includes lactose-free formula
products (LF) which would effectively avoid the vicious circle of
diarrhoea due to hypolactasia.

—  Products for Under-weight Newborns: This category includes formulas
for low-birth-weight newborn babies (LBW) which would cater for
their needs for catching up with standards of growth.

Nutrition Food

The Group also produces and sells various types of nutrition food, including
nutritional milk powder for adult family members — adult milk powder
under the “Mengniu” brand and adult milk powder under the “Youyi”
brand; high-end functional milk powder for the middle-aged and elderly —
milk powder for the middle-aged and elderly under the “Huanging” brand;
nutritional milk powder for children — “Future Star” milk powder; healthy
and delicious soluble products — cereal under the “Zhengwei” brand; and
infant food supplements — nutritional rice cereal for infants and toddlers
under the “Yashily” brand. This diverse portfolio comprises products with
differentiated nutritional mixes designed for consumers with special needs
as well as those suitable for general consumers.

MANAGEMENT’S DISCUSSION AND ANALLYSIS (CONTINUED)
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“Mengniu”-branded adult milk powder targets customers demanding daily
nutritional supplements, such as the middle-aged and elderly, students and
women. Leveraging on 100% premium milk sources, technologies from
Northern Europe and scientific formulas as well as produced under stringent
supervision and control, the products provide consumers in China with milk
powder of international quality.

“Youyi”-branded adult milk powder, with a track record of 17 vyears,
focuses on consumers including the middle-aged and elderly, students and
women. It contains calcium, vitamins A, D and E, dietary fibre and other
beneficial elements. Produced in compliance with international standards,
products of this series are reliable.

“Huanging”-branded milk powder for the middle-aged and elderly
addressing their needs for strong bones and a healthy cardiovascular
system, is created for the constitution of those age groups.

“Future Star” milk powder for children’s growth contains 58 dietary mixes,
including 28 fruit-vegetable powders, probiotics + prebiotics and DHA. The
products are applicable to babies who are slow or picky eaters, or eat little.

“Zhengwei”-branded cereal is positioned to provide consumers with a
premium nutrition balance. With a natural and pure flavour, the cereal
products supplement daily dietary fibre and are suitable for the all family
members for daily drinking.

“Yashily”-branded nutritious milk rice cereals for infants and toddlers are
developed for Chinese babies based on their growth and development
characteristics. Products of this series mainly use premium quality rice as
raw materials, and are processed on a high-speed production line using
sealed equipment and a fine packaging process so as to ensure stable
quality and safety.

Brand Strategies

The year of 2017 was a crucial year for the Group. Each department of the
Group has made steady progress in implementing the differentiated
business models and branding portfolios established between late 2016 and
early 2017 and is described in the following sentences. “Yashily” and
“Dumex” focus on provision of basic nutritional milk powder. “Doraler”
and “Dumex” goat milk powder focus on goat milk powder market
development. “Arla” and “Reeborne” focus on comprehensive penetration
in the organic market. “Yashily” and “Dumex” cover the mid-range to
high-end market, “Reeborne” and “Doraler” cover the high-end market,
and “Arla Baby & Me"” covers the ultra-high-end market. Through this
coordination, the Group has established a tight brand matrix with its
products spanning the whole market network, which lays a solid foundation
for coping with the fierce competition in the infant formula market which
will offer high-end and branded products in the future.
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In response to the implementation of the new recipe registration policy, the
Group completed the onerous filing preparation for product engineering
and recipe registration in 2017. Currently, 39 recipes in 13 product series
have completed recipe registration, indicating the Group had the most
approved recipes on the first batch list, which has clearly demonstrated its
professional strength to the industry and consumers alike. In order to meet
market demands arising from consumption upgrading, the Group launched
the ultra-high-end goat milk powder under the brands of “Doraler” and
“Dumex” with forward-looking positioning at competitive prices, which
have been highly praised by the industry and parties within and outside the
Company for their commercial value.

The Group maintained the assigned level of spending on brand costs while
enhancing brand promotion, gained access to highly targeted consumers
leveraging on big data while engaging in digital marketing and
strengthening communication with consumers, and conducted offline
promotion to approach mothers, thereby facilitating cost effective
marketing and achieving the dual goals of brand growth and corporate
profits.

“Yashili” has been committed to promoting healthy growth of Chinese
babies in fulfilling its corporate social responsibility through public welfare
activity. The Company has actively supported the “Droplets New Special
Foundation” by constantly donating milk powder for the children, in a bid
to bring happiness and good health to every baby. Furthermore, the
Company has organised the offline tailor-made promotion activity “Parent-
Child NBA Contest”, which leveraged the huge popularity of the US
National Basketball Association (NBA) as a means to solicit more
participants, with an aim to effectively enhancing the consumer experience
and attract new consumers. Such brand promotion activities helped to
improve its brand image and credibility with the public, so as to bolster the
soft competitiveness of its brand.

Under the “Mengniu Reeborne” brand, the Company has cooperated with
Henan TV City Channel to launch the public welfare activity “Caring for
Nursing Mothers”, establishing “Reeborne Organic Nursery Rooms” to
provide support for nursing mothers. Through advertisements and soft
interaction in major regions via iQiyi (2 & £), Moments (AA/< &), Babytree (&
Z15), Mama.cn (8545498) etc., “Reeborne” was exposed to over 300 million
viewers. By constantly optimising Baidu SEM and SEO services, “Reeborne”
was exposed to over 10 million of viewers and has been well received due
to its good quality and reasonable price. The Company also organised
offline promotion activities across the country by hosting a series of
roadshows and an infant-raising forum, earning recognition from numerous
mothers and also improving its brand image and product sales.

MANAGEMENT’S DISCUSSION AND ANALLYSIS (CONTINUED)
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Under the “Dumex” and "Arla” brands, the Group hosted the heated
national contests among mothers, attracting a full capacity audience, which
not only provided consumers with advice about raising infants but also
offered an in-depth understanding of the “Dumex” and “Arla” products
and brands, thus raising consumers’ trust and confidence. “Arla” also
presented the humourous infant-raising internet variety shows “Parenting
Tips” and “Sweet Cafe”, which provided parenting tips and examples of
parent-child interaction, attracting the active participation of numerous
mothers, so as to significantly improve brand exposure and rapidly enhance
brand awareness and reputation.

Product R&D

In 2017, the Group’s R&D Centre focused on the following tasks:

1.

Infant Formula Recipe Registration:

In response to the new policy, the R&D Centre led and coordinated
the recipe registration process, and completed the preparation and
submission of the recipe registration materials for dozens of infant
formula milk powder products produced by the factories under the
Group. By the end of 2017, a total of 11 series and 33 recipes of the
Group were approved, leading the country and significantly improving
its competitiveness and influence in the milk powder industry.
Furthermore, the two approved goat milk powder product series (i.e.,
“Doraler” and “Dumex”) enriched its product pipeline.

Breast Milk Research Programme:

In order to build the database in China, as well as to enhance the
Group's competitiveness and brand power, the R&D Centre collected
over 2,000 samples of breast milk in eight domestic cities in a
horizontal way to research and analyze the nutrient composition of
breast milk. The Centre had completed a test analysis of the macro-
nutrient protein, fat and lactose as well as 18 amino acids and 39
fatty acids of breast milk, obtaining testing data regarding 9,174
macro-nutrients, 58,104 amino acids and 96,840 fatty acids, which
were used to analyze the change in nutrient composition of breast
milk due to the length of the breast-feeding period and the
differences between Northern and Southern China. Based on the
above research, the Centre intends to develop an infant formula milk
powder product containing low protein and breast-milk amino acid,
which is designed for the nutrition needs of Chinese babies to
promote their healthy growth, and had completed a patent
application for breast milk research.
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3. 13th Five-Year Plan Project:

The Group stood out from other dairy enterprises amidst the fierce
competition in the application for the national 13th five-year
technological project, and secured the national major food science
and technology projects and was appointed as a leading unit to
undertake the task “A New Generation of Infant Dairy Products and
Development of Dairy Based Foodstuffs for Special Medical Purposes”
CGF—RBEHZIAHMMIALTHRBEZ2RERMIOEIR)). The task
aims to research and develop cow/goat milk-based infant formula
milk powder with functional components based on China's breast
milk study. Owing to its work on the task, the Group was granted
state appropriated funds for research and development of products,
and was offered an opportunity to establish extensive connections
with domestic research institutions and universities engaging in breast
milk and dairy processing research, so as to improve its research
capabilities.

Sales Channels

In 2017, the Group boosted the potential contribution of the mother-and-
baby store channel and developed the e-commerce business by further
advancing channel transformation and innovation activities. To this end, the
original marketing organisational structure consisting of a sole subsidiary
was restructured into a system comprising central business units (CBUs) set
up by channel and product categories, where the “Maternity CBU” is in
charge of the strategic objective of brand upgrading and channel
transformation; the “Modern Trade CBU" strives to tackle the issues of
channels development, product categories and price declines; the High-end
“Maternity CBU" is positioned to restore Dumex’s position as one of the
top four foreign brands again and help Arla stand out among a long list of
brands; and the “Innovation CBU" is to expand community marketing and
integrate internal market resources based on the existing e-commerce
network.

In 2017, the “Maternity CBU" established by the Group unleashed its team
potential and accelerated the exploration of the mother-and-baby chain
stores through a partnership and pushing a money-based incentive
mechanism. The contribution of the mother-and-baby store channel
recorded a significant year-on-year growth. The “High-end Maternity CBU”
strictly controlled costs in the supermarket channel (rationalising inefficient
and ineffective shopping guides, contract expenses, etc.) and strengthened
mother-and-baby chain stores expansion as a way to stabilise sales volume.
The "Modern Trade CBU” implemented partial transformation by expediting
direct supply to mother-and-baby stores, and fruitful results were achieved

MANAGEMENT’S DISCUSSION AND ANALLYSIS (CONTINUED)
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in reducing losses by KAs. As for the “Innovation CBU”, in e-commerce
sales, the sales volume and net profit have achieved their target, and the
online business layout has been fully developed. As for innovative marketing
activities, the Group has addressed the legacy issues on the business of
Joyful-Shopping developed for employees and has achieved profitability,
while the new media and communities business has made a good start
towards the development of a new operational competence in the Internet
field.

In terms of internal marketing management, The Group has rationalised
marketing mechanisms and procedures and the structure of authority and
responsibilities, and set up a strong supervision system to inspect and review
market costs in an effort to improve cost efficiency. It has cracked down on
goods fleeing and price undercutting to maintain market order. The Group’s
financial department has optimised the SAP enterprise resources planning
("ERP") system and built up a membership management system connecting
with Outworker Assistant (4N81BhF) to achieve information-based
management for all procedures, ranging from purchase, production,
warehousing, delivery, entry into store, points-of-sales exchange to
conversion of consumers’ bonus points and interaction with consumers.
This system is able to achieve such integrated functions as comprehensive
budget management, targeted use of expenses, efficient business
operations, purchase-sales-inventory management, anti-goods-fleeing
management and instant interaction with consumers. Moreover, the
membership management system has also achieved order processing,
settlement and budget verification functions for directly-managed mother-
and-baby stores. Market BP and brand strategies have been established to
support each CBU to perform brand promotion and sales campaigns.
Thanks to the above efforts, the Group’s operations benefit from a well-
established and efficient marketing management system.

Quality Control

Quality is the lifeblood of an enterprise and the only way for it to capture
the market. The Group is continuously dedicated to building up a
comprehensive quality management system covering the entire value chain
from supplier quality management to consumer services.

The Group selects and manages suppliers guided by stringent standards
from the beginning of the supply chain. With reference to the international
leading supplier quality management experience, the Group has successively
launched the direct supplier quality approval process and direct supplier
quality management procedures, imposed higher entry standards for
suppliers and carried out regular reviews and appraisal on the suppliers in
2017, so as to ensure stable and reliable operation of the supplier quality
system. Moreover, in accordance with the national standards newly issued
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in respect of procurement of raw materials and packaging materials as well
as new risk control requirements, the Group has updated the standards of
raw and auxiliary materials, and developed an incoming inspection plan
based on the risk level of these materials to carry out strict incoming
inspection to ensure the high quality of materials purchased.

In order to enhance the quality awareness of our staff, during the year the
Quality Centre invited senior quality experts from Danone to carry out
training on quality and food safety for the officer-in-charge of each factory,
and has developed 12 quality training manuals to be periodically promoted
at the factory level, so as to incorporate knowledge about quality into their
daily operations and establish a good quality culture at each production
base. With an aim to expedite compliance with regulations across all
operations within the Group, in 2017, the Quality Centre led the way in
management changes, most noteworthy by formulating and implementing
Yashili quality standards, including the quality incident report and investigation
process and other procedures so as to standardise the relevant operation at
the execution level and enhance internal operational efficiency and improve
results.

As for laboratory testing, laboratories in all factories purchased advanced
test and analysis equipment based on test requirements, including an
inductively coupled plasma mass spectrometer, an ultra-performance liquid
chromatography-tandem mass spectrometer, a gas chromatograph-mass
spectrometer, a high performance liquid chromatograph, an atomic
absorption spectrometer and a gas chromatograph. During 2017, four
domestic factories had completed relevant resource allocation and
development of a national standard testing procedure, and conducted a full
analysis of finished products. Meanwhile, the laboratories continued to
improve their testing capability and actively sought to conduct
benchmarking with external authoritative laboratories. In 2017, the external
proficiency of the laboratories in the Shanghai, Chaozhou and Horinger
factories all exceeded 95%, which reached its predetermined target,
demonstrating the strong testing capability of all of the Group’s
laboratories.

In order to ensure compliance with the requirements under the production
licence for infant formula milk powder products, the quality department of
each factory organised study of the licence requirements, carried out
detailed factory-level departmental self-inspection, and constantly managed
improvement according to the deviations and risk evaluation results.
Furthermore, the Group's factories have passed the supervisory accreditation
or re-assessment of globally-recognised standards such as ISO9001, HACCP,
FSSC22000, Integrity and CNAS in accordance with the requirements of
annual audit plans and relevant regulations, as well as secured a total of 38
approval reviews for production licences, indicating the sound operation of
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our quality system to lay a solid foundation for producing quality products.
After obtaining approval for the recipe, the quality department of each
factory proactively coordinates with the relevant regulatory departments to
complete the preparation works for the review of recipe registration to
ensure successful launch of the new registered products to the market. In
2017, the Group's Quality Centre has developed its product risk control
plan to align with the national risk control plan and address important
market issues. This plan covers a total of 74 batches of products including
infant formula milk powder, modified milk powder and milk rice cereal.
Results have indicated satisfactory progress to date.

In terms of application systems, the Shanghai factory successfully switched
to the Mengniu Laboratory Information Management System (“LIMS"), and
the Group’s factories started adopting the Mengniu SAP ERP system to
ensure a sound operation of quality-related procedures as well as the
effectiveness of product traceability through quality modules of these
systems. The Chaozhou factory completed equipment upgrading for the
GBT product quality traceability programme in 2017, thereby extending that
function.

In 2017, all analysis and testing results of the products of the Group’s
factories were in compliance with relevant national standards. In the strict
national sampling campaign conducted by third parties, the pass rate of
products under the “Yashily”, “Mengniu”, “Dumex” and “Scient” brands
was 100%, which further boosted consumers’ confidence in the Group and
its products.

Supply Chain

In 2017, the Group’s Supply Chain Centre made strenuous efforts to boost
innovation and has achieved satisfactory results. It has rationalised and
defined the management framework of the supply chain ranging from
receiving specifications from the customers to satisfaction of their
specifications. Towards that end, it has realised end-to-end supply chain
management, which covers five functions (i.e., strategy, planning,
procurement, manufacturing and logistics) and four basic works. The Group
has also planned and optimised nationwide logistics and distribution
networks, which cover nearly 5,000 routes across the country. To guide the
management of the supply chain, it has formulated and determined the
goals and strategy of the team with the overriding aim to satisfy customers’
needs and reduce the overall cost of the supply chain, to build a revitalised
and competitive supply chain through close teamwork, clearly-defined
responsibility and continuous improvement. As for the Supply Chain Centre
itself, the Group has designed and released the standard structure with
newly-added functions including continuous improvement and engineering
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projects, and standardised the organisational structures of all the factories
and departments to become merit-based with a combination of external
recruitment and internal promotion. To advance professional development,
it has optimised and standardised 57 performance indicators, laying a solid
foundation for further improvement. Through these efforts, the Group has
constantly enhanced and improved supply chain performance, maintaining
a stable and high order fulfillment rate, and further reducing the overall
cost of the supply chain along with a substantially shorter turnover days
while meeting the goal of zero major quality, safety or environmental
incidents.

Management System

The management of the Group has developed the business strategy of
marketing model transformation and supply chain integration, and set the
IT strategy of digital transformation in response to the national “Internet
plus” and big data strategic directives. Guided by the IT department of
Mengniu Group headquarters, the Group has developed a three-year
roadmap for information technology system construction, in an effort to
establish a new marketing system through horizontal and vertical
integration and end-to-end digitalisation covering fully traceable processes
ranging from digitalised production, digitalised R&D to digitalised marketing
and digitalised services. Efforts have been made to speed up the ERP
upgrade, with an aim to rebuild a new operation model based on cloud
computing and big data.

1. Speeding up ERP Upgrade and Optimisation:

In 2017, the Group successfully launched the SAP ERP system covering
financial accounting, cost accounting, sales and distribution,
procurement, supply chain, quality, production and other modules. By
standardising the management data standards, operational processes
and management policies of the various business units, the Group has
achieved efficient integrated operation of production, supply, sales
and finance. Some 102 major processes were optimised and 26 key
points were developed and improved, providing integrated services
including self-orders by distributors, automatic reconciliation and
other functions, which greatly improved the Group’s operational
efficiency and shortened the turnover period.

MANAGEMENT’S DISCUSSION AND ANALLYSIS (CONTINUED)

AEREERREALRBERZE
A —F TR

L E SR AR
CBEREEFARBHES BR
T2 IRIREBHEEAE -

BEERE

AEBEEENTE T EHRAFR MM EGE
BEMEBER YEEBRRIEBE+] R
REBEOEBT  ZE 7T HF(BEILOITE
- ERFEEABTHREEIRFT  AE
ERET="FHNEECERE KR8
BOBFILEE - %{%ﬂ:ﬁﬂ?ﬁf ﬂJ%{?Tt%
Fﬂsﬂ%ﬁ%ﬁ%@Jﬁ%%{%ME’Ji‘%ﬁ%ﬁmM% ERP
ﬂi&%ﬁﬁﬁj}m_%ﬁﬁi rREESHBEEE
CRBEBEHNERHELER -

\ED =

1. ERPHZEALINETH :
2017 FRNERT BEVESH - K
ARG HEMEY - KB HEHE -
Eg‘i@#@ﬁﬁ’]SAPERP,V/L B
—EERELEEHBIZE. Txﬂ;mu
%ﬂ’:ﬂ]%i@ﬂ( R BREEE - H
HEANPEEBNTE — Bt IUEM
HEREMAETI2EENE  FELE26
ERAEE SREHEHEAETE - 88
HESEE BANRS T AEENE
IR R T BIFREE



Digitalised R&D and Digitalised Production:

Yashili has focused on the digitalisation of research and development
activity, and implemented the LIMS to achieve a digitalised product
management and quality control. By connecting all the major test
instruments with the LIMS system, data collected by the test
instruments will be automatically transmitted to the LIMS system
instead of using the traditional keyboard input of test results and
quality control results, thereby greatly improving the work efficiency
and reducing human error, so as to shorten the life cycle of samples
in the laboratory. A major investment has also been made to
implement systems ranging from the material management system to
the product traceability system, achieving end-to-end digital
management and digital monitoring of the whole supply chain, and
unifying the Group's product traceability and batch management.

Digitalised Marketing:

Starting from 2018, the Group plans to establish its membership
management system step-by-step, integrate the call centre, and build
a big data-based DMP platform to implement activity code scanning
and store code scanning aiming to secure new customers and better
profile consumer behavior, enabling targeted marketing and analysis.
Meanwhile, the Group will build a database to implement multi-
dimensional modeling and analysis covering membership, points,
activities, stores, shopping guidance and channels.

Digitalised Service:

The Group has integrated the call centre platform and will combine it
with the more precise consumer profiling produced by the
membership system to achieve targeted communication and provide
attentive customised service.

In 2018, the Group intends to implement a new portal office
automation (“OA") system to offer tailored services for its internal
staff, so as to greatly simplify the internal process and information
transmission and effectively enhance the employees’ sense of pride
and belonging.
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Revenue

For the year ended 31 December 2017, the Group’s revenue amounted to
RMB2,254.7 million (2016: RMB2,203.3 million), representing a 2.3%
increase compared to the same period of last year.

MANAGEMENT’S DISCUSSION AND ANALLYSIS (CONTINUED)
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As of 31 December 2017, sales revenue from infant milk formula products
amounted to RMB1,530.7 million (the same period of 2016: RMB1,462.4
million), representing an increase of 4.7% from last year, among this, sales
revenue from high-end infant formula products amounted to RMB382.1
million, accounting for 25.0% of sales revenue (the same period of 2016:
RMB161.9 million, 11.1%). Sales revenue from nutrition food products
amounted to RMB481.5 million (2016: RMB668.2 million), representing a
decrease of 27.9% from the same period of last year, which was mainly
attributable to the withdrawal of the nutrition food products from some
traditional channels. Sales revenue from other products amounted to
RMB242.5 million (2016: RMB72.7 million), representing an increase of
233.6% from the same period of last year, which was mainly derived from
the base powder sold by the subsidiary Yashili New Zealand Dairy Co.,
Limited (“Yashili New Zealand”) to Danone.

The increase in the Group's sales revenue was mainly due to: (1) the
establishment of dedicated mother-and-baby team in line with the market
trend due to the decreased reliance on traditional channel as a result of the
rapid growth in the mother-and-baby store channel; and (2) the continuous
efforts by the Group in adjusting product strategy to gradually eliminate
products with low production value and gross profit. In addition, the Group
takes active measures to consolidate its product lines in response to the
impact brought by the registration law on infant formula, which offset the
growth in sales of some products to a certain extent.
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Gross profit

For the year ended 31 December 2017, the Group recorded a gross profit
of RMB922.2 million (2016: RMB1,037.3 million), representing a decrease
of 11.1% from the same period of last year. The gross profit margin was
40.9%, representing a decrease of 6.18%, which was mainly due to the
increase of the unit prices of raw materials and the increase of production
costs, due to the transfer of base powder production to Yashili New Zealand
this year. In addition, some products removed from the market or
withdrawn from the traditional marketing channel were sold at a discount,
which lowered the gross profit margin.

Selling and distribution expenses

For the year ended 31 December 2017, the Group generated selling and
distribution expenses of RMB893.2 million (2016: RMB1,171.0 million),
representing a decrease of 23.7% from last year.

The Group's selling and distribution expense as a percentage of revenue
decreased to 39.6% (2016: 53.1%), representing a decrease of 13.5%
from the same period of last year. The decrease was mainly due to the
withdrawal from the costly traditional sales channels and improved
utilization of selling expenses.

Administrative expenses

For the year ended 31 December 2017, administrative expenses amounted
to RMB271.2 million (2016: RMB389.6 million), representing a decrease of
30.4% from last year, mainly attributable to decrease of the shutdown
losses arising from utilized production capacity of our plants in New Zealand
and enhancement of operation efficiency of back offices as well as decrease
in employee layoff compensation paid by the Company.

Net finance income

For the year ended 31 December 2017, net finance income amounted to
RMB105.6 million (2016: RMB111.4 million). The decrease in net finance
income of 5.2% was mainly attributable to the decrease in capital funds
after payment of consideration for the acquisition of Dumex in 2016.

Income tax credit

For the year ended 31 December 2017, the income tax credit of the Group
amounted to RMB49.6 million (2016: Income tax credit amounted to
RMB12.4 million) and the effective income tax rate was —-21.6% (2016:
—3.7%). The increase in income tax credit was mainly attributable to the
Group's tax loss for the current period.
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Inventory

As at 31 December 2017, the balance of inventory of the Group amounted
to RMB786.3 million (31 December 2016: RMB619.9 million), and the
increase in inventory was mainly attributable to the increase of RMB187.0
million of finished products. As some of the Group’s products were still in
the infant formula approval process, the Group stocked up on these
products in 2017 year-end to ensure enough supply in 2018 before
obtaining infant formula approval.

Other financial assets

As at 31 December 2017, other financial assets included wealth
management products of RMB724.7 million, which were principal
guarantee and with anticipated annualized yields of 2.0% to 5.1% (31
December 2016: 3.1% to 4.0%).

Trade and bills receivables

As at 31 December 2017, the Group's trade and bills receivables amounted
to RMB144.3 million (31 December 2016: RMB161.4 million). In 2017, the
trade receivables turnover days were 23 days (2016: 27 days), representing
a decrease of 4 days as compared to the same period of 2016, mainly
attributable to accelerated collection of receivables.

Contingent liabilities

As at 31 December 2017, the Group had no material contingent liabilities (31
December 2016: nil).

Capital commitment

As at 31 December 2017, the Group's capital commitment was RMB23.1
million (2016: RMB36.3 million) which is mainly related to workshop
renovation projects and the purchase of milk powder production
equipment.
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Provision for doubtful debts

As at 31 December 2017, the Group had provision for doubtful debts of
RMB9.1 million (2016: RMBO0.7 million). The provision was made for
impaired receivables relating to customers that were in default or
delinquency of payments. The Group does not hold any collateral or other
credit enhancements over such amounts. The Group regularly reviewed
aging of receivables and considered making provision based on a number
of factors such as whether the debtors encounter significant financial
difficulties, the probability that the debtor will file for bankruptcy or be
subject to financial reorganization, and the possibility of default or
delinquent payments.

Provision for impairment and disposal losses of
inventories

As at 31 December 2017, the Group's balance of provision for impairment
of inventories was RMB27.4 million (2016: RMB31.4 million). In addition,
the Group also recorded losses on disposal of inventories of RMB50.4
million (2016: RMB56.1 million) which were primarily due to the disposal of
some products that are no longer sold at such markets after transformation
of sales channels.

Pledge of assets

As at 31 December 2017, assets with an aggregate value of approximately
RMB1,848.4 million (31 December 2016: RMB803.1 million) were pledged
by the Group to secure certain loans and issuance of letter of credit.

Profit attributable to equity holders of the Company

The profit attributable to equity holders of the Group amounted to RMB-
179.8 million, a 43.8% increase compared to the preceding year. The
increase was mainly due to the decrease of selling and distribution expenses
and administrative expenses in the current year.

Liquidity and capital resources

As at 31 December 2017, the Group’s liquidity, including cash and cash
equivalents, pledged deposits to be released within one year, long-term
bank deposits and other financial assets, amounted to RMB2,716.7 million
in total (31 December 2016: RMB3,302.9 million), representing a decrease
of 17.7%. The decrease was mainly due to payment of short term
borrowings.
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Operating activities

For the year ended 31 December 2017, the Group’s net cash outflow used
in operating activities was RMB254.9 million (2016: RMB477.2 million). The
decrease in net cash outflow used in operating activities was mainly
attributed to the increase in revenue and increased efforts to collect trade
receivables during the year.

Investing activities

For the year ended 31 December 2017, net cash inflow generated from
investing activities amounted to RMB287.3 million (2016: RMB-366.9
million), which was mainly attributable to proceeds from wealth
management investments upon maturity during the year.

Financing activities

For the year ended 31 December 2017, net cash inflow generated from
financing activities amounted to RMB50.4 million (2016: RMB94.6 million),
mainly attributable to the decrease in pledged deposits in relation to bank
loans during the year.

Loans

As at 31 December 2017, the Group's loans amounted to RMB529.7 million
(31 December 2016: RMB1,143.1 million). The annualised interest rates for
loans denominated in RMB was 1.47% to 3.3%; the annualised interest
rates for loans denominated in USD was LIBOR+0.8% to LIBOR+0.85%; the
annualised interest rate for a loan denominated in HKD was HIBOR +0.7%;
the annualised interest rate for denominated in EUR was EURIBOR+0.8%;
the annualised interest rate for a loan denominated in AUD was
BBSW+0.8% and the annualised interest rate for a loan denominated in
NZD was BKBM+0.85%. The above loans shall be repayable on demand
upon maturity. As at 31 December 2017, the Group’s gearing ratio, which
is calculated by total interest-bearing bank loan at year end divided by total
assets at year end, was 7.1% (31 December 2016: 14.3%).

Use of net proceeds from Initial Public Offering

The Company’s net proceeds from Initial Public Offering amounted to
approximately RMB1,965.8 million after deduction of relevant expenses.
The Company had applied these net proceeds as disclosed in the section
“Future Plans and Use of Proceeds” in the prospectus dated 30 October
2010. Therefore, the use of net proceeds as of 31 December 2017 is set out
as below:

MANAGEMENT’S DISCUSSION AND ANALLYSIS (CONTINUED)

RERD

HE2007F12A3MBEFE AEEBHL
EEHSIB S FRLARMKE25498 & (2016
F:ARB4772BEE L) L& FH LA D
WO EBRRAFU AL N FRFEEMNA
ERERNEWKRAE -

BEEE

HE2017F12A3MBILFE BREEHE
TR FRABARE28738 & T(2016
F: AR 366988 L) TERAFEH
U [a] 38 B 4% B FT 8 58 -

B & E B
HZE2017F12A31MBIEFE  REFHME
AR FRABARES045 8T (20164 ¢

ARMBIA6AETT) TERAFRITHEIR
2o HEERERORITEIORD I -

f& &K

MR2017F 123318 AEBERBEARE
52078 &7t (2016512 A318 : AR #1,143.1
BB s ARBEREMNE147%EI33% : £
TT & 3 A & A LBOR+0.8% %I/ LIBOR+0.85% :
BB B R F R R AHBOR+0.7% : B JT &
K E R B BEURIBOR+0.8% : & 7T f& 7 F
F & HBBSW+0.8% : Al M £ R E K X A&
BKBM+0.85% ° A = B 3 F & Bk B H (8
BoMN2017FE12A3MHE  AEBEEAEL
R A71%(2016F12 A31H : 143%) » & &
BELEAFARTEBRITERBEHRIUFR
BEMEEE-

BERALRERMEBREFERAR

ARBIRIIBEBERAIENE X AHAESA
BHREFBELHRARE1965.8FE T AR
A IRER20105 10 A0 MBI EZEIR[ R K
EMERERR] —SMEENFAE
FELFIBFE - Bt 522017612 A31
HASZIEFHEARNOT



MANAGEMENT’S DISCUSSION AND ANALLYSIS (CONTINUED)
EEE 5w EE o AT @)

Utilised during

the year Unutilised
Available at ended as at
the end of 31 December 31 December
2016 2017 2017
BZE2017% H2017F
MH2016 £ & 12A31H 12A31H
Item H B ] 8 A LtEEFHA KB H
RMB’000 RMB'000 RMB’000
ARBET T ARBEFIT ARETF T
Expansion of production capacity for ~ FRAE K240 B 5 8 &
infant formula and nutrition food EERMIER
products 150,271 103,918 46,353
Enhancement to the Group's research 1% & 7~ £ [& 49 fff 32 68
and development capabilities 14,356 14,160 196
Total #EEt 164,627 118,078 46,549

As at 31 December 2017, the Group had a total of 2,313 full-time
employees (31 December 2016: 3,711). The total staff cost for the year was
approximately RMB507.0 million (2016: RMB560.1 million).

In 2017, the Human Resources Centre of the Group has proactively carried
out a wide range of activities, in support of its efforts to steadily restructure
its organisation, consolidate its resources and enable the Group to shine
among its competitors.

1. Completion of Steady Organisational
Restructuring:

The Centre assisted in the completion of overall organisational
restructuring of the four major business segments and stable
implementation of business strategies, including the determination of
the organisational structure of business segments, the deployment of
talents to suitable positions as well as the development of a
remuneration system and commission proposals. In line with the
Company’s strategies, it provided all-round human resources
management solutions for the business segments, enabling them to
seize opportunities in the milk powder industry in 2018.
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Enhancement of Employee Incentives:

The Human Resources Centre launched a physical checkup program
for all employees and enhanced coverage of life insurance for grass-
roots employees. The Centre formulated the Group’s overall incentive
proposal for 2017, which outlines various awards and the calculation
of bonuses. The Centre also launched the long-term incentive
schemes for key talent. Furthermore, the Centre introduced 2018
performance management measures to improve the performance
management process and regulate performance assessment. In order
to achieve the Group’s goals for 2018, the Centre developed more
effective and rational incentive and management guidelines, so as to
strengthen protection for employees and enhance their job
satisfaction and sense of belonging.

Talent Cultivation Contributing to Performance
Enhancement:

Based on the needs of the various business teams, the Centre
provided tailor-made goal-driven courses, with a view to boosting the
morale and professional skill of the sales team. Meanwhile, the Centre
has established the talent development system by reorganising Yashili
Business School and developing a training system covering all levels of
sales personnel aimed at building a professional sales team. While
planning and improving its organization and talent management
program in light of the circumstances of the Company, the Centre
made strenuous efforts in forecasting talent requirements as well as
recruiting, cultivating and retaining outstanding talent for the Group.

Caring for Employees’ Concerns and Needs:

Setting up communication channels for employees with senior
management, has shown how the Human Resources Centre attaches
great attention to the opinions and suggestions of grass-root
employees and strived to satisfy the needs of front-line employees, so
as to enhance the operational efficiency of the Company. The Centre
has conducted market visits on a monthly basis to address human
resources issues in a timely manner to ensure front-line services and
to promote corporate policies among front-line employees.
Meanwhile, the Centre has initiated promotional activities such as “the
Power of Role Models” and “Great Working Moments”, with an aim
to recognise outstanding work performance and delivering positive
energy. Besides, the Centre carried out team-building exercises among
departments and has organised corporate culture activities for festivals
such as the Mid-Autumn Festival, the Dragon Boat Festival and
Christmas, creating a pleasant working environment for employees.
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In 2017, the Group has persistently undertaken efforts in social welfare
activities and extensively spread love and care to the community.

In March, the Group donated milk powder valued at approximately
RMB419,000 to the Overseas Chinese Charity Foundation of China for
delivery to poor people in need of love and care across the country in a bid
to help children living in poverty. It also donated milk powder valued at
approximately RMB56,000 to the Guangdong Branch of the Red Cross
Society of China which together with the Red Cross of Heyuan City,
distributed these products to children from impoverished families in Heyuan.
Most children involved in this activity have been left in their grandparents’
or other relatives’ care, while their parents worked away from home in the
cities. While bringing nourishing food to these children, this activity has also
spread warmth and care across society.

In April, a blind mother insisted on giving up treatment to save her unborn
fetus which made her family face a dilemma. After a short pleasant
experience in having a new baby, the poverty-stricken family faced another
predicament that the mother receiving chemotherapy treatment was unable
to breast feed the baby, but the family could not even afford milk powder.
Upon learning about the situation, the Company donated milk powder to
the blind mother through the Red Cross in an effort to help the family living
in distressed circumstances.

In July, the Group donated milk powder to the poverty-stricken families
living in mountainous areas including Chongging, Hongya County in
Meishan City of Sichuan, Luding County in Garze Tibetan Autonomous
Prefecture of Sichuan, Ma'erkang County in Ngawa Tibetan and Qiang
Autonomous Prefecture of Sichuan and Xuzhou City of Jiangsu, in the hope
that these children will enhance their physical condition in the future to
have a stronger physique, be energetic and grow up healthily and happily.

In August, following the earthquake in Jiuzhaigou, Sichuan Province, the
Group immediately launched the emergency mechanism and, in the first
instance, approached Chengdu Disaster Preparedness and Relief Centre
under Red Cross Society of China (FFEI4L+F &K EE KAL) to
make donations in cash and materials with a value of RMB500,000.
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In November, in active response to the poverty alleviation program initiated
by the government, the Group has committed to donate Yashili infant
formula milk powder to 100 infants and toddlers aged three years old or
younger from impoverished families in Taijiang County, Guizhou Province
for a year, while also delivering love and care to primary school students
from poverty-stricken mountainous areas and infants and toddlers from
impoverished families for their healthy and happy growth.

The Group maintains active and effective publicity organisational resources
and communicates relevant information to external parties in an open and
transparent manner. The Group also maintains good internal
communication with all its publicity departments and institutions, publishes
the Company'’s latest information on a timely basis, and actively participates
in various social welfare and charitable activities.

The Group has developed a complete set of internal crisis management
systems and response mechanisms, and addresses complaints from
consumers and issues of the media’s concern via its crisis management
centre in a timely, accurate and professional manner. Meanwhile, the Group
is highly concerned with potential problems affecting the market, and
provides good services for consumers in advance to prevent the outbreak of
a crisis. The Group has established a news centre to pay close attention to
the trends and news of the industry and monitor public opinions, in order
to make timely response to any industry incidents. The Group aims to
eliminate negative impact and maintains a good reputation in the industry
through effective communication and disclosure of information to the
public and the media.

The Group believes that effective communication with shareholders,
investors and prospective investors is essential for enhancing investor
relations and enabling investors to understand its business performance and
strategies. The Group conducts communication and exchanges with
investors through various channels and means such as onsite receptions,
telephone conferences, non-trading roadshows and investment summits of
securities companies.

To facilitate wider communication, the Group has set up a website
(www.yashili.hk) to post the latest information on its financial information,
corporate governance practices and other data available for public
reference.
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Policy Implications

The list of permitted infant milk powder recipes has been announced in
2017 under “The Most Stringent New Policy for Milk Powder Products”,
which has brought about new policies, new opportunities and new
challenges to the domestic dairy industry leading to the phasing-out of
approximately 70% of infant formula milk powder brands from the market.
The implementation of “The Most Stringent New Policy for Milk Powder
Products” is essential for revitalising Chinese milk powder enterprises as
well as increasing public confidence in domestic milk powder products.
Looking ahead to 2018, recipe registration offers a good development
opportunity for dairy companies focusing on brand quality, with promising
prospects for brand expansion.

The total number of newborns in China has substantially increased since the
“nationwide two-child” policy came into force. According to the website of
the National Bureau of Statistics, the number of newborns in China in 2017
was 17.23 million, reaching its second highest total since 2000. In
particular, the number of second-born children dramatically increased from
that in 2016 to 8.83 million, which accounted for 51.2% of the total
newborns, representing an increase of five percentage points as compared
with 2016, significantly higher than the average number during the “12th
Five-Year Plan” period, indicating that the “nationwide two-child” new
policy continued to have a positive effect.

The third- and fourth-tier cities and townships with relatively low life stress
are likely to create a baby boom and boost local milk powder demand,
which will then shore up the sales of those domestic milk powder brands
with competitive strength in the modern trade channels in these areas.

On 20 September 2017, Premier Mr. Li Kegiang presided over the executive
meeting of the State Council, calling for the establishment of new cross-
border e-commerce integrated pilot programme, an extension of the
transitional period for cross-border e-commerce retailing import regulation
policy for a year to the end of 2018 and acceleration of the improvement of
relevant systems.
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The extension of the new cross-border policy may have taken into account
the following three aspects: (1) cross-border e-commerce retailing imported
goods effectively supplements supply in the domestic market, promoting
the supply-side structural reform and domestic consumption upgrade; (2)
driving the return of overseas consumption and satisfying the diversified
needs of consumers by narrowing the price gap between the domestic and
overseas markets for imported merchandise; (3) given the relatively small
scale of cross-border e-commerce retail import business at present, the
continuity of policy creates excellent conditions to summarise industry
characteristics and development trends and improve relevant systems.

The further extension of the new policy in 2018 is expected to stimulate
global purchases and consumption and accelerate an upgrade of
consumption, and thereby will significantly benefit the import e-commerce
players.

Industry Trend

At the national level, China’s economy is expected to maintain a stable
positive momentum in 2018 with growth led by per capita disposable
income and a steadily rising consumer confidence index. The smooth
implementation of the Recipe Registration Requirement, together with the
two-child policy which continues to effectively offset the impact of the
substantial drop in the number of first-borns on the birth rate, is expected
to drive the ongoing recovery of the infant formula milk powder market in
China.

At a corporate level, (1) for the brand-driven enterprises, upon completion
of channel transformation and brand upgrade, the Group’s products for
designated channels will rapidly focus on its major brands, with significant
advances in both mother-and-baby store channels and modern trade
channels; (2) for enterprises with supply chain advantages, efforts will be
made to obtain more approved recipes by leveraging a multi-base network
and newly-built factories; and (3) for small-scale enterprises, they will take
this opportunity to enlarge their market share while continuing to
consolidate their three brands. Upon the completion of market standardisation
and industry consolidation along with the further implementation of the
Recipe Registration Requirement, international and domestic brands are
increasingly expected to obtain recipe registrations in the future. As such,
the market competition in 2018 is likely to be more intense, and not
weaker, for channels and consumers alike.
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At the channel level, the contribution of the mother-and-baby store channel
will further increase to more than 50%, while the decline in the contribution
of the modern trade channel will continue to narrow. International brands
are enhancing the advantages of their strong recognition and extending
business channels to wider areas by leveraging the brand strength. Domestic
brands are drawing on their well-established channels, coupled with
channel promotions suitable for national conditions, in order to gradually
enhance their brand images and consumer loyalty and expand business
channels to the first- and second-tier markets. The e-commerce channel is
still dominated by international brands, but these brands and channels are
undermined by market disorder due to the lack of online and offline price
controls. Domestic brands are exploring the combined online and offline
model for enhancing the consumer experience and brand promotion. In
regard to the channel strategy in 2018, more efforts would be made to
enhance distribution through mother-and-baby store channels and to
launch ultra-high-end functional products with market potential and which
are highly competitive, so as to demonstrate the professional strength of
the Company and occupy the dominant position of the market.

At the customer level, the mothers who were born after 1990 will become
the major force of the consumer market, leading to an upgrade of
consumption. It is expected that high-end products will maintain growth
momentum with a rapid increase in the ultra-high-end products. Along with
the upgrade of consumer demand, the organic products, goat milk and
other functional products will drive growth in the high-end market.

With all the opportunities and challenges ahead, the Group anticipates
remarkable growth in the overall market during 2018.

Company Strategies

Brand Strategies

After the market reshuffling due to the implementation of the Recipe
Registration Requirement, companies with competitive and differentiated
products will be better positioned to fill the resulting market gap and take
the lead in the competition for market share in 2018. The Group will further
upgrade its brand strategy in 2018 with the four major brands (i.e., “Yashily”,
“Mengniu”, “Dumex” and “Arla”) respectively targeting the ultra-high,
high-end and medium-range to high-end markets, so as to enrich its
product pipeline and highlight differentiated products to seize market share.
In view of consumption upgrading, we will focus on the goat milk powder
market by launching and promoting those products with differentiated
formulas such as “Doraler” and “Dumex” to quickly capture market shares.
The Group will strive to build up its differentiated business model and brand
network within the coming two to three years.
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The Group's overall brand strategy for 2018 is focused on precision
marketing with targeted spending of brand costs, so as to generate cost
effectiveness and achieve the dual goals for brand growth and corporate
profits. While interacting with target consumer groups through new media
and offline brand promotion and services, the Group will improve the
consumer experience and enhance customer loyalty with strong channel-
based promotion. The Group will also increase investment in its parent
brand and leverage the reputation of “Danone”, “Arla” and Yashili New
Zealand to further strengthen its international brand image, in an effort to
drive sales of its sub-brands by capitalising on the parent brand. Meanwhile,
the Group will continue to be committed to fulfilling its social responsibility
through participating in public welfare activities, in an attempt to convey its
care for the community, so as to enhance its brand reputation in an all-
round manner.

The year of 2018 is also the year of the FIFA Football World Cup. Leveraging
the resources of “Mengniu”, "Yashili”, “Dumex” and “Reeborne” have
become the official milk powder of 2018 FIFA World Cup. In the first half of
the year, the Group is taking advantage of the World Cup to launch a
comprehensive marketing campaign on the theme of “Join the World”;
while in the second half of the year, the Group is concentrating resources
on its four strategic product brands of “Yashily”, “Mengniu”
and “Arla” with a combination of both online and offline activities. For the
online activities, the Group will focus on digital media promotion and pre-
roll advertising in video services, vigorously utilising mobile Apps in line with
consumers’ media habits while also developing e-commerce platforms, so
as to increase brand exposure and rapidly enhance brand awareness and
recognition. As for offline activities in our core and potential markets, the
Group is investing in the local major media, such as vehicle exterior
advertising and light box advertising outside hospitals, combined with
roadshow and consumer activities and synchronously implementing store
display, POSM and special promotions, in an effort to orchestrate in-depth
communication with consumers to strengthen its brand impression, expand
brand influence by word-of-mouth publicity and create a professional
respected image.

“Dumex”,

Product R&D

In 2018, the Group’s R&D Centre will continue with the breast milk study
covering a number of cities in China. Based on the findings and capitalising
on the task of the national “13th Five-Year Plan” major food science and
technology initiative “A New Generation of Infant Dairy Products and
Development of Dairy Based Foodstuffs for Special Medical Purposes” (¥t
—REHRIARRMILLFHREEZRERMHEIR))", the Group plans to
develop formula milk powder with various functional components that cater
for the healthy growth and nutrient demand of Chinese babies.
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The recipe registration of infant formula products will remain the key task
of the Group. The R&D Centre will continue to expand the product pipeline
of the Group, in an effort to create new opportunities for business growth.
Furthermore, the R&D Centre will develop modified milk powder for the
middle-aged and elderly addressing their needs for strong bones, better
digestion and low Glycemic index as well as for infants and toddlers. For
soluble products, the R&D Centre will focus on development of new
products such as solid drink, rice flour and cereal products that help to
promote intestinal health. The R&D Centre will also upgrade existing
products to drive sales, and strive to develop a sound portfolio of new
product series as the key objective guiding product development.

Sales Channels

In 2018, leveraging its strength in the global supply chain, and its multi-
base and multiple brand network established in 2017, and coupled with its
new CBU business organisation, the Group will implement a full-market
coverage strategy with a multi-brand and multi-level network and extend
business channels to wider areas. By further extending coverage and
downward development of sales channels, all CBUs intend to reach the goal
of “one store per town” in response to the “one distributor per county”
objective of the distributor layout. The Group will strive to drive sales
growth through horizontal expansion, and achieve key advances in major
provinces, cities and stores. Efforts will be made to enhance the shelf sales
ratio of stores so as to penetrate the local market, with a view to driving
sales through vertical improvement. Guided by the philosophy of “No
Future without New Customers”, and emphasizing the number as well as
the effect of promotion activities, the Group will establish a scientific system
for evaluating the effect of sales and promotion activities. The Group will
also speed up decentralisation to improve operation efficiency, in order to
fully motivate the teams. The Group will further improve the auditing
supervision system and market inspection procedures, so as to ensure
necessary supervision and improve cost effectiveness despite
decentralisation. Moreover, the Group will step up efforts in system innovation
and extend the project partnership from the “Maternity CBU” to all
business units.

In 2018, the Group will carry out a speedy upgrade of its “Membership
System” to incorporate its new customers and stores into the system, and
of the “DMS System” to ensure the code scanning rate by the distributors.
The Group will also construct and implement an improved information
system to support expanding sales channels, prospecting for new customers
and improving shelf sales ratio.
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As for e-commerce sales, the Group will continue to explore innovative
approaches based on its rapidly growing business. By expanding community
marketing and developing official accounts operation, the Group will
continue to explore internet-based new business models to lay a foundation
for developing future business models.

Supply Chain

In 2018, following the overall working principle of “Strict Management and
Collaborative Operations”, the Supply Chain Centre will focus on the
following six aspects to achieve continuous improvement:

1. The Culture, Teams and Talents: In addition to introduction of a
standardised corporate and supply chain management culture to all
the factories, it will develop team-building and supporting incentive
measures to cultivate its talent pool;

2. From Refined Management to Precise Control: Upholding the motto
of “Success Lies in the Details”, the Centre will implement stringent
control over the factories to ensure full compliance with SOP/GMP
and all QESA standards and also introduce third-party review;

3. Excellent Supply Chain: It will create the KPI dashboard to conduct
best practices comparison, and launch the OE project to promote
continuous improvement;

4. Improvement of Sales Operation: It will strive to achieve greater
accuracy in forecasting, improve the supply-demand equilibrium,
bolster customer service quality and accelerate the inventory turnover,

5. New Projects and New Products: It will ensure the smooth
commencement of operations of new projects and provide added
support for the launch of new key products;

6.  Upstream and Downstream Integration: the Centre will develop a
standardised procurement strategy within the Group, establish long-
term cooperative relationships with suppliers and call for conservation
actions in all aspects. By conducting customer satisfaction surveys, it
will strive to improve customers’ first-hand experience covering from
ordering to delivery.

MANAGEMENT’S DISCUSSION AND ANALLYSIS (CONTINUED)
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Human Resources

Upholding the philosophy of “Customer First and Professional Service” and
the business-oriented principle, all the staff of the Human Resources Centre
will continue to provide professional, dedicated and considerate human
resources services and support for all employees in 2018.

Sticking to the strategy of “Streamlining Structure and Delegating
Authority”, the Human Resources Centre will assist in the ongoing
transformation of the business units and set standardised operation
guidelines, so as to optimise organisational efficiency. The Centre will
also assist the business units to rationalise and streamline procedures
as a way to improve operational efficiency. Furthermore, the Centre
will explore the organisational core competencies to build a highly-
efficient and professional team and bring the manpower capabilities
into full play, with an aim to streamline structure and lowering costs.

Increased efforts will be made to nurture talent with high potential
and for key posts, and build a sound echelon of corporate leadership.
Through implementing and improving Yashili Business School, the
Human Resources Centre will continue to step up efforts in cultivating
high-potential talent, improving the capability of marketing teams and
training new employees. Targeted training will be carried out based
on the competencies of high-potential individuals to improve the
talent pool. Targeted professional training, especially a series of
marketing courses, will be conducted to improve the capability of
marketing teams and enhance the marketing and promotion
professionalism of the front-line personnel while also seeking to build
a team of internal marketing trainers. Adhering to the learning
philosophy of 7/2/1 and combining various learning methods such as
on-the-job learning, tutoring, online and off-line learning, the Centre
will strive to create a learning-oriented work environment.
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The Centre will organise specialised staff activities on a quarterly and
annual basis to constantly promote and propagate core values of the
corporate culture, and maintain communication with employees in
various forms and through multiple channels to foster a corporate
atmosphere focusing on the values of recognition, gratitude and
cooperation. The Centre plans to hold an annual meeting on the
theme of “Reorganising Resources and Regenerating in Order to
Excel”, so as to inspire the employees. A variety of activities featuring
the FIFA World Cup will be organised, such as a football club and a
singing contest using football as a theme. In addition, a 2018
Employees Sports Competition will be hosted to boost the
enthusiasm, health and vigour of every employee. Major efforts will
be made to strengthen the nurturing and integration of corporate
culture, thus improving cohesion across the Group.

MANAGEMENT’S DISCUSSION AND ANALLYSIS (CONTINUED)
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CORPORATE GOVERNANCE REPORT
TREBRE

CORPORATE GOVERNANCE PRACTICES

The Group is dedicated to ensure high standards of corporate governance
with an emphasis on a diligent Board, sound internal control, and increasing
transparency and accountability to shareholders. The Board acknowledges
that good corporate governance practices and procedures are beneficial to
the Group and its shareholders.

The Board is of the view that throughout the year ended 31 December
2017, the Company has applied the principles as set out in the Corporate
Governance Code (the “CG Code”) contained in Appendix 14 to Rules
Governing the Listing of Securities (the “Listing Rules”) on the Stock
Exchange of Hong Kong Limited (the “Stock Exchange”).

The Company is committed to enhancing its corporate governance practices
appropriate to the conduct and the growth of its business and to reviewing
such practices from time to time to ensure that they comply with statutory
and professional standards and align with the latest development.

THE BOARD OF DIRECTORS

Responsibilities

The Board is responsible and has general powers for the management and
conduct of the Group's business, strategic decisions and performance and is
collectively responsible for promoting the success of the Company by
directing and supervising its affairs. The directors take decisions objectively
in the interest of the Company. The Board has delegated to the senior
management the authority and responsibility for the daily management and
operation of the Group. In addition, the Board has established board
committees and has delegated to these board committees various
responsibilities as set out in their respective terms of reference.
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All directors carry out duties in good faith, in compliance with applicable
laws and regulations, and in the interests of the Company and the
shareholders at all times.

The Company has arranged for appropriate insurance cover for directors’
and officers’ liabilities in respect of legal actions against its directors and
senior management arising out of corporate activities.

Board Composition

The Board currently comprises eight members, consisting of four non-
executive directors, one executive director and three independent non-
executive directors.

During the year ended 31 December 2017 and up to the date of this
Annual Report, the Board comprises the following directors:

Non-executive directors

Mr. Jeffrey, Minfang Lu (Chairman)

Mr. Qin Peng

Mr. Zhang Ping

Mr. Huang Xiaojun (resigned on 5 June 2017)
Ms. Lam Pik Po (appointed on 5 June 2017)

Executive directors

Mr. Chopin Zhang (Chief Executive Officer)
(appointed on 1 January 2017)

Mr. Hua Li (Chief Operating Officer)
(resigned on 16 March 2018)

Independent non-executive directors
Mr. Mok Wai Bun Ben

Mr. Cheng Shoutai

Mr. Lee Kong Wai Conway

The list of directors (by category) is also disclosed in all corporate
communications issued by the Company pursuant to the Listing Rules from
time to time. The independent non-executive directors are expressly
identified in all corporate communications pursuant to the Listing Rules.

The biographical information of the directors including relationships among
the members of the Board are set out under “Directors and Management
Biographies” on pages 68 to 73 of this Annual Report.
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All directors, including the non-executive directors and the independent
non-executive directors, have brought a wide spectrum of valuable business
experience, knowledge and professionalism to the Board for its efficient and
effective functioning. Through active participation at board meetings, taking
the lead in managing issues involving potential conflict of interest and
serving on board committees, all non-executive directors make various
contributions to the effective direction of the Company.

THE CHAIRMAN AND CHIEF EXECUTIVE OFFICER
(IICEOII)

The positions of Chairman and CEO are held by Mr. Jeffrey, Minfang Lu and
Mr. Chopin Zhang respectively. The Chairman provides leadership and is
responsible for the effective functioning and leadership of the Board. The
CEO focuses on the Company’s business development and daily
management and operations generally. The Board considers that the
responsibilities of the Chairman and CEO respectively are clear and
distinctive and hence written terms thereof are not necessary.

INDEPENDENT NON-EXECUTIVE DIRECTORS

During the year ended 31 December 2017, the Board at all times met the
qualification of independent non-executive directors with at least one
independent non-executive director processing appropriate professional
qualifications, or accounting or related financial management expertise
under Rules 3.10 of the Listing Rules.

The Company has received written annual confirmation from each
independent non-executive director of his independence in accordance with
the independence guidelines set out in Rule 3.13 of the Listing Rules. The
Company considers all independent non-executive directors are
independent.
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NON-EXECUTIVE DIRECTORS

Code provision A.4.1 of the CG Code stipulates that non-executive directors
shall be appointed for a specific term, subject to re-election, whereas code
provision A.4.2 of the CG Code states that all directors appointed to fill a
casual vacancy shall be subject to election by shareholders at the first
general meeting after appointment and that every director, including those
appointed for a specific term, shall be subject to retirement by rotation at
least once every three years.

During the year ended 31 December 2017, Mr. Huang Xiaojun resigned and
Ms. Lam Pik Po was appointed as non-executive directors on 5 June 2017.

Each of the non-executive directors of the Company is appointed for a
specific term of three years and is subject to retirement by rotation once
every three years.

INDUCTION AND CONTINUOUS PROFESSIONAL
DEVELOPMENT OF DIRECTORS

Every newly appointed director will receive formal, comprehensive and
tailored induction on the first occasion of his/her appointment to ensure
appropriate understanding of the business and operations of the Company
and full awareness of director’s responsibilities and obligations under the
Listing Rules and relevant statutory requirements. Such induction includes
visits to the Company’s key plant sites and meetings with senior
management of the Company.

Directors shall keep abreast of regulatory developments and changes in
order to effectively perform their responsibilities and to ensure that their
contribution to the Board remains informed and relevant.

Directors should participate in appropriate continuous professional
development to develop and refresh their knowledge and skills. Internally-
facilitated briefings for directors would be arranged and reading material on
relevant topics would be provided to directors where appropriate. All the
directors are encouraged to attend relevant training courses at the
Company'’s expenses.
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During the year ended 31 December 2017, the Company organized a
training session conducted by legal adviser of the Company for all directors
on connected transactions under the Listing Rules. To summarize, the
directors attended the following seminar(s) and training session(s) and/or
reviewing the following materials:

HZE2017F12A31BILFE  AAR AR E
EELHT - NBAARRERBREES 28
IR REEBELETRAUTHEERS -
BIEMs  EFECLFETIHATEREFIR

BR/HEH T A

Training topic(s) attended
and/or materials reviewed
by respective directors
BRIEESENIEINEE

Directors = %/SHEBHA R
Non-executive directors FHITES

Mr. Jeffrey, Minfang Lu Bt E [1]
Mr. Qin Peng =gt A [1]
Mr. Zhang Ping ok 5 A& [1]
Ms. Lam Pik Po® MEELLO [1102]
Mr. Huang Xiaojun® EEFEAEY =
Executive directors BITES

Mr. Hua Li® EHRES (1]
Mr. Chopin Zhang® 3k - (Chopin Zhang) 7t £ © [112]
Independent non-executive directors BYEHITES

Mr. Mok Wai Bun Ben SR E [1]
Mr. Cheng Shoutai BFAGEE [1]
Mr. Lee Kong Wai Conway TAERE [1]

* In addition, relevant reading materials including directors’ manual and seminar
handouts have been provided to the directors for their reference and study.

Notes:

(1) Connected Transactions under the Listing Rules
2) Directors’ Obligations

3) Appointed on 5 June 2017

4) Resigned on 5 June 2017

(5) Resigned on 16 March 2018

(6) Appointed on 1 January 2017
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DELEGATION BY THE BOARD

The Board reserves for its decision of all major matters of the Company,
including approval and monitoring of all policy matters, overall strategies
and budgets, internal control and risk management systems, material
transactions (in particular to those that may involve conflict of interest),
financial information, appointment of directors and other significant
financial and operational matters.

The daily management, administration and operation of the Company are
delegated to the senior management. The delegated functions and
responsibilities are periodically reviewed.

All directors have full and timely access to all relevant information as well as
the advice and services of the company secretary, with a view to ensuring
that board procedures and all applicable laws and regulations are followed.
Each director is normally able to seek independent professional advice in
appropriate circumstances at the Company’s expense, upon making request
to the Board.

BOARD COMMITTEES

The Board has established three committees, namely, the Audit Committee,
the Remuneration Committee and the Nomination Committee, for
overseeing particular aspects of the Company'’s affairs. All board committees
of the Company are established with defined written terms of reference
which are posted on the websites of the Company (www.yashili.hk) and the
Stock Exchange (www.hkexnews.hk) and are available to shareholders upon
request.

AUDIT COMMITTEE

The Audit Committee of the Company was established on 8 October 2010
with revised written terms of reference (adopted on 26 August 2015) in
compliance with Rule 3.21 of the Listing Rules. As at 31 December 2017,
the Audit Committee comprises two independent non-executive directors,
namely Mr. Lee Kong Wai Conway (Chairman) and Mr. Mok Wai Bun Ben
and one non-executive director, namely Mr. Zhang Ping (including one
independent non-executive director who possesses the appropriate
professional qualifications or accounting or related financial management
expertise).
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The main duties of the Audit Committee are to assist the Board in reviewing
the financial information and reporting process, risk management and
internal control systems, effectiveness of the internal audit function, scope
of audit and appointment of external auditors, and arrangements to enable
employees of the Company to raise concerns about possible improprieties
in financial reporting, internal control or other matters of the Company.

During the year ended 31 December 2017, the Audit Committee held three
meetings and reviewed the Group's interim and annual financial results and
interim and annual reports, significant issues on the financial reporting and
compliance procedures, the effectiveness of the risk management and
internal control systems and internal audit function, scope of work and
appointment of external auditors, connected transactions and arrangements
for employees to raise concerns about possible improprieties and re-
appointment of the external auditors.

The Audit Committee also met the external auditors three times without the
presence of executive director(s).

REMUNERATION COMMITTEE

The Remuneration Committee of the Company was established on 8
October 2010. As at 31 December 2017, the Remuneration Committee
comprises three independent non-executive directors namely Mr. Mok Wai
Bun Ben (Chairman), Mr. Cheng Shoutai and Mr. Lee Kong Wai Conway
and two non-executive directors namely Mr. Jeffrey, Minfang Lu and Mr.
Qin Peng.

The roles and functions of the Remuneration Committee are set out in its
terms of reference. Its main duties are to evaluate and make
recommendation to the Board on the overall remuneration policy and
structure relating to all directors and senior management of the Group; and
establishing transparent procedures for developing such remuneration
policy and structure to ensure that no director or any of his/her associates
will participate in deciding his/her own remuneration.

The Remuneration Committee has reviewed the remuneration policy and
structure of the Company, and the remuneration packages as well as the
annual bonuses of the executive directors and the senior management
during the year ended 31 December 2017. In addition, the Remuneration
Committee reviewed the service agreement of the new director, Ms. Lam
Pik Po who was appointed on 5 June 2017.

The Remuneration Committee held two meeting during the year ended 31
December 2017.
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NOMINATION COMMITTEE

The Nomination Committee of the Company was established on 8 October
2010. As at 31 December 2017, the Nomination Committee comprises one
non-executive director namely Mr. Jeffrey, Minfang Lu (Chairman), and two
independent non-executive directors, namely Mr. Mok Wai Bun Ben and
Mr. Cheng Shoutai.

The roles and functions of the Nomination Committee are set out in its
terms of reference. The principal duties of the Nomination Committee
include reviewing the Board composition, developing and formulating
relevant procedures for the nomination and appointment of directors,
making recommendations to the Board on the appointment and succession
planning of directors, and assessing the independence of independent non-
executive directors.

In assessing the Board composition, the Nomination Committee would take
into account various aspects set out in the board diversity policy, including
but not limited to business experience, skills, professional knowledge,
personal integrity and time commitments, the Company’s needs and other
relevant statutory requirements and regulations.

During the year ended 31 December 2017 and up to the date of this
Annual Report, the Nomination Committee reviewed the structure, size and
composition of the Board and the independence of independent non-
executive directors and considered the qualifications of retiring directors
standing for election at the annual general meeting held on 2 June 2017
and recommended the appointment of Ms. Lam Pik Po as a non-executive
director.

The Nomination Committee held one meeting during the year ended 31
December 2017.

BOARD PROCEEDINGS

Board practices and conduct of meetings

Annual meeting schedules and draft agenda of each meeting are normally
made available to the directors in advance. Notice of regular board meetings
is served to all the directors at least 14 days before the meeting. For other
board and committee meetings, reasonable notice is generally given.
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Board papers together with all appropriate, complete and reliable
information are sent to all directors at least three days before each board
meeting or committee meeting to keep directors apprised of the latest
development and financial position of the Company and to enable them to
make decisions. The Board and each director also have separate and
independent access to the senior management where necessary.

The senior management normally will attend regular board meetings and
where necessary, other board and committee meetings, to advise on
business development, financial and accounting matters, statutory and
regulatory compliance, corporate governance and other major aspects of
the Company.

The Company’s memorandum and articles of association contain provisions
requiring directors to abstain from voting and not to be counted in the
guorum at the meetings for approving transactions in which such directors
or any of their associates have a material interest.

The secretary of the meetings is responsible for taking and keeping minutes
of all board meetings and committee meetings. Draft minutes are normally
circulated to directors for comment within a reasonable time after each
meeting and final versions are open for director’s inspection.

DIRECTORS” ATTENDANCE RECORDS

The attendance records of each Director at the board, board committee
meetings and the general meetings of the Company held during the year
ended 31 December 2017 are set out below:
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REHLERE EBRH
Annual
Audit Remuneration Nomination  General
Board Committee Committee Committee Meeting®
IR =R EF
Name of director EEHSE Exg EXEEE VMHEES REZES Rgo
Mr. Jeffrey, Minfang Lu B B 5 A 6/6 — 2/2 11 11
Mr. Qin Peng =g & 6/6 — 2/2 — 11
Mr. Zhang Ping SRS A 5/6 3/3 — — 11
Ms. Lam Pik Po'” HRBELZLO 3/4 — — — —
Mr. Huang Xiaojun® HEEE LA 2/2 — — — 11
Mr. Hua Li® FEHRES 6/6 — — — 171
Mr. Chopin Zhang® 5= ¥ (Chopin Zhang) 7t & @ 6/6 — — — 1/1
Mr. Mok Wai Bun Ben REwfks 6/6 3/3 2/2 1/1 171
Mr. Cheng Shoutai BFAEE 6/6 — 22 11 0/1
Mr. Lee Kong Wai Conway Z= 3 187 %% 4 6/6 3/3 2/2 — 11
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Notes:

Q)

Appointed on 5 June 2017, four board meetings were held on or after 5 June 2017.

@)

Resigned on 5 June 2017, two board meetings and one Annual General Meeting
were held on or before 5 June 2017.

3) Resigned on 16 March 2018.

4) Appointed on 1 January 2017.

(5) The annual general meeting of the Company was held on 2 June 2017.

Apart from regular board meetings, an independent non-executive
directors’ meeting was also held without the presence of the executive
directors on 29 March 2017.

MODEL CODE FOR SECURITIES TRANSACTIONS

The Board has adopted the Model Code for Securities Transactions by
Directors of Listed Issuers (the “Model Code”) set out in Appendix 10 of the
Listing Rules as the Group’s code of conduct regarding directors’ securities
transactions. All the directors have confirmed that they have complied with
the Model Code throughout the year ended 31 December 2017.

The Company has also established written guidelines (the “Employees
Written Guidelines”) on no less exacting terms than the Model Code for
securities transactions by employees who are likely to be in possession of
unpublished inside information of the Company. No incident of non-
compliance of the Employees Written Guidelines by the employees was
noted by the Company.

REMUNERATION OF DIRECTORS AND SENIOR
MANAGEMENT

The Company has established a formal and transparent procedure for
formulating policies on remuneration of directors and senior management
of the Group. Details of the remuneration of each of the directors for the
year ended 31 December 2017 are set out in Note 9 to the consolidated
financial statements.

Details of the Remuneration of the Directors and Senior Management and
those of the five highest paid individuals of the Group are set out in Note 9
to the consolidated financial statements.
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CORPORATE GOVERNANCE FUNCTIONS

The Board is responsible for performing the functions set out in the code
provision D.3.1 of the CG Code.

The Board reviewed the Company’s corporate governance policies and
practices, training and continuous professional development of directors
and senior management, the Company’s policies and practices on
compliance with legal and regulatory requirements, the compliance of the
Model Code and Employee Written Guidelines, and the Company’s
compliance with the CG Code and disclosure in this corporate governance
report.

ACCOUNTABILITY AND AUDIT

Directors’ responsibilities for financial reporting in
respect of financial statements

The directors acknowledge their responsibility for preparing the financial
statements of the Company for the year ended 31 December 2017.

The Board is responsible for presenting a balanced, clear and
understandable assessment of annual and interim reports, announcements
relating to disclosure of insider information and other disclosures required
under the Listing Rules and other statutory and regulatory requirements.

The management has provided to the Board such explanation and
information as are necessary to enable the Board to carry out an informed
assessment of the Company’s financial statements, which are put to the
Board for approval.

The Board is not aware of any material uncertainties relating to events or
conditions that may cast significant doubt upon the Group’s ability to
continue as a going concern.
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RISK MANAGEMENT AND INTERNAL CONTROL

The Board acknowledges that it is responsible for the risk management and
internal control systems, and that it has the responsibility to review their
effectiveness on an ongoing basis. Such systems are designed to manage
rather than eliminate the risk of failure to achieve business objectives, and
can only provide reasonable and not absolute assurance that there will be
no material misstatement or loss.

The Board has the overall responsibility for evaluating and determining the
nature and extent of the risks it is willing to take in achieving the Company’s
strategic objectives, and establishing and maintaining appropriate and
effective risk management and internal control systems. The Board is the
highest decision-making authority for overall corporate risk management,
and is mainly responsible for performing the following risk management
duties.

During 2017, the Audit Committee reviewed whether or not the risk
management and internal control systems of the Company were effective
and adequate on behalf of the Board, submitted a report to the Board on a
proposed increase in the number of internal audit staff and established a
risk control committee composed of the members of the Board and the
department heads of the Group pursuant to the guidelines of the Listing
Rules. By establishing a comprehensive risk management organizational
system, the Group carried out risk management effectively, decision-making
clearly, execution, supervision and other risk management responsibilities,
having formed a scientific and effective system with division of duties and
set up three lines of defense for risk management. The first line of defense
consisted of the centres, marketing and sales affairs divisions and factories
directly in charge of each of risk management; the second line of defense
comprised the risk and internal control management committee and the risk
management division of the audit centre in charge of the overall planning
and supervising of risk management; and the third line of defense
composed of the Audit Committee and the internal audit division of the
audit centre in charge of verifying risk management.
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The Audit Committee assists the Board in leading the management and
overseeing their design, implementation and monitoring of the risk
management and internal control systems. The Audit Committee is the
supervisory and evaluation office of risk and internal control management,
which guides and supervises the Group in carrying out risk management.
The risk and internal control management committee, being a committee
established under the Audit Committee, is the highest coordination and
business affairs office for risk management. The committee is composed of
the first officials in charge of various centres, marketing and sales affairs
divisions and factories, and chaired by the Chief Executive Officer of the
Group. The risk management division is directly under the audit centre of
the Group, reporting to the head of the audit centre. As the centralized
management department of the Group’s risk management, the risk
management division is responsible for the Company’s day-to-day
arrangement, coordination, supervision, analysis and reporting of risk
management.

The risk management division has developed a “Risk Management
Workflow”, which divides the workflow into five major sections, namely (1)
risk identification, (Il) risk assessment, (lll) risk response, (IV) risk monitoring
and (V) risk management reporting, and clarifies and unifies the workflow
trend of risk management as well as the roles and functions of relevant
departments, implementation steps and so on. To regulate the system and
set out unified management requirements for workflow execution, the
department has specifically set out work requirements for each section of
the workflow as follows:

() Risk identification

Risk identification is the first step and the basis for risk management.
It refers to the process of analysing and discovering, by the staff in
each business area and at each level of the Company, the potential
factors that may impact on the achievement of business objectives.
The Group may take the initiative to select appropriate, effective ways
to cope with and handle risks only if it is able to identify its own risks
comprehensively and correctly.
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The Group’s risk identification is carried out in two main lines. The
first one is a routine check on risk identification arranged and initiated
by the risk management division once a year, and the second one is a
temporary risk identification initiated by each of the centres,
marketing and sales affair divisions and factories in line with the
management needs. The job requirements for risk identification are as
follows:

)

Time of risk identification: the Group will initiate routine risk
identification for the coming year in the fourth quarter of each
year. The risk management division will issue the relevant notice
and collect internal and external information (such as changes in
China’s relevant policies or industry regulatory requirements,
Company’s strategic and operational objectives for the current
period as well as major findings on the risk management and
internal audit supervision for the previous year) for the
preparation of annual risk alerts;

Scope of risk identification: there are inherent risks in
conducting any business activities: all the centres, marketing
and sales affairs divisions and factories are required to organize
risk identification on a unified basis according to the required
dates of starting and ending the risk identification as notified by
the risk management division. Management staff and risk
counterpart staff at each level are the main organizers of risk
identification and are required to boost the risk management
awareness among all staff internally and to comprehensively
identify various internal and external risks which impact on the
achievement of objectives;

Areas of risk identification: in commencing a risk identification
process, each centre, marketing and sales affairs division and
factory are required to sort out and collect risks comprehensively
and systematically in line with the Group’s risk management
framework which consists of seven dimensional areas including
strategy, market, finance, operations, law and compliance,
quality and food safety as well as sustainable development,
taking into account the factors that impact on the achievement
of the Company’s business objectives;

Principle of risk identification: it is necessary to follow the three
basic principles including comprehensiveness, systematicness
and continuity;

AEBERBRBRNTESMIEERBRE
—SAHEREEFEEEREN —F—
ROITTRBRERIER  — RSP0 2
HEXHBRIBREEERTEREN
e B 145 L B a8 1 o L 8k Bl O T B SR
LU

() REIAFOER: AEESFE
m0EE A PITRRE) T FE R R A
AT BRAREEE N EMEME
A WWEAIBES(HE
REBRBRATEEEZRNH
E ARAEHEBERMES
B EFERREELEANIE
AEEEARERERER) URR
FRERBRIER

2 ERBOBE: EFRXEEH
MEAFEBEARR &0
SHEXEHILRIBFRERR
B I ED R A [ B A R R L B
A 25K 4t — 48 4 FA R L B et
ITHE-ZEREBAERARY
BEAZERBHNOEEMEEE -
FEAMEE2ERREENE
HOEZEINFEEREXRONA
ShERETRERR

3) RRBHIMEL: FF 0 EHE
AR TR B R L B 2 Rl Y 58
B SREASERREEE
RoNEE M5 MK EE-
FEREAS HEHRMLE A
SEERLERERZE AR
ETRBRBEMKE K€K
FEARBEBERERNEE:

4 BBRHNOER: ZEEZEE
AREABEEEME - B0 HE
B



CORPORATE GOVERNANCE REPORT (CONTINUED)

oo

% 2 i

AR E @)

Method of risk identification: employ the risk identification
methods commonly used by enterprises as well as a variety of
ways and methods to collect a wide range of risks associated
with the Group’s business areas;

Summarizing and submitting findings on risk identification: risk
counterpart staff of each centre, marketing and sales affairs
division and factory are required to describe each risk identified
strictly in accordance with the Company’s common risk
language and compile a list of risks identified at the centre/
marketing and sales division/factory level which, after being
verified and confirmed by the centre, marketing and sales
division and factory manager, shall be submitted by the risk
counterpart staff of centre, marketing and sales affairs division
and factory to the risk management division of the Group’s
audit centre;

Organization of risk seminars: specifically for the findings on risk
identification submitted by each centre, marketing and sales
affairs division and factory, the risk management division is
required to sort out the differences regarding the unclearly
defined leading role in risk management and incomplete
description of risks;

Establishment and improvement of the risk database: the risk
management division is required to establish and improve the
risk database of the Group as an essential basis for risk
management based on the findings on risk identification
submitted by each centre, marketing and sales affairs division
and factory annually;

Other requirements: in addition to the routine risk identification
carried out by the Group each year, the centres, marketing and
sales affairs divisions and factories are required to carry out
temporary risk identification in line with their own internal
actual situations. The workflow and methods shall be carried
out with reference to the above criteria.
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(I) Risk assessment
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(1

Risk assessment refers to the risk assessment conducted on the basis
of the possibility of occurrence and the degree of impact of a risk. In
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particular, possibility refers to the probability of occurrence of a risk, R EENBER & %;J“E%a 2, Bz 8%
and the degree of impact means the degree of impact of the EHBEZEAL E’J% ’.i.“ BE vE2aER
occurrence of a risk created on the target. The scope of impact covers BB ES EAEER - E]I ek
daily operations, laws and regulations, financial loss, food hygiene B u% % ST RERE RAEBEE
and safety, environmental protection, corporate reputation and so on. 3B R IE A e 1T J;[g?}spﬁj HE&E

By comparing various risks, the significant risks are arranged, and the
priority to manage these risks in chronological order and the strategies
to cope with them are determined initially. The specific job
requirements include:

(1) the cycle of a risk assessment (conduct regularly once a year);

(2)  carry out a risk assessment at different levels;
(3) assess and identify significant risks at different levels;
(4)  build up a team of risk assessment experts;

(5)  set risk score weight across centres/marketing and sales affairs
divisions/factories.

Risk response

Risk response refers to the strategies and plans determined by each
level of the management for responding to risks in line with the
Company’'s own conditions and the external environment, with a
focus on the management intent determined in the Company’'s
development strategy upon assessment of the relevant risks. Risk
response shall take into account the growth objectives and the
balance between risk and opportunity, and focus on emphasized
management of and response to significant risks at each level. The
specific workflow includes:
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(1) to determine the main unit in charge of the Group's significant () AEFEERXREBRTIEEEMNET:
risks;

(2)  to make preparations for responding and notifying to risk; (2) [RBe FE A B A

(3) to develop strategies for analysing and responding to risks; (3) R\ > T EE FE L 58 RS I E

(4)  to execute and modify measures for responding to risks.
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(IV) Risk monitoring

Risk monitoring is a mechanism or method used by the management
to understand and determine whether risk management is functioning
continuously and effectively under the changing internal and external

%

environment.

It is a continuous process aimed at evaluating the

effectiveness of risk control, detecting control deficiencies and making
improvement in a timely manner. The specific work requirements are
as follows:

(1

Division of duties in risk monitoring: significant risks at Group
level are monitored by the risk management division throughout
the process. The risk management division conducts random
checks while significant risks of centre/marketing and sales
affairs division/factory level are monitored by the risk
counterpart staff of the centres/marketing and sales divisions/
factories throughout the process;

Frequency of risk monitoring: significant risks at Group level are
monitored quarterly, while significant risks at centre/marketing
and sales affairs division/factory level are monitored quarterly or
monthly by the centres/marketing and sales affairs divisions/
factories on a selective basis;

Particulars of risk monitoring: risk monitoring covers the
implementation and effectiveness of strategies for responding
to significant risks at each level as well as the monitoring and
early warning of significant risk events and related risk
information within the industry.

Risk management reporting
Risk management reporting includes the report submitted to the
superior risk management division annually as well as the information
and communication details generated in each part of the process of
carrying out risk management. The specific requirements for risk
management reporting are as follows:

W)

Risk management reporting to the Audit Committee: report at
least once a year, as required by the Audit Committee;

Reporting to the risk and internal control committee: report at
least twice a year, as required by the risk and internal control
committee;
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(3)  Other risk management forms and reports: while the risk
management system and workflow (refers to risk identification,
assessment, response and monitoring) are being carried out, the
centres/marketing and sales affairs divisions/factories shall, as
required by the risk management division, submit all kinds of
process management form and information report in a timely
and quality manner to ensure that the Group'’s risk management
information is communicated and reported smoothly.

The management has confirmed to the Board and the Audit
Committee on the effectiveness of the risk management and internal
control systems for the year ended 31 December 2017.

° The Company has developed its disclosure policy which provides
a general guide to the Company’s Directors, officers, senior
management and relevant employees in handling confidential
information, monitoring information disclosure and responding
to enquiries.

o Control procedures have been implemented to ensure that
unauthorized access and use of inside information are strictly
prohibited.

EXTERNAL RELATED PARTY TRANSACTIONS
MANAGEMENT SYSTEM

For any transaction proposed to be conducted between the Group and its
external related parties, the Company may be required to publish a
connected transaction announcement under the Listing Rules if such
transaction constitutes a connected transaction as defined under the Listing
Rules and the proposed transaction amount is above certain threshold.
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To ensure the strict compliance with such requirements by all departments,
the Company has implemented the Management System for Transactions
between the Company and External Related Party ( (/A &) E29MNIRREE 5 32
S5EIRHIE) ) with effect from September 2017, details of which are as
follows:

()

All business departments of the Company shall act as the first
gatekeeper prior to the occurrence of transaction, paying close
attention to any business activity which may constitute an external
connected transaction and notifying the strategy department by email
for identification, assessment and determination prior to the
occurrence of transaction or during the contract-drafting stage.

In the event that the proposed transaction amount meets the
disclosure requirement:

o if the transaction is identified as a non-continuing connected
transaction, the business department shall enter into business
contract to specify the contract term (no more than one year)
and the fixed transaction amount. Meanwhile, the strategy
department will publish a non-continuing connected transaction
announcement.

o if the transaction is identified as a continuing connected
transaction, (1) the term of the relevant business contract shall
be at least two years but no more than three years; (2) the
business department shall estimate the annual transaction
amounts and determine the annual transaction cap with the
strategy department; (3) the business department shall keep
proper record to avoid the actual annual transaction amount
exceeding the annual cap; (4) the business department shall
separately apply for approval with the OA in the case that the
term of the continuing connected transaction lasts for only one
year or below due to some exceptional reasons.

The legal department of the Company shall act as the second
gatekeeper for external connected transactions prior to the occurrence
of transaction. Through contract management and control, the legal
department shall notify the strategy department for identification,
assessment and determination in the event that any contract to be
signed is identified as one that may constitute an external connected
transaction.
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The financial department of the Company shall act as the third
gatekeeper for external connected transactions by focusing on
transactions occurred but not disclosed by announcement. Once
identified, such transaction shall be reported to the strategy
department during the month it occurred for remedial measures. The
financial department shall review the external connected transaction
information on a monthly basis, and shall notify the strategy
department immediately for identification, assessment and
determination and adoption of necessary remedial measures in the
event that any transaction, which occurred for the first time and for
which no announcement has been made, is suspected to constitute
an external connected transaction. The financial department shall also
notify the strategy department immediately for necessary remedial
measures in the event that the transaction amount of any published
continuing connected transaction exceeds the annual transaction cap.

EXTERNAL AUDITORS AND AUDITORS'
REMUNERATION

The statement of the external auditors of the Company about their
reporting responsibilities for the financial statements is set out in the
“Independent Auditors’ Report” on pages 107 to 112 of this Annual
Report.

During the year ended 31 December 2017, the remuneration paid/payable
to the Company’s auditors, Ernst & Young, Certified Public Accountants,
are set out below:
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Fee paid/payable

Category of services BR 7 %8 5l B EAEA
RMB'000

AREFTT

Annual audit service FEEZR 2,161
Interim review services R EAR B AR 7S 380
Other assurance services H b B8 35 iR 75 185
2,726

Other assurance services provided by Ernst & Young during the year ended
31 December 2017 mainly include review procedures for non-exempted
connected transactions.
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COMPANY SECRETARY

Following the resignation of Mr. Li Yuejin as the joint company secretary of
the Company on 6 July 2017, Ms. Ho Siu Pik became the sole company
secretary of the Company. On 14 December 2017, Ms. Ho Siu Pik resigned
and Ms. Wu Miu Wah was appointed as company secretary of the
Company. Ms. Ho and Ms. Wu are director and senior manager of the
Corporate Services Department of Tricor Services Limited respectively and
are not employees of the Company, Ms. Ho and Ms. Wu contact the
management of the Company and report to the board chairman and/or the
chief executive through Mr. Eric Fang of Investment Management Division,
when necessary. Each of Mr. Li Yuejin, Ms. Ho and Ms. Wu has confirmed
that he/she has taken no less than 15 hours of relevant professional
trainings during the year ended 31 December 2017.

COMMUNICATION WITH SHAREHOLDERS AND
INVESTOR RELATIONS

The Company considers that effective communication with shareholders is
essential for enhancing investor relations and investor understanding of the
Group's business performance and strategies. The Company also recognizes
the importance of transparency and timely disclosure of corporate
information, which will enable shareholders and investors to make the best
investment decisions.

The general meetings of the Company provide a platform for
communication between the Board and the shareholders. The Chairman of
the Board as well as chairmen of the nomination committee, remuneration
committee and audit committee or, in their absence, other members of the
respective committees, are available to answer shareholders’ questions at
general meetings.

The Company has not made any changes to its memorandum and articles
of association in the year 2017. The Company’s memorandum and articles
of association is available on the websites of the Company (www.yashili.hk)
and the Stock Exchange (www.hkexnews.hk).

To promote effective communication, the Company maintains a website
(www.yashili.hk), where up-to-date information and updates on the
Company'’s financial information, corporate governance practices and other
information are available for public access.
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SHAREHOLDERS' RIGHTS

To safeguard shareholders’ interests and rights, a separate resolution is
proposed by the Company for each separate substantial issue at general
meetings, including the election of directors.

All resolutions put forward at general meetings will be voted on by poll
pursuant to the Listing Rules and poll results will be posted on the websites
of the Company and of the Stock Exchange after each general meeting.

The procedures for shareholders of the Company to propose a person for
election as a director are available on the Company’s website (www.yashili.
hk).

PROCEDURES FOR SHAREHOLDERS TO CONVENE
AN EXTRAORDINARY GENERAL MEETING AND
PUTTING FORWARD PROPOSAL AT GENERAL
MEETING

Article 58 of the Company’s Articles of Association provides that any one or
more members of the Company holding at the date of deposit of the
requisition not less than one-tenth of the paid up capital of the Company
carrying the right of voting at general meetings of the Company shall at all
times have the right, by written requisition to the Board or the Company
Secretary of the Company, to require an extraordinary general meeting to
be called by the Board for the transaction of any business specified in such
requisition; and such meeting shall be held within 2 months after the
deposit of such requisition. If within 21 days of such deposit the Board fails
to proceed to convene such meeting, the requisitionist(s) himself (themselves)
may do so in the same manner, and all reasonable expenses incurred by the
requisitionist(s) as a result of the failure of the Board shall be reimbursed to
the requisitionist(s) by the Company.

PUTTING FORWARD ENQUIRIES TO THE BOARD

For putting forward any enquiries to the Board, Shareholders may send
written enquiries to the Company. The Company will not normally deal with
verbal or anonymous enquiries.
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CONTACT DETAILS

Shareholders may send their enquiries or requests as mentioned above to
the Company:

Address: Room A, 32nd Floor, COFCO Tower
262 Gloucester Road
Causeway Bay

Hong Kong
Tel: +852 2845 1230
Fax: +852 2845 1231
Email: ir@yashili.cn
Contact person: Mr. Eric Fang

For the avoidance of doubt, shareholders must deposit and send the original
duly signed written requisition, notice or statement, or enquiry (as the case
may be) to the above address and provide their full name, contact details
and identification in order to give effect thereto. Shareholders’ information
may be disclosed as required by law.
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NON-EXECUTIVE DIRECTORS
Mr. Jeffrey, Minfang Lu

Aged 49, was appointed as the Chairman of the Board, the Chairman of
the Nomination Committee of the Board and a member of the
Remuneration Committee of the Board, and was redesignated as a non-
executive director of the Company on 15 September 2016. Mr. Lu was a
director for each of the following subsidiaries of the Company, namely
Yashili International Ltd., Yashili International Group Limited, Newou Hong
Kong International Co., Limited and Scient International Group Limited from
27 April 2015 to 9 January 2017. Mr. Lu is currently an executive director
and the CEO of China Mengniu Dairy Company Limited (“Mengniu Dairy”) (a
company listed on the Main Board of the Stock Exchange, stock code: 2319
and a controlling shareholder of the Company) as well as a non-executive
director of China Modern Dairy Holdings Ltd. (a company listed on the Main
Board of the Stock Exchange, stock code: 1117). Mr. Lu was the Vice
President (Greater China) of Danone Early Life Nutrition Greater China and
had been with the Danone Group and Dumex China for over 10 years.
During the tenure at the Danone Group, he demonstrated strong strategic
business and market planning capabilities. With strong leadership,
management skills and in-depth knowledge of markets, Mr. Lu contributed
significantly to the success of the Danone Group’s baby nutrition business
in China. Prior to joining the Danone Group, Mr. Lu spent 9 years with
Johnson & Johnson (China) Company Limited and almost 4 years with
General Electric Company (China). Mr. Lu has over 18 years of experience in
sales and marketing and has been serving in general manager or executive
level roles for over 8 years. He has extensive experience in the management
of fast-moving consumer products and dairy companies and has an
excellent grasp and the in-depth knowledge of the PRC market. Mr. Lu
obtained his Bachelor’s degree from Shanghai Fudan University.

Mr. Qin Peng

Aged 62, was appointed as a non-executive director of the Company and a
member of the Remuneration Committee on 27 April 2015 and 5 June
2015 respectively. Mr. Qin has been appointed as the Chairman of China
division of the Danone Group since 2007, and has a deep knowledge and
understanding of international and Chinese business and culture. Mr. Qin
joined the Danone Group in 1983. Mr. Qin was appointed as the vice
president of the China Operation division of the Danone Group from 1997
to 2006 and as the vice president of the Corporate Development division of
the Danone Group in Asia Pacific from 1995 to 1996. Mr. Qin served as the
general manager of Amoy Foods Limited in Hong Kong from 1991 to 1994
and as the general manager of Guangzhou Danone Yoghurt Company
Limited from 1988 to 1990. Mr. Qin was engaged in Danone’s marketing
and sales operations in France when he joined the Danone Group and has
moved to Asia since 1988. Mr. Qin graduated from the Rene Descartes
University with a bachelor’'s degree and from the Paris Institute of Political
Sciences with a master degree.
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Mr. Zhang Ping

Aged 53, was appointed as a non-executive Director of the Company and a
member of the Audit Committee on 27 April 2015. Mr. Zhang was
appointed as the authorized representative of the Company on 16 March
2018. He has been also a director of Yashili International Group Limited, a
subsidiary of the Company, since 27 April 2015. Mr. Zhang joined Mengniu
Group in 2014 and is currently the Chief Financial Officer of Mengniu Dairy.
He has over 24 years of experience in the industry of fast-moving consumer
goods, specializing in the management of operation, finance and audit as
well as risk control. Mr. Zhang successively worked as the manager of
internal audit and system development, finance director in Swire Beverages
Co., Ltd., general manager of its bottler manufacturing company and chief
executive officer in Coca-Cola Bottler Manufacturing Holdings Limited. Mr.
Zhang graduated from Beijing Information Science and Technology
University with a Master degree in management engineering. Mr. Zhang
has also been a non-executive director of China Modern Dairy Holdings Ltd.
(stock code: 1117) since 22 March 2016.

Ms. Lam Pik Po

Aged 51, was appointed as a non-executive director of the Company on 5
June 2017. Ms. Lam received her Bachelor of Accounting degree from the
City University of Hong Kong and a Master of Business Administration
degree from University of Portland in the United States. Ms. Lam has served
in the Greater China Region of PepsiCo Inc. since August 1994 and has held
various positions including business development director, marketing
director and general manager until August 2008. Since September 2008,
Ms. Lam served as the area vice president of PepsiCo China Beverages
(Southern Region). Since July 2011, Ms. Lam served as the president of
PepsiCo Food China. Since September 2013, Ms. Lam served as the
Chairman of PepsiCo Greater China Region. Ms. Lam joined the Danone
Group in January 2017 as the president of Greater China Region of the
early life nutrition business department.
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EXECUTIVE DIRECTOR
Mr. Chopin Zhang

Aged 53, was appointed as the CEO and an executive director of the
Company on 1 January 2017. He is one of the authorized representatives of
the Company. Mr. Zhang has been also a director for each of the following
subsidiaries of the Company, namely Yashili International Ltd., Yashili
International Group Limited, Newou Hong Kong International Co., Limited
and Scient International Group Limited since 10 January 2017. Mr. Zhang
has over 30 years’ experience in production and supply chain management
and has extensive management experience in the food and beverage
industry. Mr. Zhang served as the chief executive officer of Food Union (China)
Co., Ltd. from August 2015 to December 2016 and devoted to the
establishment and development of Food Union’s business in China. Food
Union is a global manufacturer of dairy products and ice cream. Prior to
joining Food Union, Mr. Zhang served as the operation director of Dumex
China from March 2010 to July 2015 and was responsible for the operation,
supply chain and procurement of Dumex China, and has made important
contribution to the development of Dumex China’s business. Prior to joining
Dumex China, Mr. Zhang held positions in a number of famous
multinational corporations, including serving as the supply chain director
(Greater China) of Starbucks and the General Manager of Starbucks China
Trading Company, and holding various positions with Owens Corning (a
global leader in the development and production of construction materials
and fiberglass composites), Nike (leading global sports brand), Johnson &
Johnson (the world’s leading manufacturer of medical devices,
pharmaceutical and consumer healthcare products) and American Standard
(the world’s leading manufacturer of bath and kitchen products),
specializing in production and supply chain consolidation and management.
Mr. Zhang obtained his Bachelor’s degree in mechanical engineering from
Shanghai Medical Instruments College and his Master degree of Business
Administration from Maastricht School of Management in the Netherlands.
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INDEPENDENT NON-EXECUTIVE DIRECTORS

Mr. Mok Wai Bun Ben

Aged 69, was appointed as an independent non-executive director of the
Company, the chairman of the Remuneration Committee, and a member of
each of the Nomination Committee and the Audit Committee on 15
November 2013. Mr. Mok has been appointed as an independent non-
executive director of China Foods Limited (a company listed on the Main
Board of the Stock Exchange, stock code: 506) since 29 August 2017. Mr.
Mok was appointed as an executive director of Max Sun Enterprises Ltd. in
Hong Kong since 2013 and served as a senior consultant for COFCO Coca-
Cola Beverages Limited in 2012. Mr. Mok had served as a general manager
of Beijing Coca-Cola Beverage Co., Ltd. from 2002 to 2011. From 1993 to
2001, he was a general manager of Hangzhou BC Foods Company Limited
and Nanjing BC Foods Company Limited. Mr. Mok also served as the
general manager of Swire Beverages Limited responsible for overseeing
bottling plant of Swire Beverages Limited in China. Mr. Mok was awarded a
Bachelor’s degree of Economics from McGill University, Canada in 1975.

Mr. Cheng Shoutai

Aged 51, was appointed as an independent non-executive director of the
Company, and a member of each of the Remuneration Committee and the
Nomination Committee on 15 November 2013. Mr. Cheng is a qualified
lawyer of the People’s Republic of China, the chief partner and director of
Tahota Law Firm, a law firm based in China. Mr. Cheng also serves as a
director of the All China Lawyers Association (FREEZ B ZAMipEIEE), an
arbitrator of the China International Economic and Trade Arbitration
Commission (CIETAC) (P BB EE SR Z 8 & {hE 8), the president
of Sichuan Province Lawyers Association (P9)!| & 2R &€ &) and a legal
advisor of the People’s Government of Sichuan Province. Mr. Cheng holds a
Doctorate’s degree in civil and commercial law from Southwestern
University of Finance and Economics. Mr. Cheng is honored with the titles
of “Model Worker in the Judicial Administration System in Countrywide
(ZEHERNETRES A ENEE)”, National Outstanding Lawyer, Chambers
Asia-Pacific Asia’s Leading Lawyer for Business (#1087 25 A [& 4 1 r 75 12
ff) and China Top Ten Influential Lawyers of Asia Legal Business (ALB) (Z5M
JEZFERE). He has been nominated for the Best Managing Partners of the
Year of ALB for two times and was one of the Fangyuan Top Ten Elite
Lawyers of the Year as well as the First Session of Top Ten Outstanding
Lawyers Graduated from Southwest University of Political Science and Law.
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Mr. Lee Kong Wai Conway

Aged 63, was appointed as an independent non-executive director of the
Company, the chairman of the Audit Committee and a member of the
Remuneration Committee on 27 November 2013. Mr. Lee has over 30 years
of experience in public accounting and auditing, corporate finance, merger
and acquisition and initial public offerings. Mr. Lee served at Ernst & Young
from September 1980 to September 2009. Mr. Lee was a partner of Ernst &
Young and held key leadership positions in the development of Ernst &
Young in China. Mr. Lee is a member of the Institute of Chartered
Accountants in England and Wales, the Institute of Chartered Accountants
in Australia and New Zealand, the Association of Chartered Certified
Accountants, the Hong Kong Institute of Certified Public Accountants and
the Macau Society of Certified Practising Accountants respectively. From
2007 to 2017, Mr. Lee was a member of Chinese People’s Political
Consultative Conference of Hunan Province.

Mr. Lee is an independent non-executive director of Chaowei Power
Holdings Limited (stock code: 951), China Modern Dairy Holdings Ltd. (stock
code: 1117), China Rundong Auto Group Limited (stock code: 1365), GCL
New Energy Holdings Limited (stock code: 451), GOME Retail Holdings
Limited (formerly known as GOME Electrical Appliances Holdings Limited)
(stock code: 493), NVC Lighting Holding Limited (stock code: 2222), Tibet
Water Resources Ltd. (stock code: 1115), West China Cement Limited (stock
code: 2233), WH Group Limited (stock code: 288) and Guotai Junan
Securities Co., Ltd. (stock code: 2611) (the above companies are all listed on
the Main Board of the Stock Exchange). From July 2014 to September 2015,
Mr. Lee also served as a non-executive director of China Environmental
Technology and Bioenergy Holdings Limited (a company listed on the Main
Board of the Stock Exchange, stock code: 1237). From November 2011 to
May 2016, Mr. Lee was also an independent non-executive director of CITIC
Securities Company Limited (a company listed on the Stock Exchange (stock
code: 6030) as well as the Shanghai Stock Exchange (stock code: 600030)).
Mr. Lee was an independent non-executive director of China Taiping
Insurance Holdings Company Limited (a company listed on the Main Board
of the Stock Exchange, stock code: 966) from October 2009 to August
2013. Mr. Lee was an independent non-executive director of Sino Vanadium
Inc. (@ company which was delisted on the TSX Venture Exchange in
December 2011, stock code: SVX) from September 2009 to December
2011.

Mr. Lee graduated from Kingston University (formerly known as Kingston
Polytechnic) in London with a Bachelor’'s degree in Arts in July 1980 and
further obtained his postgraduate diploma in business from Curtin
University of Technology in Australia in February 1988.
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SENIOR MANAGEMENT

Ms. Wen Jieping

Aged 41, is the chief financial officer and the general manager of the
financial management centre of the Company. Ms. Wen joined the
Company in May 2011 and is primarily responsible for the internal financial
control and overseas investment projects. Prior to this, Ms. Wen was the
department head and a senior manager of the audit department of KPMG
(Guangzhou office). She obtained her dual Bachelor's degree in
International Commerce English and Accounting from Guangdong
University of Foreign Studies and her Executive Master of Business
Administration degree from Sun Yat-sen University. Ms. Wen is a member
of the Chinese Institute of Certified Public Accountants.

Ms. Wu Miu Wah

Ms. Wu Miu Wah was appointed as a company secretary of the Company
on 14 December 2017. Ms. Wu is a Senior Manager of Corporate Services
of Tricor Services Limited (“Tricor”), a global professional services provider
specializing in integrated Business, Corporate and Investor Services. Ms. Wu
has over 20 years of experience in the corporate secretarial field and has
been providing professional corporate services to Hong Kong listed
companies as well as multinational, private and offshore companies. Her
expertise extends from corporate advisory and regulatory compliance,
corporate restructuring to dissolution of companies. Ms. Wu is a Chartered
Secretary and an Associate of both The Hong Kong Institute of Chartered
Secretaries and The Institute of Chartered Secretaries and Administrators in
the United Kingdom.
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REPORT OF THE DIRECTORS
ESERSE

The Directors have pleasure in presenting their report together with the
audited consolidated financial statements for the year ended 31 December
2017.

BUSINESS REVIEW AND PERFORMANCE

A review of the business of the Group and a discussion and analysis of the
Group's performance during the year under review and a discussion on the
Group's future business development and outlook of the Company’s
business, possible risks and uncertainties that the Group may be facing and
important events affecting the Company occurred during the year ended 31
December 2017 are provided in the “Management’'s Discussion and
Analysis” on pages 14 to 44 of this Annual Report. An account of the
Company'’s relationships with its key stakeholders is included in the
paragraphs headed “Emolument Policy”, “Retirement Benefits Schemes”
and “Major Customers and Suppliers” of this Report of the Directors.

An analysis of the Group’s performance during the year ended 31
December 2017 using financial performance indicators is provided in the
section headed “Management’s Discussion and Analysis” on pages 14 to
44 of this Annual Report.

In addition, more details regarding the Group’s performance by reference
to environmental and social related policies, as well as compliance with
relevant laws and regulations which have a significant impact on the
Company will be provided in the “Environmental, Social and Governance
Report” which will be published on the websites of the Stock Exchange
(www.hkexnews.hk) and the Company (www.yashili.hk) and a printed copy
of the same will be despatched to the shareholders of the Company upon
request.

PRINCIPAL ACTIVITIES

The principal activity of the Company is investment holding. Details of the
principal activities of its subsidiaries are set out in note 1 to the consolidated
financial statements. There were no significant changes in the nature of the
Group's principal activities during the year under review.

FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

The profit of the Group for the year ended 31 December 2017 and the
state of the Company’s and the Group’s affairs as at that date are set out in
the consolidated financial statements on pages 113 to 223 of this Annual
Report.
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FINAL DIVIDENDS

The Board did not recommend the payment of a final dividend for the year
ended 31 December 2017 (2016: Nil).

RESERVES

Details of movements in reserves of the Group during the year under review
are set out in the consolidated statement of changes in equity.

DISTRIBUTABLE RESERVES OF THE COMPANY

As at 31 December 2017, the Company's reserves available for distribution,
calculated in accordance with the Companies Law, Chapter 22 (Law 3 of
1961, as consolidated and revised) of the Cayman Islands, amounted to
approximately RMB5,089.2 million, which may be distributed provided that
immediately following the date on which the dividend is proposed to be
distributed, the Company will be in a position to pay off its debts as and
when they fall due in the ordinary course of business.

CHARITABLE DONATIONS

Donations made by the Group during the year under review amounted to
approximately RMB0.94 million.

PROPERTY, PLANT AND EQUIPMENT

During the year ended 31 December 2017, the Group held property, plant
and equipment of approximately RMB1,602.98 million. Movements in
property, plant and equipment of the Group for the year ended 31
December 2017 are set out in note 13 to the consolidated financial
statements.

SHARE CAPITAL

Details of the movements in share capital of the Company during the year
ended 31 December 2017 are set out in note 29 to the consolidated
financial statements.
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DIRECTORS

The Directors of the Company during the year ended 31 December 2017
and during the period from the end of the year of 2017 to the date of this
Annual Report were:

Non-executive directors:

Mr. Jeffrey, Minfang Lu (Chairman)
Mr. Qin Peng

Mr. Zhang Ping

Mr. Huang Xiaojun®

Ms. Lam Pik Po?

Executive directors:
Mr. Chopin Zhang (Chief Executive Officer)
Mr. Hua Li®

Independent non-executive directors:

Mr. Mok Wai Bun Ben
Mr. Cheng Shoutai
Mr. Lee Kong Wai Conway

Notes:
(1) Resigned with effect from 5 June 2017.
2) Appointed with effect from 5 June 2017.

(3) Resigned with effect from 16 March 2018.

Pursuant to Article 83 of the Articles of Association adopted by the
Company on 8 October 2010, any Director appointed by the Board to fill a
casual vacancy shall hold office until the first general meeting after his/her
appointment and be subject to re-election at such meeting, and any
Director appointed by the Board as an addition to the existing Board shall
hold office until the next following annual general meeting of the Company
and shall then be eligible for re-election at such meeting.
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Ms. Lam Pik Po, being a Director appointed by the Board after the last
annual general meeting, shall retire at the forthcoming annual general
meeting and, being eligible, offer herself for re-election.

In addition, in accordance with Article 84 of the Article of Association of the
Company, Mr. Jeffrey, Minfang Lu, Mr. Qin Peng and Mr. Cheng Shoutai
shall retire at the forthcoming annual general meeting by rotation and,
being eligible, offer themselves for re-election.

The Company has received annual confirmations of independence from
each of the existing independent non-executive directors in accordance with
Rule 3.13 of the Listing Rules. The Company considers that all of the
independent non-executive directors are independent in accordance with
the Listing Rules.

DIRECTORS” AND SENIOR MANAGEMENT’S
BIOGRAPHIES

Biographical details of the Directors and senior management are set out on
pages 68 to 73 of this Annual Report.

DIRECTORS’ INTERESTS IN TRANSACTIONS,
ARRANGEMENTS OR CONTRACTS

Save as disclosed below, there was no transaction, arrangement or contract
of significance to which the Company, its holding company or any of its
subsidiaries was a party, and in which a director of the Company had a
material interest, whether directly or indirectly, subsisting during or at the
end of the year ended 31 December 2017.

DIRECTORS’ SERVICE CONTRACTS

Each of the non-executive directors and independent non-executive
directors in the Board has entered into a service contract with the Company
for an initial fixed term of three years which will continue thereafter unless
otherwise terminated in accordance with the terms of the service contract,
including by not less than three months’ notice in writing served by either
party on the other. No Director proposed for re-election at the forthcoming
annual general meeting has an unexpired service contract which is not
determinable by the Company or any of its subsidiaries within one year
without payment of compensation, other than statutory compensation.
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PERMITTED INDEMNITY PROVISION

Pursuant to the Articles of Association of the Company, every Director shall
be entitled to be indemnified and secured harmless out of the assets and
profits of the Company from and against all actions, costs, charges, losses,
damages and expenses which they or any of them, their or any of their
heirs, executors or administrators, shall or may incur or sustain by or by
reason of any act done, concurred in or omitted in or about the execution
of their duty, or supposed duty, in their respective offices or trusts.

The Company has arranged appropriate directors’ and officers’ liability
insurance coverage for the Directors and officers of the Group throughout
the year.

DIRECTORS’ AND CHIEF EXECUTIVES’ INTERESTS AND
SHORT POSITIONS IN SHARES, UNDERLYING
SHARES AND DEBENTURES

As at 31 December 2017, the Directors and the chief executives of the
Company and their respective associates had the following interests or short
positions in the shares, underlying shares and debentures of the Company
and its associated corporations (within the meaning of Part XV of the
Securities and Futures Ordinance (Chapter 571 of the Laws of Hong Kong)
("SFO™)) which have been notified to the Company and the Stock Exchange
pursuant to Division 7 and 8 of Part XV of the SFO, including interests and
short positions which the Directors and the chief executives of the Company
are taken and deemed to have under such provisions of the SFO, or which
are required to be and are recorded in the register required to be kept
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under Section 352 of the SFO or as otherwise notified to the Company and
the Stock Exchange pursuant to the Model Code contained in the Listing
Rules:

Directors’ interests in the shares of Mengniu Dairy (being a holding
company of the Company):

TRELETRAAEOFEETAAMNEARR
AR FE S SOAR T :

FEERRFIRE AR ANEBRAF) R 15
B0 3

Number of
Name of director Capacity/Nature of interest ordinary shares
EEEB B HEmtE ZBEREE
Mr. Hua Li™" Beneficial owner 151,400@
EHRAED BEmEEA
Mr. Jeffrey, Minfang Lu Beneficial owner 1,029,100?
B E & EmiiA A
Mr. Zhang Ping Beneficial owner 277,7409
o ¥ SE A4 EmBEAEA
Mr. Chopin Zhang Beneficial owner 277,740?
3 F(Chopin Zhang)st & EnfEAA

Notes: M5

(1) Mr. Hua Li resigned as an executive director of the Company with effect from 16
March 2018.
2) All the shares are held in long position.

Save as disclosed above, as at 31 December 2017, none of the Directors or
chief executives of the Company had or was deemed to have any interests
or short positions in the shares, underlying shares or debentures of the
Company and its associated corporations (within the meaning of Part XV of
the SFO), which had been recorded in the register maintained by the
Company pursuant to section 352 of the SFO or which had been notified to
the Company and the Stock Exchange pursuant to the Model Code
contained in the Listing Rules. Save as disclosed above, at no time was the
Company, its holding company or any of its subsidiaries a party to any
arrangements to enable the Directors and chief executives of the Company
(including their spouse and children under 18 years of age) to hold any
interest or short positions in the shares or underlying shares in, or
debentures of, the Company or its associated corporations (within the
meaning of Part XV of the SFO).
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SHARE OPTION SCHEMES

The Company adopted a share option scheme (the “Pre-IPO Share Option
Scheme”) on 8 October 2010, and adopted a share option scheme (the
“Share Option Scheme”) on 8 October 2010. Details of the Share Option
Scheme are as follows:

The Company has adopted the Share Option Scheme for the purpose of
motivating eligible participants to optimize their future contributions to the
Group and/or reward them for their past contributions, attracting and
retaining or otherwise maintaining on-going relationships with such eligible
participants who are significant to and/or whose contributions are or will be
beneficial to the performance, growth or success of the Group.

The maximum number of Shares which may be issued upon exercise of all
options to be granted under the Share Option Scheme and any other
schemes of the Group shall not in aggregate exceed 10% of the Shares in
issue as at 1 November 2010 (the “Listing Date”), that is, 350,000,000
Shares, which represented approximately 7.38% of the Company’s shares
in issue as at the date of this report. No option may be granted to any
participant of the Share Option Scheme such that the total number of
Shares issued and to be issued upon exercise of the options granted and to
be granted to that person in any 12-month period up to the date of the
latest grant exceeds 1% of the Company'’s issued share capital from time to
time.
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An option may be exercised in accordance with the terms of the Share
Option Scheme at any time during a period as determined by the Board and
not exceeding 10 years from the date of the grant. There is no minimum
period for which an option must be held before it can be exercised.
Participants of the Share Option Scheme are required to pay the Company
HK$1.00 upon acceptance of the grant on or before the 28 days after the
offer date. The exercise price of the options is determined by the Board in
its absolute discretion and shall not be less than whichever is the highest of:

(@) the nominal value of a share;

(b)  the closing price of a share as stated in the daily quotation sheets of
the Stock Exchange on the offer date; and

(c)  the average closing price of a share as stated in the Stock Exchange’s
daily quotation sheets for the five business days immediately
preceding the offer date.

The Share Option Scheme shall be valid and effective for a period of 10
years from the Listing Date, after which no further options will be granted
or offered.

On 23 July 2013, Mengniu International made a voluntary general offer to
option holders of the Company (“Option Offer”), to cancel the outstanding
options granted under the Pre-IPO Share Option Scheme and the Share
Option Scheme. Please refer to the composite offer and response document
issued by the Company, Mengniu Dairy and Mengniu International relating
to, among other things, the Option Offer dated 23 July 2013 for further
details.

On 13 August 2013 (being the final closing date of the Option Offer), the
Option Offer was accepted in respect of 52,088,266 options. The
underlying options together with all the rights attached thereto were
cancelled and given up and all the outstanding options automatically lapsed
upon acceptance of the Option Offer.

No option was granted by the Company nor was there any outstanding
option granted by the Company from 1 January 2017 to 31 December
2017. As at 31 December 2017, there is no outstanding option granted by
the Company.

EQUITY-LINKED AGREEMENTS

Save as disclosed under the section headed “Share Option Schemes” above,
no equity-linked agreements were entered into by the Group, or existed
during the year.
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ARRANGEMENT FOR DIRECTORS TO PURCHASE
SHARES OR DEBENTURES

Save as disclosed in paragraph headed “Share Option Schemes” above, at
no time during the year were rights to acquire benefits by means of the
acquisition of shares in or debentures of the Company granted to any
Director or their respective spouses or minor children, or were such rights
exercised by them, or was the Company, its holding company or any of its
subsidiaries a party to any arrangements to enable the Directors to acquire
benefits by means of the acquisition of shares in, or debt securities (including
debentures) of the Company or any other body corporate.

SUBSTANTIAL SHAREHOLDERS” INTERESTS AND
SHORT POSITIONS IN SHARES AND UNDERLYING
SHARES

So far as is known to the Director or chief executives of the Company, as at
31 December 2017, the persons or corporations (other than Directors or
chief executives of the Company) who had interest or short positions in the
shares and underlying shares of the Company or its associated
corporation(s) which were required to be disclosed to the Company under
the provisions of Division 2 and 3 of Part XV of the SFO, or which were
recorded in the register required to be kept under section 336 of the SFO
were as follows:
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Name Capacity/Nature of interest ordinary shares shareholding®
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Mengniu Dairy™ Interests in a controlled corporation 2,422,150,437% 51.04%
S4IE REEHDEE 8 R
Mengniu International Beneficial owner 2,422,150,437% 51.04%
S4B EREAA
Danone SA? Interests in a controlled corporation 1,186,390,074% 25.00%
ERESA? REEHDEE 8 R
Danone Baby and Medical Holding® Interests in a controlled corporation 1,186,390,074% 25.00%
RGBS
Danone Baby and Medical Nutrition BV@ Interests in a controlled corporation 1,186,390,074% 25.00%
RGBS
Nutricia International BV®@ Interests in a controlled corporation 1,186,390,074% 25.00%
RGBS
Danone Asia® Beneficial owner 1,186,390,074® 25.00%
R M®@ EREAA
Zhang International Investment Ltd.® Beneficial owner 303,462,119% 6.39%
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Notes:

Q)

)

3

)

As at 31 December 2017, Mengniu Dairy held 99.95% interest in Mengniu
International and Mengniu International directly held the relevant Shares.

As at 31 December 2017, Danone SA held 100% interest in Danone Baby and
Medical Holding. Danone Baby and Medical Holding held 100% interest in Danone
Baby and Medical Nutrition BV. Danone Baby and Medical Nutrition BV held 100%
interest in Nutricia International BV. Nutricia International BV held 100% interest in
Danone Asia and Danone Asia directly held the relevant shares.

Zhang International Investment Ltd. is held by Mr. Zhang Lihui, Mr. Zhang Likun,
Mr. Zhang Liming, Mr. Zhang Lidian, Mr. Zhang Libo and Ms. She Lifang as their
wholly-owned investment holding company to hold their shares in the Company.

All the shares are held in long position.

The total issued shares as at 31 December 2017 was 4,745,560,296.

Save as disclosed above, as at 31 December 2017, the Directors are not
aware of any other person or corporation having an interest or short
position in shares and underlying shares of the Company or its associated
corporation(s) which would require to be recorded in the register required

to be

kept by the Company pursuant to Section 336 of the SFO.

PURCHASE, SALE OR REDEMPTION OF THE
COMPANY’S LISTED SECURITIES

Save as disclosed above, neither the Company nor any of its subsidiaries has
purchased, sold or redeemed any of the Company’s listed securities during
the year ended 31 December 2017.
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The White Sugar Purchase Contract with Inner
Mongolia Mengniu

On 20 November 2015, Oushi Mengniu entered into a purchase
contract (the “White Sugar Purchase Contract with Inner Mongolia
Mengniu”) with Inner Mongolia Mengniu Dairy (Group) Company
Limited (“Inner Mongolia Mengniu”), a subsidiary of Mengniu Dairy,
pursuant to which Oushi Mengniu agreed to purchase and Inner
Mongolia Mengniu agreed to sell white sugar and other raw materials
from 20 November 2015 to 31 December 2017. Please refer to the
announcement of the Company dated 19 May 2017 for further
details.

On 9 March 2017, Dumex China, Yashili International Group Ltd.
(“Yashili (Guangdong)”), Shanxi Yashili Dairy Co. Ltd. (“Yashili
(Shanxi)”) and Oushi Mengniu, each a subsidiary of the Company,
entered into a framework purchase agreement (the “Framework
Purchase Agreement with Inner Mongolia Mengniu”) with Inner
Mongolia Mengniu, pursuant to which Dumex China, Yashili
(Guangdong), Yashili (Shanxi) and Oushi Mengniu agreed to purchase,
and Inner Mongolia Mengniu agreed to sell (by itself or through its
subsidiaries), raw materials from time to time during the term of the
Framework Purchase Agreement with Inner Mongolia Mengniu. Upon
the entering into of the Framework Purchase Agreement with Inner
Mongolia Mengniu, transactions conducted under the White Sugar
Purchase Contract with Inner Mongolia Mengniu since 1 January
2017 were automatically subject to the Framework Purchase
Agreement with Inner Mongolia Mengniu, and the consideration of
such transactions has been taken into account in determining the
annual cap in respect of the transactions under the Framework
Purchase Agreement with Inner Mongolia Mengniu for the year
ended 31 December 2017.

The Directors are of the view that the White Sugar Purchase Contract
with Inner Mongolia Mengniu and the transactions contemplated
thereunder enable the Group to achieve greater synergies with the
Mengniu Group.
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As of the date of the White Sugar Purchase Contract with Inner
Mongolia Mengniu, Mengniu International, a subsidiary of Mengniu
Dairy, holds 51.04% of the shares of the Company and is a
substantial shareholder of the Company. Therefore, Mengniu Dairy is
a connected person of the Company. As Inner Mongolia Mengniu is a
subsidiary of Mengniu Dairy and Oushi Mengniu is a subsidiary of the
Company, the entering into of the White Sugar Purchase Contract
constitutes a connected transaction of the Company under Chapter
14A of the Listing Rules. As the highest applicable percentage ratio in
respect of the White Sugar Purchase Contract exceeds 0.1% but is
less than 5%, the White Sugar Purchase Contract is subject to the
reporting, announcement and annual review requirements but
exempt from the independent shareholders’ approval requirement
under Chapter 14A of the Listing Rules.

The Lab Testing Service Agreements

During the period between 8 October 2016 and 28 August 2017,
Dumex China, a wholly-owned subsidiary of the Company, has
entered into a series of lab testing service agreements (the “Lab
Testing Service Agreements”) in substantially the same form with
Nutricia Infant Nutrition Ltd., Nutricia Cuijk, Nutricia Pharmaceutical
(Wuxi) Co., Ltd. (“Nutricia Pharma”), Nutricia Trading (Shanghai) Co.,
Ltd. and Milupa GmbH (together, the “Danone Entities”) (each an
indirect subsidiary of Danone SA and a member of the Danone
Group), respectively, pursuant to which Dumex China agreed to
provide lab testing services to each of Danone Entities, respectively,
from 8 October 2016 to 28 August 2017. The total amount of testing
fee payable under the Lab Testing Service Agreements is RMB0.066
million plus US$0.396 million plus EUR0.0026 million. Please refer to
the announcement of the Company dated 29 September 2017 for
further details.

The Directors are of the view that the Lab Testing Service Agreements
and the transactions contemplated thereunder enable the Group to
achieve greater synergies between the Group and the Danone Group.
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During the period between 31 May 2016 and 29 September 2017 (the
“Relevant Period”), Dumex China has provided certain lab testing
services to Nutricia Early Life Nutrition (Shanghai) Co. Ltd. (“NELN")
pursuant to a lab sharing transition services agreement (the “Lab
Sharing Transition Service Agreement”), which was entered into
between Dumex China and NELN prior to the completion of the
acquisition of the entire equity interest in Dumex China by the
Company, and the details of which were disclosed in the
announcement of the Company dated 27 May 2016 (“May 2016
Announcement”). The aggregated amount of testing fee payable
pursuant to (i) the Lab Sharing Transition Service Agreement during
the Relevant Period; and (ii) the Lab Testing Service Agreements is
equivalent to HK$5.3 million.

As of the date of each of the Lab Testing Service Agreements, Danone
Asia has a 25.0% shareholding interest in the Company. Each of the
Danone Entities is an indirect subsidiary of Danone SA and a member
of the Danone Group. Therefore, each of the Danone Entities is a
connected person of the Company under the Listing Rules. Dumex
China is an indirect wholly-owned subsidiary of the Company. As
such, each of the Lab Testing Service Agreements and the transactions
thereunder constituted a connected transaction of the Company
under Chapter 14A of the Listing Rules. As the highest applicable
percentage ratio calculated based on the aggregated amount of
testing fee payable under (i) the Lab Sharing Transition Service
Agreement during the Relevant Period and (ii) the Lab Testing Service
Agreements exceeds 0.1% but is less than 5%, the Lab Testing
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Service Agreements, viewed as a whole, are subject to the reporting, BRERAIREHEGER A —ERE)E
announcement and annual review requirements but exempt from the BT ETHRAUBUAZEBB N ZHHK QD

independent shareholders’ approval requirement under Chapter 14A
of the Listing Rules.
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The Oushi Mengniu Processing Agreement

On 1 January 2017, Oushi Mengniu entered into a processing
agreement (the “Oushi Mengniu Processing Agreement”) with Inner
Mongolia Mengniu, a subsidiary of Mengniu Dairy, pursuant to which
Oushi Mengniu agreed to provide processing services and production
of whole milk powder and other products to Inner Mongolia Mengniu
from 1 January 2017 to 31 July 2017 at a consideration of RMB10.16
million. Please refer to the announcement of the Company dated 29
September 2017 for further details.

The Directors are of the view that the transactions contemplated
under the Oushi Mengniu Processing Agreement enable the Group to
meet the production needs for its milk powder products as well as
fully utilise and better allocate the Group’s production capacities
which in turn generate additional revenue to the Group.

As of the date of the Oushi Mengniu Processing Agreement, Mengniu
International, a subsidiary of Mengniu Dairy, holds 51.04% of the
shares of the Company and is a substantial shareholder of the
Company. Therefore, Mengniu Dairy is a connected person of the
Company. As Inner Mongolia Mengniu is a subsidiary of Mengniu
Dairy and Oushi Mengniu is a subsidiary of the Company, the entering
into of the Oushi Mengniu Processing Agreement constitutes a
connected transaction of the Company under Chapter 14A of the
Listing Rules. As the highest applicable percentage ratio in respect of
the Oushi Mengniu Processing Agreement exceeds 0.1% but is less
than 5%, the Oushi Mengniu Processing Agreement is subject to the
reporting, announcement and annual review requirements but
exempt from the independent shareholders’ approval requirement
under Chapter 14A of the Listing Rules.
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Procurement Agency Agreement with Arla
Import & Export

On 28 February 2017, Oushi Mengniu entered into a procurement
agency agreement (the “Procurement Agency Agreement”) with Arla
Dairy Products Import & Export Co., Ltd. (“Arla Import & Export”), a
subsidiary of Mengniu Dairy, pursuant to which Oushi Mengniu
appointed Arla Import & Export as its exclusive agent for the
procurement of dairy products from Arla Foods from 28 February
2017 to 30 June 2017. Pursuant to the Procurement Agency
Agreement, Arla Import & Export shall be responsible for, among
others, negotiating the terms of the procurement on behalf of Oushi
Mengniu, and Oushi Mengniu shall pay for the dairy products
procured by Arla Import & Export on behalf of Oushi Mengniu to Arla
Import & Export. For the period from 28 February 2017 to 30 June
2017, the total value of the dairy products procured by Arla Import &
Export on behalf of Oushi Mengniu pursuant to the Procurement
Agency Agreement shall be RMB11.57 million. Please refer to the
announcement of the Company dated 29 September 2017 for further
details.

The Directors are of the view that the Procurement Agency
Agreement and the transactions contemplated thereunder enable the
Group to utilise the well-established overseas procurement system of
Arla Import & Export, thereby achieving greater synergies with the
Mengniu Group.

As of the date of the Procurement Agency Agreement, Mengniu
International, a subsidiary of Mengniu Dairy, holds 51.04% of the
shares of the Company and is a substantial shareholder of the
Company. Therefore, Mengniu Dairy is a connected person of the
Company. As Arla Import & Export is a subsidiary of Mengniu Dairy
and Oushi Mengniu is a subsidiary of the Company, the entering into
of the Procurement Agency Agreement constitutes a connected
transaction of the Company under Chapter 14A of the Listing Rules.
As the highest applicable percentage ratio in respect of the
Procurement Agency Agreement exceeds 0.1% but is less than 5%,
the Procurement Agency Agreement is subject to the reporting,
announcement and annual review requirements but exempt from the
independent shareholders’ approval requirement under Chapter 14A
of the Listing Rules.
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The Gift Card Purchase Contract

On 20 December 2017, Yashili Dairy (Maanshan) Trading Limited
(“Maanshan Trading”), a subsidiary of the Company, entered into a
gift card purchase contract (the “Gift Card Purchase Contract”) with
Arla Import & Export, a subsidiary of Mengniu Dairy, pursuant to
which Maanshan Trading agreed to purchase, and Arla Import &
Export agreed to sell, Milk Deluxe and Just Yoghurt products by way
of gift cards for a consideration of approximately RMB3.85 million
inclusive of tax (RMB3.43 million exclusive of tax). Pursuant to the Gift
Card Purchase Contract, Maanshan Trading will distribute the gift
cards to end customers of the Group for marketing purposes. Subject
to the terms and conditions of the gift cards, Arla Import & Export is
required to deliver the Milk Deluxe and Just Yoghurt products to the
holders of the gift cards in accordance with the order of the relevant
holder. Please refer to the announcement of the Company dated 20
December 2017 for further details.

The Directors are of the view that the Gift Card Purchase Contract
and the transactions contemplated thereunder would support the
marketing activities of the Group and enhance the shopping
experience of end customers of the Group.

As of the date of the Gift Card Purchase Contract, Mengniu
International, a subsidiary of Mengniu Dairy, holds 51.04% of the
shares of the Company and is a substantial shareholder of the
Company. Therefore, Mengniu Dairy is a connected person of the
Company. As Arla Import & Export is a subsidiary of Mengniu Dairy
and Maanshan Trading is a subsidiary of the Company, the entering
into of the Gift Card Purchase Contract constitutes a connected
transaction of the Company under Chapter 14A of the Listing Rules.
As the highest applicable percentage ratio in respect of the Gift Card
Purchase Contract exceeds 0.1% but is less than 5%, the Gift Card
Purchase Contract is subject to the reporting, announcement and
annual review requirements but exempt from the independent
shareholders’ approval requirement under Chapter 14A of the Listing
Rules.
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CONTINUING CONNECTED TRANSACTIONS

Connected Persons

(a)

(b)

Inner Mongolia Mengniu, Tian Jin New Value Supply
Chain Company Limited (“Tianjin New Value”) and
Burra Foods Pty Ltd (“Burra Foods")

Mengniu International, a subsidiary of Mengniu Dairy, holds 51.04%
of the shares of the Company and is a substantial shareholder of the
Company. Therefore, Mengniu Dairy is a connected person of the
Company. As each of Inner Mongolia Mengniu and Tianjin New Value
is a subsidiary of Mengniu Dairy, each of Inner Mongolia Mengniu
and Tianjin New Value is a connected person of the Company. Burra
Foods is owned as to 51.35% by Inner Mongolia Fuyuan Farming Co.,
Ltd., which is in turn owned as to 42.3% by Mengniu Dairy.
Therefore, Burra Foods is an associate of Mengniu Dairy under Rule
14A.13(3) of the Listing Rules and a connected person of the
Company.

Danone Trading ELN B.V. (“Danone Trading”),
Danone Asia-Pacific Management Co. Ltd. (“DAPM"),
NELN, Danone Asia Pacific Holdings Pte. Ltd. (“DAPH")
and Nutricia Research B.V. (“Nutricia Research”) and
Nutricia Pharma

Danone Asia, a subsidiary of Danone SA, has a 25.0% shareholding
interest in the Company. Therefore, Danone SA is a connected person
of the Company. As each of Danone Trading, DAPM, NELN, DAPH,
Nutricia Research and Nutricia Pharma is an indirect subsidiary of
Danone SA and a member of the Danone Group, each of Danone
Trading, DAPM, NELN, DAPH, Nutricia Research and Nutricia Pharma
is a connected person of the Company.
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Continuing Connected Transactions

1.

Trademark Licensing Agreement

On 25 September 2015, as one of the conditions precedent to the
completion of the equity transfer agreement in relation to the entire
equity interests in Oushi Mengniu, Yashili (Guangdong), Oushi
Mengniu and Inner Mongolia Mengniu entered into a trademark
licensing agreement (the “Trademark Licensing Agreement”) pursuant
to which Inner Mongolia Mengniu (as licensor) agreed to grant Oushi
Mengniu, Yashili (Guangdong) and its affiliates (as licensees) a
nontransferable and non-exclusive right to use and sub-license certain
registered trademarks (the “Trademarks”) of Inner Mongolia
Mengniu, which are subject to change by Inner Mongolia Mengniu
from time to time in the PRC, for a term commencing from the date
of the Trademark Licensing Agreement for a period of (i) 50 years, or (ii)
the operation period of Oushi Mengniu, whichever is later. The
Trademark Licensing Agreement may be renewed subject to the
negotiations among the parties in the future. The annual license fee is
equal to (a) 3% of the net sales revenue arising from the sale of the
infant milk formula products and milk powder products for adults for
which the Trademarks are used by Yashili (Guangdong) and its
affiliates during that respective year, and (b) (i) 3% of the net sales
revenue arising from the sale of the pediatric milk formula products
and milk powder products for adults for which the Trademarks are
used (the “Products”) by Oushi Mengniu during that respective year,
or (ii) RMB18.0 million, whichever is higher. The net sales revenue of
Oushi Mengniu shall start to accrue (i) following the completion of
the registration of the capital reduction as further described in the
joint announcement of the Company and Mengniu Dairy dated 21
September 2015 and the circular of the Company dated 29 October
2015, or (i) 1 January 2016, whichever is earlier. The annual license
fee shall be paid by Oushi Mengniu, Yashili (Guangdong) and its
affiliates within two months after the end of each year. Please refer to
the announcement of the Company dated 25 September 2015
("September 2015 Announcement”) for further details.

The Directors are of the view that the entering into of the Trademark
Licensing Agreement will benefit the Company and its Shareholders
as a whole in the following respects: (i) the Company can benefit
from the brand of Mengniu Dairy, the “Mengniu” trademark is highly
recognized in the PRC and the use of the “Mengniu” trademark
would be beneficial to the sale of the Company’s adult milk powder
products and maintain the market share of Oushi Mengniu’s infant
milk powder; and (ii) through the “Mengniu” trademark license, the
Company could access more support from Mengniu Dairy in terms of
brand resources.
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On 22 December 2017, Yashili (Guangdong), Oushi Mengniu and
Inner Mongolia Mengniu entered into a confirmation letter in relation
to the Trademark Licensing Agreement, pursuant to which the parties
agreed that for each of the years ending 31 December 2017 and
2018:

— no license fee shall be payable by Oushi Mengniu and Yashili
(Guangdong) to Inner Mongolia Mengniu for the use of the
Trademarks under the Trademark Licensing Agreement provided
that the expenses incurred by Oushi Mengniu and Yashili
(Guangdong) (and its affiliates) for the promotion, marketing,
advertising and distribution of the Products (the “Marketing
Expenses”) in any such year shall not be less than 3% of the
revenue from the sales of the Products to third party customers
in such year; and

— in the event that the Marketing Expenses incurred by Oushi
Mengniu and Yashili (Guangdong) (and its affiliates) in any year
are less than 3% of the revenue from the sales of the Products
to third party customers in such year, Oushi Mengniu and
Yashili (Guangdong) shall pay the shortfall to Inner Mongolia
Mengniu within two months after the end of such year.

For the year ended 31 December 2017, the aggregate license fees
payable by Oushi Mengniu, Yashili (Guangdong) and its affiliates to
Inner Mongolia Mengniu under the Trademark Licensing Agreement
was RMBO, which was less than the cap of RMB40 million (equivalent
to approximately HK$46.2 million) as disclosed in the September 2015
Announcement.

Transition Services Agreements

On 27 May 2016 (after trading hours), Dumex China entered into a
series of transition services agreements (the “Transition Services
Agreements”) with members of the Danone Group, pursuant to
which the relevant members of the Danone Group agreed to provide
certain transitional services to Dumex China in respect of IT support,
lab sharing, accounting service, procurement support and office
sharing during the respective terms of the Transition Services
Agreements.
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IT Support Transition Services Agreement

Pursuant to an IT support transition services agreement (the “IT
Support Transition Services Agreement”) entered into between
DAPM and Dumex China, DAPM will provide, or cause to be
provided (including subcontracting any of its affiliates to
provide) to Dumex China, certain IT services from the
completion of the acquisition of Dumex China by Yashili
(Guangdong) (the “Dumex Transaction”) until the date on
which all of the individual transition periods for the services
provided by DAPM under the IT Support Transition Services
Agreement have expired. The consideration for the services shall
be the aggregate amount of the cost of the services plus a 5%
markup and the applicable value added tax at the time the
written invoice from DAPM is issued to Dumex China.

Lab Sharing Transition Services Agreement

Pursuant to the Lab Sharing Transition Services Agreement
entered into between NELN and Dumex China, Dumex China
will grant, or cause to be provided to NELN access to and use of
the analytical laboratory and research and development
laboratory equipment and the office space in Dumex China’s
Shanghai factory from the completion of Dumex Transaction to
31 December 2017. NELN will pay to Dumex China per lab test
pursuant to the access granted, the office rental services, actual
cost of any other services that it may request from Dumex China
from time to time, and one-off cost of decoration and recovery.

Accounting Services Transition Services Agreement
Pursuant to an accounting services transition services agreement
(the "Accounting Services Transition Services Agreement”)
entered into between Dumex China and NELN, NELN wiill
provide, or cause to be provided to Dumex China, tax services,
treasury services and accounting services during each individual
transition period from the completion of Dumex Transaction
until the date on which all of the individual transition periods
for the services provided by NELN under the Accounting Service
Transition Services Agreement have expired. The consideration
for the services provided pursuant to the Accounting Service
Transition Services Agreement shall be the aggregate amount of
the cost of the services plus a 5% markup and the applicable
value added tax at the time the written invoice from NELN is
issued to Dumex China.
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Office Sharing Transition Services Agreement
Pursuant to an office sharing transition services agreement (the
"Office Sharing Transition Services Agreement”) entered into
between NELN and Dumex China, NELN will provide, or cause
to be provided to Dumex China access to certain offices during
each individual transition period from the completion of Dumex
Transaction until the date on which all of the individual
transition periods for the services provided by NELN under the
Office Sharing Transition Services Agreement have expired. The
consideration for the services provided pursuant to the Office
Sharing Transition Services Agreement shall be the aggregate
amount of the cost of the offices plus a 5% markup and the
applicable value added tax at the time the written invoice from
NELN is issued to Dumex China.

Please refer to the announcement of the Company May 2016
Announcement for further details of the Transition Service
Agreements.

The Directors are of the view that the Transition Services
Agreements ensure the smooth transition and operation of
Dumex China following the completion of the Dumex
Transaction.

For the year ended 31 December 2017, the value of the
transactions contemplated under the IT Support Transition
Services Agreement was RMB0.20 million, which was less than
the cap of RMB5 million (equivalent to approximately HK$5.92
million) as disclosed in the May 2016 Announcement.

For the year ended 31 December 2017, the value of the
transactions contemplated under the Lab Sharing Transition
Services Agreement was RMB0.96 million, which was less than
the cap of RMB1 million (equivalent to approximately HK$1.184
million) as disclosed in the May 2016 Announcement.

For the year ended 31 December 2017, the value of the
transactions contemplated under the Accounting Service
Transition Services Agreement was RMBO million, which was
less than the cap of RMBO0.8 million (equivalent to approximately
HK$0.947 million) as disclosed in the May 2016 Announcement.
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For the year ended 31 December 2017, the value of the
transactions contemplated under the Office Sharing Transition
Services Agreement was RMB0.28 million, which was less than
the cap of RMBO0.3 million (equivalent to approximately
HK$0.355 million) as disclosed in the May 2016 Announcement.

Manufacturing and Supply Agreement

On 27 May 2016 (after trading hours), Dumex China entered into a
manufacturing and supply agreement (the “Manufacturing and
Supplying Agreement”) with Danone Trading, an indirect subsidiary
of Danone SA, pursuant to which Dumex China agreed to purchase
and Danone Trading agreed to sell certain products for infant
nutrition from time to time during the term from the completion of
Dumex Transaction to 31 December 2027. The prices shall be
negotiated each year prior to the start of the year and shall be
calculated based on the cost of the relevant infant nutrition products
supplied plus a markup of 10% and with reference to the volume
forecasts provided by the Dumex China to Danone Trading. Please
refer to the May 2016 Announcement for further details.

The Directors are of the view that the Manufacturing and Supply
Agreement enables Dumex China to secure a long-term supply of four
tailored nutrition products from the Danone Group, which would
complement the existing product portfolio of the Group and enhance
the bargaining power the Group in channel distribution.

For the year ended 31 December 2017, the value of the transactions
contemplated under the Manufacturing and Supply Agreement was
RMBO, which was less than the cap of RMB11 million (equivalent to
approximately HK$12.717 million) as disclosed in the May 2016
Announcement.
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Milk Powder Purchase Contract with Inner Mongolia
Mengniu

On 1 December 2015, Oushi Mengniu entered into a purchase
contract (the “Milk Powder Purchase Contract with Inner Mongolia
Mengniu”) with Inner Mongolia Mengniu, a subsidiary of Mengniu
Dairy, pursuant to which Oushi Mengniu agreed to purchase and
Inner Mongolia Mengniu agreed to sell the skim milk powder and
whole milk powder from 1 January 2016 to 31 December 2017. The
price of the skim milk powder and whole milk powder under the Milk
Powder Purchase Contract with Inner Mongolia Mengniu will be
negotiated on an arm’s length basis and determined in the ordinary
course of business on normal commercial terms and specified in
individual purchase orders. Please refer to the announcement of the
Company dated 12 August 2016 for further details.

The Directors are of the view that the Milk Powder Purchase Contract
with Inner Mongolia Mengniu and the transactions contemplated
thereunder would enable the Company to achieve greater synergies
between the Group and the Mengniu Group.

The Milk Powder Purchase Contract with Inner Mongolia Mengniu
was superseded by the Framework Purchase Agreement with Inner
Mongolia Mengniu dated 9 March 2017. Upon the entering into of
the Framework Purchase Agreement with Inner Mongolia Mengniu,
transactions conducted under the Milk Powder Purchase Contract
with Inner Mongolia Mengniu since 1 January 2017 were
automatically subject to the Framework Purchase Agreement with
Inner Mongolia Mengniu, and the consideration of such transactions
has been taken into account in determining the annual cap in respect
of the transactions under the Framework Purchase Agreement with
Inner Mongolia Mengniu for the year ended 31 December 2017.
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Strategic Cooperation Supply Agreement

On 4 November 2016, Yashili New Zealand, a subsidiary of the
Company, entered into a strategic cooperation supply agreement (the
“Strategic Cooperation Supply Agreement”) with DAPH and Danone
Trading, each a subsidiary of Danone SA and a member of the
Danone Group, pursuant to which Yashili New Zealand agreed to sell
and DAPH and Danone Trading (on behalf of themselves and their
Affiliates) agreed to purchase base powder products and dairy
ingredients during the term of the Strategic Cooperation Supply
Agreement. The Strategic Cooperation Supply Agreement shall take
effect upon: (i) the approval of the independent shareholders of the
Company of the Strategic Cooperation Supply Agreement and the
transactions contemplated hereunder, and (ii) consultation with the
DAPH and Danone Trading’s shareholders. The Strategic Cooperation
Supply Agreement shall be effective until 31 December 2018 (the “Initial
Term”). The term of the Strategic Cooperation Supply Agreement
shall be extended for one year upon the expiry of the Initial Term
unless any party gives notice to refuse to extend the term of the
Strategic Cooperation Supply Agreement beyond the Initial Term at
least six months prior to the expiry of the Initial Term. The price of the
base powder products and dairy ingredients will be specified in
individual purchase orders and shall be determined on a cost plus
basis with reference to the applicable Incoterms and payment terms,
which is consistent with market practice. The prices for the base
powder products and dairy ingredients may be revised upon mutual
agreement between Yashili New Zealand and DAPH and Danone
Trading every calendar trimester.

Please refer to the announcement of the Company dated 4 November
2016 (“November 2016 Announcement”) and the circular of the
Company dated 23 November 2016 (“November 2016 Circular”) for
further details about the Strategic Cooperation Supply Agreement.

The Directors (excluding the independent non-executive Directors
(whose views were set out in the letter from the independent board
committee included in the circular despatched to the Shareholders))
are of the view that the Strategic Cooperation Supply Agreement and
the transactions contemplated thereunder would enable Yashili New
Zealand to improve its utilisation rate, thereby achieving greater
synergies between the Group and the Danone Group. Upon the
taking effect of the Strategic Cooperation Supply Agreement, the
purchase contract (the “Purchase Contract”) dated 17 August 2016
between Yashili New Zealand and DAPH will terminate automatically,
and all the purchase orders under the Purchase Contract will be
automatically be subject to the Strategic Cooperation Supply
Agreement.
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The Strategic Cooperation Supply Agreement and the transactions
contemplated thereunder were approved by the independent
shareholders of the Company at the extraordinary general meeting of
the Company held on 14 December 2016 (the "EGM"). The Strategic
Cooperation Supply Agreement became effective on 31 December
2016.

For the year ended 31 December 2017, the value of the transactions
contemplated under the Strategic Cooperation Supply Agreement
was RMB172 million, which was less than the cap of RMB350 million
(equivalent to approximately HK$404.62 million) as disclosed in the
November 2016 Announcement and the November 2016 Circular and
approved by the independent shareholders of the Company at the
EGM.

Yashili (Shanxi) Processing Agreement

On 1 January 2017, Yashili (Shanxi), a subsidiary of the Company,
entered into a processing agreement (the “Yashili (Shanxi) Processing
Agreement”) with Inner Mongolia Mengniu, a subsidiary of Mengniu
Dairy, pursuant to which Yashili (Shanxi) agreed to provide processing
services in respect of whole milk powder and other products to Inner
Mongolia Mengniu from 1 January 2017 to 31 December 2017.
Please refer to the announcement of the Company dated 29
September 2017 (“29 September 2017 Announcement”) for further
details.

The Directors are of the view that the transactions contemplated
under the Yashili (Shanxi) Processing Agreement enable the Group to
meet the production needs for its milk powder products as well as
fully utilize and better allocate the Group’s production capacities
which in turn generate additional revenue to the Group.

For the year ended 31 December 2017, the value of the transactions
contemplated under the Yashili (Shanxi) Processing Agreement was
RMB22.96 million, which was less than the cap of RMB40 million
(equivalent to approximately HK$46.24 million) as disclosed in the 29
September 2017 Announcement.
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Framework Purchase Agreement with Inner
Mongolia Mengniu

On 9 March 2017, Dumex China, Yashili (Guangdong), Yashili (Shanxi)
and Oushi Mengniu, each a subsidiary of the Company, entered into
a framework purchase agreement (the “Framework Purchase
Agreement with Inner Mongolia Mengniu”) with Inner Mongolia
Mengniu, a subsidiary of Mengniu Dairy, pursuant to which Dumex
China, Yashili (Guangdong), Yashili (Shanxi) and Oushi Mengniu
agreed to purchase, and Inner Mongolia Mengniu agreed to sell (by
itself or through its subsidiaries), raw materials from time to time
during the term of the Framework Purchase Agreement with Inner
Mongolia Mengniu. The Framework Purchase Agreement with Inner
Mongolia Mengniu supersedes the Milk Powder Purchase Contract
with Inner Mongolia Mengniu dated 1 December 2015. The
Framework Purchase Agreement with Inner Mongolia Mengniu is
effective from 9 March 2017 to 31 December 2018 and shall be
extended for two more years if no written request is delivered by a
party to the other party before 31 December 2018. Please refer to the
announcements of the Company dated 9 March 2017, 25 August
2017 and 22 December 2017 (the "22 December 2017
Announcement”) for further details.

The Directors expect that the transactions contemplated under the
Framework Purchase Agreement with Inner Mongolia Mengniu would
enable the Company to procure high quality raw materials from a
stable source and reduce its procurement costs for raw materials.

The annual cap of the Framework Purchase Agreement with Inner
Mongolia Mengniu for the year ended 31 December 2017 was initially
RMB100 million (equivalent to approximately HK$115.6 million). It
was adjusted to RMB55 million (equivalent to approximately
HK$63.58 million) as disclosed in the announcement of the Company
dated 25 August 2017 and was further adjusted to RMB53 million
(equivalent to approximately HK$61.27 million) as disclosed in the 22
December 2017 Announcement.

For the year ended 31 December 2017, the value of the transactions
contemplated under the Framework Purchase Agreement with Inner
Mongolia Mengniu was RMB48.25 million, which was less than the
cap of RMB53 million (equivalent to approximately HK$61.27 million)
as disclosed in the 22 December 2017 Announcement.
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Service Agreement with Danone Nutricia NZ

On 1 May 2017, Yashili New Zealand entered into a service agreement
(the “Service Agreement”) with Danone Nutricia NZ Ltd (“Danone
Nutricia NZ"), a subsidiary of Danone SA, pursuant to which Yashili
New Zealand agreed to co-pack and deliver to Danone Nutricia NZ
canned infant formula from time to time during the term of the
Service Agreement. The initial term of the Service Agreement shall
commence from 1 May 2017 and end on 31 December 2017.
Pursuant to the terms of the Service Agreement, Yashili New Zealand
and Danone Nutricia NZ have agreed to extend the term of the Service
Agreement for another six months. Accordingly, the Service
Agreement shall remain in force until 30 June 2018. Please refer to
the announcement of the Company dated 18 January 2018 (the “18
January 2018 Announcement”) for further details.

The Directors expect that the transactions contemplated under the
Service Agreement would enable Yashili New Zealand to further
improve its utilisation rate, thereby achieving greater synergies
between the Group and the Danone Group.

During the period from 1 May 2017 to 31 December 2017, the value
of the transaction contemplated under the Service Agreement was 3.05
million New Zealand dollars, which was less than the cap of 4 million
New Zealand dollars (equivalent to approximately HK$21.68 million)
as disclosed in the 18 January 2018 Announcement.

Framework Purchase Agreement with Burra Foods

On 12 May 2017, Newou Hong Kong International Co., Limited
(“Newou"), a wholly-owned subsidiary of the Company, entered into
a framework purchase agreement (the “Framework Purchase
Agreement with Burra Foods”) with Burra Foods, pursuant to which
Newou agreed to purchase, and Burra Foods agreed to sell, base
powder products for milk based recipes (the “Base Powder Products”)
from 12 May 2017 to 31 December 2017. Please refer to the
announcement of the Company dated 19 May 2017 (“19 May 2017
Announcement”) for further details.

The Directors expect that the transactions contemplated under the
Framework Purchase Agreement with Burra Foods would enable
Newou to procure high quality raw materials from a stable source and
reduce its procurement costs for raw materials.
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For the year ended 31 December 2017, the value of the transactions
contemplated under the Framework Purchase Agreement with Burra
Foods was RMB16.52 million, which was less than the cap of RMB50
million (equivalent to approximately HK$57.80 million) as disclosed in
the 19 May 2017 Announcement.

Framework Purchase Agreement With Tianjin New
Value

On 22 August 2017, Dumex China, Yashili (Guangdong), Yashili (Shanxi)
and Oushi Mengniu, each a subsidiary of the Company, entered into
a framework purchase agreement (the “Framework Purchase
Agreement with Tianjin New Value”) with Tianjin New Value,
pursuant to which Dumex China, Yashili (Guangdong), Yashili (Shanxi)
and Oushi Mengniu agreed to purchase, and Tianjin New Value
agreed to sell, raw materials from 22 August 2017 to 31 July 2019.
Please refer to the announcement of the Company dated 25 August
2017 and the 22 December 2017 Announcement for further details.

The Directors expect that the Framework Purchase Agreement with
Tianjin New Value and the transactions contemplated thereunder
would enable the Company to procure high quality raw materials
from a stable source and reduce its procurement costs for raw
materials.

The annual cap of the Framework Purchase Agreement with Tianjin
New Value for the year ended 31 December 2017 was initially RMB55
million (equivalent to approximately HK$63.58 million). It was
adjusted to RMB57 million (equivalent to approximately HK$65.90
million) as disclosed in the 22 December 2017 Announcement.

For the year ended 31 December 2017, the value of the transactions
contemplated under the Framework Purchase Agreement with Tianjin
New Value was RMB54.48 million, which was less than the cap of
RMB57 million (equivalent to approximately HK$65.90 million) as
disclosed in the 22 December 2017 Announcement.
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Lab Testing Service Framework Agreement

On 13 November 2017, Dumex China, a wholly-owned subsidiary of
the Company, entered into a lab testing service framework agreement
(the “Lab Testing Service Framework Agreement”) with Nutricia
Pharma, an indirect subsidiary of Danone SA and a member of the
Danone Group, pursuant to which Dumex China agreed to provide
lab testing services to Nutricia Pharma from 13 November 2017 to 31
December 2019. Please refer to the announcement of the Company
dated 14 November 2017 (“14 November 2017 Announcement”) for
further details.

The Directors are of the view that the transactions contemplated
under the Lab Testing Service Framework Agreement enable the
Group to achieve greater synergies between the Group and the
Danone Group.

For the year ended 31 December 2017, the value of the transactions
contemplated under the Lab Testing Service Framework Agreement
was RMB0.04 million, which was less than the cap of RMB0.30 million
(equivalent to approximately HK$0.35 million) as disclosed in the 14
November 2017 Announcement.

Other than the connected transactions and the continuing connected
transactions set out above, in respect of which the disclosure
requirements in accordance with Chapter 14A of the Listing Rules
have been complied with, no contract of significance has been
entered into between the Company or any of its subsidiaries and the
controlling shareholders during the year ended 31 December 2017.

The independent non-executive directors of the Company have
reviewed these connected transactions and confirmed that such

transactions were entered into:

— inthe ordinary and usual course of business of the Group;

— on normal commercial terms or better; and

— according to the agreement governing them on terms that are
fair and reasonable and in the interests of the Company’s
shareholders as a whole.
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The Company’s auditor was engaged to report on the Group's
continuing connected transactions in accordance with Hong Kong
Standard on Assurance Engagements 3000 “Assurance Engagements
Other Than Audits or Reviews of Historical Financial Information” and
with reference to Practice Note 740 “Auditor’s Letter on Continuing
Connected Transactions under the Hong Kong Listing Rules” issued
by the Hong Kong Institute of Certified Public Accountants. The
auditor has issued their unqualified letter containing their findings and
conclusions in respect of the continuing connected transactions
disclosed by the Group in this Annual Report in accordance with Rule
14A.56 of the Listing Rules. A copy of the auditor’s letter has been
provided by the Company to the Stock Exchange.

Save as disclosed above, no contract of significance has been entered
into between the Company or any of its subsidiaries and the
controlling shareholders during the year ended 31 December 2017.

DIRECTORS’ INTEREST IN COMPETING BUSINESS

None of the Directors is or was interested in any business apart from the
Group’s business, that competes or competed or is or was likely to compete,
either directly or indirectly, with the Group’s business at any time during the
year ended 31 December 2017 and up to and including the date of this
Annual Report.

MANAGEMENT CONTRACTS

Other than the service contracts disclosed in the paragraph headed “Directors’
Service Contracts” above, no contracts concerning the management and
administration of the whole or any substantial part of the business of the
Company were entered into or existed during the year ended 31 December
2017.

PRE-EMPTIVE RIGHTS

There are no provisions for pre-emptive rights under the Company’s Articles
of Association or the laws of Cayman Islands where the Company is
incorporated applicable to the Company.
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EMOLUMENT POLICY

The Group’s emolument policies are based on the merit, qualifications and
competence of individual employees and are reviewed by the Remuneration
Committee periodically. The emoluments of the Directors are recommended
by the Remuneration Committee and are decided by the Board, having
regard to the Group’s operating results, individual performance and
comparable market statistics.

The Company has previously adopted two share option schemes to motivate
and reward its Directors and eligible employees. Details of the schemes are
set out in the paragraph headed “Share Option Schemes” above.

None of the Directors waived any emoluments during the year ended 31
December 2017.

RETIREMENT BENEFITS SCHEMES

The employees of the PRC subsidiaries of the Company are members of the
state-managed retirement benefits scheme operated by the PRC
government. The PRC subsidiaries are required to contribute certain
percentages of basic salaries of the employees to the retirement benefits
scheme to fund the benefits. The only obligation of the Group with respect
to the retirement benefits scheme is to make the required contributions
under the scheme. The contributions are charged to the consolidated
income statements as they become payable in accordance with the rules of
the state-managed retirement benefits scheme.

The Group has no other material obligation for the payment of pension
benefits beyond the annual contributions described above.

For the year ended 31 December 2017, the Group's total contributions to
the retirement benefits schemes charged in the income statement
amounted to RMB33.7 million. Details of the Group's retirement benefits
scheme and the basis of calculation are set out in note 7 to the consolidated
financial statements.

MAJOR CUSTOMERS AND SUPPLIERS

Aggregate sales attributable to the Group’s largest and five largest
customers were 8% and 16% of the Group’s total sales respectively.

Aggregate purchases attributable to the Group's largest and five largest
suppliers were 11% and 32% of the Group’s total purchases respectively.

B B3R

AEBNHFMERRDIZENRERENER
BELGENRER YTHAFHEESS
Bl-EFHMIK2EAEENKLEE
fIE 1 = 3R B2 RI Lb B A T 35 4 5T Bl 1% R Fr B
ZEgREE YHEEFSRE-

ARABECRAMBBBRET S AEDLR
RBEEERAERREER - %FTENFE
N EXTERETS ] — &

BMEEERNEE2017F12A31BIEFERAW
BEAMME -

R K18 R st &8

ARRABRFEZ FAANEES RSB EBA
EBENBERERRKRBHFENKE - 7 E
FRAAAREEERAFENETEILRAR
KEMNFEEFIUABNAZEFRN - AKEH
RRRENEOE -BER/REEFD
P&t - ZFHARDTRBEEREZERNK
BAENRARSEAERAHKERA
kR ©

R B A R Ll R AN R A
EBXERKRBAMAREE-

HE2017F12A3MBEFE REER K
EERANINBRAEREANTEBEIAEARE
BB7EB T AEBNRKEANGTE RFE
EERNFHBIAREGHTERERNET -

TREFRHER

REBEALAREFAMENESAED R
(AR EEHEBRTENE% N 16% °

]

AEBSARTAHREFIMENRBAERD
BIMA RN BIERE B 11% M32% -



REPORT OF THE DIRECTORS (CONTINUED)
EEERE @)

At no time during the year ended 31 December 2017 did a Director, his/her
associate(s) or a shareholder, which to the knowledge of the Directors owns
more than 5% of the Company’s share capital, have an interest in any of
the Group's five largest customers and suppliers.

CLOSURE OF REGISTER OF MEMBERS

For the purpose of determining the identity of shareholders who are entitled
to attend and vote at the forthcoming annual general meeting, the register
of members of the Company will be closed from Monday, 28 May 2018 to
Friday, 1 June 2018, both days inclusive, during which period no transfer of
shares of the Company will be effected. In order to be eligible to attend and
vote at the forthcoming annual general meeting to be held on Friday, 1
June 2018, all duly completed and signed transfer forms accompanied by
the relevant share certificates must be lodged with the Company’s branch
share registrar in Hong Kong, Computershare Hong Kong Investor Services
Limited at Shops 1712-1716, 17th Floor, Hopewell Centre, 183 Queen’s
Road East, Wanchai, Hong Kong for registration no later than 4:30 p.m. on
Friday, 25 May 2018.

AUDIT COMMITTEE

The audit committee of the Company has reviewed, with the Company’s
management and the external auditors, the accounting principles and
practices adopted by the Company and discussed auditing, risk
management, internal control, whistleblowing policy and system and
financial reporting matters, including the review of the Group's financial
statements’ for the year ended 31 December 2017.

AUDITORS

The consolidated financial statements for the year ended 31 December
2017 have been audited by Ernst & Young, who will retire and, being
eligible, offer themselves for re-appointment at the forthcoming annual
general meeting of the Company. A resolution for its re-appointment as
auditors of the Company will be proposed at the forthcoming annual
general meeting of the Company.
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SUFFICIENCY OF PUBLIC FLOAT

Based on the information that is publicly available to the Company and
within the knowledge of the Directors as at the date of this Annual Report,
the Company has maintained the prescribed public float of not less than
23.42% of the Company’s issued shares pursuant to a waiver granted to
the Company by the Stock Exchange for the period from the Listing Date.

BANK LOANS AND OTHER BORROWINGS

Particulars of short-term and long-term bank loans of the Group as at 31
December 2017 are set out in note 27 to the consolidated financial
statements. Other than such bank loans, the Group had no other bank
loans.

CORPORATE GOVERNANCE

The Company's corporate governance principles and practices are set out in
the Corporate Governance Report on pages 45 to 67 of this Annual Report.

SUMMARY FINANCIAL INFORMATION

A summary of the results and of the assets and liabilities of the Group for
the five financial years ended 31 December 2017 is set out on page 224 of
this Annual Report.

EVENT AFTER THE REPORTING PERIOD

Other than those disclosed in note 41 to the consolidated financial
statements, the Group had no significant event after the reporting period.

On behalf of the Board

Jeffrey, Minfang Lu
Chairman

Hong Kong, 26 March 2018
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INDEPENDENT AUDITOR'S REPORT
B % B

Ernst & Young RKETHEIERAT Tel E5E: +852 2846 9888

22/F, CITIC Tower EEMIBREBES Fax fEE: +852 2868 4432
§* 1 Tim Mei Avenue RiEARE21E ey.com

Central, Hong Kong

To the shareholders of Yashili International Holdings Ltd
(Incorporated in the Cayman Islands with limited liability)

OPINION

We have audited the consolidated financial statements of Yashili
International Holdings Ltd (the “Company”) and its subsidiaries (the “Group”)
set out on pages 113 to 223, which comprise the consolidated statement of
financial position as at 31 December 2017, and the consolidated statement
of profit or loss, the consolidated statement of comprehensive income, the
consolidated statement of changes in equity and the consolidated statement
of cash flows for the year then ended, and notes to the consolidated
financial statements, including a summary of significant accounting policies.

In our opinion, the consolidated financial statements give a true and fair
view of the consolidated financial position of the Group as at 31 December
2017, and of its consolidated financial performance and its consolidated
cash flows for the year then ended in accordance with International
Financial Reporting Standards (“IFRSs”) issued by the International
Accounting Standards Board (“IASB”) and have been properly prepared in
compliance with the disclosure requirements of the Hong Kong Companies
Ordinance.

BASIS FOR OPINION

We conducted our audit in accordance with Hong Kong Standards on
Auditing ("HKSAs") issued by the Hong Kong Institute of Certified Public
Accountants (“HKICPA"). Our responsibilities under those standards are
further described in the Auditor’s responsibilities for the audit of the
consolidated financial statements section of our report. We are independent
of the Group in accordance with the HKICPA’s Code of Ethics for
Professional Accountants (the “Code”), and we have fulfilled our other
ethical responsibilities in accordance with the Code. We believe that the
audit evidence we have obtained is sufficient and appropriate to provide a
basis for our opinion.
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INDEPENDENT AUDITOR’S REPORT (CONTINUED)
18 3 % B R @)

KEY AUDIT MATTERS

Key audit matters are those matters that, in our professional judgement,
were of most significance in our audit of the consolidated financial
statements of the current period. These matters were addressed in the
context of our audit of the consolidated financial statements as a whole,
and in forming our opinion thereon, and we do not provide a separate
opinion on these matters. For each matter below, our description of how
our audit addressed the matter is provided in that context.

We have fulfilled the responsibilities described in the Auditor’s
Responsibilities for the Audit of the Consolidated Financial Statements
section of our report, including in relation to these matters. Accordingly,
our audit included the performance of procedures designed to respond to
our assessment of the risks of material misstatement of the consolidated
financial statements. The results of our audit procedures, including the
procedures performed to address the matters below, provide the basis for
our audit opinion on the accompanying consolidated financial statements.
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How our audit addressed ZEEEEF
Key audit matters the key audit matter BRETEE: R EHMN
Impairment testing of goodwill mEREAR
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CGU groups to which goodwill is BERE: A ERE

December 2017. The impairment
tests performed by management
involved significant estimations of the
value in use of the CGU groups to
which the goodwill is allocated.

allocated and assessment of
impairment model and underlying
assumptions by comparing key
assumptions such as the forecasted
revenue and gross margins with
historical operating results. We
involved internal valuation experts
to assist in evaluating the
impairment model and in
benchmarking key assumptions
including expected perpetual
growth rates and discount rates.
We also assessed management’s
sensitivity analysis to evaluate the
impact of reasonably possible
changes including revenue growth
rate and gross margin.

The accounting policies, significant
estimates and related disclosures are
included in note 2.4 Business
combinations and goodwill, note 3
Impairment of goodwill and note 18
Goodwill to the consolidated financial
statements.

We also reviewed the adequacy
and appropriateness of the related
disclosures included in the
consolidated financial statements.
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INDEPENDENT AUDITOR’S REPORT (CONTINUED)
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Key audit matters

How our audit addressed
the key audit matter

HEgESTEER

ZEERAEFF
IR URCN:E

Impairment testing of trademarks with indefinite lives

Trademarks with indefinite life
amounting to RMB283 million
represented 4% of the Group's total
assets as at 31 December 2017. The
impairment tests performed by
management involved significant
estimations in determination of the
value in use of the CGUs to which the
trademarks belong.

The accounting policies, significant
estimates and related disclosures are
included in note 2.4 Intangible assets,
note 3 Impairment of non-financial
assets and note 17 Intangible assets
to the consolidated financial
statements.

Our audit procedures included,
among others, assessment of the
impairment model and the key
assumptions, such as forecasted
revenue growth rate and gross
margin. We compared key
assumptions such as forecasted
revenue growth rates, unit selling
prices and unit costs with historical
results or industry peers. We
involved internal valuation experts
to assist us in evaluating the
impairment model and key
assumptions in particular those
relating to perpetual growth rates
and discount rates. We also
assessed management’s sensitivity
analysis to evaluate the impact of
reasonably possible changes
including revenue growth rate and
gross margin.

We also reviewed the adequacy
and appropriateness of the related
disclosures included in the
consolidated financial statements.

OTHER INFORMATION INCLUDED IN THE ANNUAL

REPORT

The directors of the Company are responsible for the other information. The
other information comprises the information included in the Annual Report,
other than the consolidated financial statements and our auditor’s report

thereon.

Our opinion on the consolidated financial statements does not cover the
other information and we do not express any form of assurance conclusion

thereon.
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INDEPENDENT AUDITOR’S REPORT (CONTINUED)
18 3 % B R @)

In connection with our audit of the consolidated financial statements, our
responsibility is to read the other information and, in doing so, consider
whether the other information is materially inconsistent with the
consolidated financial statements or our knowledge obtained in the audit or
otherwise appears to be materially misstated. If, based on the work we have
performed, we conclude that there is a material misstatement of this other
information, we are required to report that fact. We have nothing to report
in this regard.

RESPONSIBILITIES OF THE DIRECTORS FOR THE
CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

The directors of the Company are responsible for the preparation of the
consolidated financial statements that give a true and fair view in
accordance with IFRSs issued by the IASB and the disclosure requirements
of the Hong Kong Companies Ordinance, and for such internal control as
the directors determine is necessary to enable the preparation of
consolidated financial statements that are free from material misstatement,
whether due to fraud or error.

In preparing the consolidated financial statements, the directors of the
Company are responsible for assessing the Group’s ability to continue as a
going concern, disclosing, as applicable, matters related to going concern
and using the going concern basis of accounting unless the directors of the
Company either intend to liquidate the Group or to cease operations or
have no realistic alternative but to do so.

The directors of the Company are assisted by the Audit Committee in
discharging their responsibilities for overseeing the Group’s financial
reporting process.

AUDITOR’S RESPONSIBILITIES FOR THE AUDIT OF
THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

Our objectives are to obtain reasonable assurance about whether the
consolidated financial statements as a whole are free from material
misstatement, whether due to fraud or error, and to issue an auditor’s
report that includes our opinion. Our report is made solely to you, as a
body, and for no other purpose. We do not assume responsibility towards
or accept liability to any other person for the contents of this report.

BAHUBHRRE  RANEECREER
EF  ELBERET EEEMEHNITL A
BB RRARMNEBIZ P PR
MIEREEXRER HEUTFEERBRR
e ERBFEATHIME MEMIAL/E
MEMBERNBRRL RPAREZSF
Bomuhm  RPILEEFMBS

ESHAHYBHRRNERE

ERREFERER G EREZTERMN
B BEREERNRBERARERABEER
DNAMBINNEHMBHRER  TEAREER
RRREIFEARNRFAERMEBNE
RERRANEHUBEREMNEBLENNA

B -

REAVBBHRERE BERARERARNG
ERERSELENRN XTHEERBRTH
ERSEKLEEHENER UREAKER
LREFER BRIBERFESFEERES
BERIFIULLE AP EELBERNER

VI

ERZBEEMY ERREZRTEEES
MBwEmENRE-

JiE

LY EASHUBREREA
RAENEME

BANEERAAERMEERRAMHMBHRERE
BRFERANKFRBERMEBWEAHR
Rt WHBEERMER OB RS -
AREERBBRER L TEEEEAMA
wo TP AR AREATHEMEMAL
AERERZEMEE-



INDEPENDENT AUDITOR’S REPORT (CONTINUED)
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Reasonable assurance is a high level of assurance, but is not a guarantee
that an audit conducted in accordance with HKSAs will always detect a
material misstatement when it exists. Misstatements can arise from fraud or
error and are considered material if, individually or in the aggregate, they
could reasonably be expected to influence the economic decisions of users
taken on the basis of these consolidated financial statements.

As part of an audit in accordance with HKSAs, we exercise professional
judgement and maintain professional scepticism throughout the audit. We
also:

o Identify and assess the risks of material misstatement of the
consolidated financial statements, whether due to fraud or error,
design and perform audit procedures responsive to those risks, and
obtain audit evidence that is sufficient and appropriate to provide a
basis for our opinion. The risk of not detecting a material
misstatement resulting from fraud is higher than for one resulting
from error, as fraud may involve collusion, forgery, intentional
omissions, misrepresentations, or the override of internal control.

o Obtain an understanding of internal control relevant to the audit in
order to design audit procedures that are appropriate in the
circumstances, but not for the purpose of expressing an opinion on
the effectiveness of the Group’s internal control.

o Evaluate the appropriateness of accounting policies used and the
reasonableness of accounting estimates and related disclosures made
by the directors.

o Conclude on the appropriateness of the directors’ use of the going
concern basis of accounting and, based on the audit evidence
obtained, whether a material uncertainty exists related to events or
conditions that may cast significant doubt on the Group’s ability to
continue as a going concern. If we conclude that a material
uncertainty exists, we are required to draw attention in our auditor’s
report to the related disclosures in the consolidated financial
statements or, if such disclosures are inadequate, to modify our
opinion. Our conclusions are based on the audit evidence obtained up
to the date of our auditor's report. However, future events or
conditions may cause the Group to cease to continue as a going
concern.

° Evaluate the overall presentation, structure and content of the
consolidated financial statements, including the disclosures, and
whether the consolidated financial statements represent the
underlying transactions and events in a manner that achieves fair
presentation.
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INDEPENDENT AUDITOR’S REPORT (CONTINUED)
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o Obtain sufficient appropriate audit evidence regarding the financial
information of the entities or business activities within the Group to
express an opinion on the consolidated financial statements. We are
responsible for the direction, supervision and performance of the
group audit. We remain solely responsible for our audit opinion.

We communicate with the Audit Committee regarding, among other
matters, the planned scope and timing of the audit and significant audit
findings, including any significant deficiencies in internal control that we
identify during our audit.

We also provide the Audit Committee with a statement that we have
complied with relevant ethical requirements regarding independence and to
communicate with them all relationships and other matters that may
reasonably be thought to bear on our independence, and where applicable,
related safeguards.

From the matters communicated with the Audit Committee, we determine
those matters that were of most significance in the audit of the consolidated
financial statements of the current period and are therefore the key audit
matters. We describe these matters in our auditor’s report unless law or
regulation precludes public disclosure about the matter or when, in
extremely rare circumstances, we determine that a matter should not be
communicated in our report because the adverse consequences of doing so
would reasonably be expected to outweigh the public interest benefits of
such communication.

The engagement partner on the audit resulting in this independent auditor’s
report is Mr. TONG KA YAN, AUGUSTINE.

Ernst & Young
Certified Public Accountants

Hong Kong
26 March 2018
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CONSOLIDATED STATEMENT OF PROFIT OR LOSS
BOFEER

Year ended 31 December2017 & ZE2017F 12831 B IEFE

-
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2017 2016
Notes RMB’000 RMB'000
MIsE AR¥ET T AREFIT
REVENUE WA 5 2,254,716 2,203,315
Cost of sales Ei=l= DN 7 (1,332,513) (1,166,015)
GROSS PROFIT ER] 922,203 1,037,300
Other income and gains = NS 5 70,167 227,396
Selling and distribution expenses HE RARGHR X (893,156) (1,170,950)
Administrative expenses TR X (271,224) (389,555)
Other expenses HEmEx 6 (162,974) (148,230)
LOSS FROM OPERATIONS KEEE (334,984) (444,039)
Finance income 5 75 Wg A 7 123,728 130,238
Finance costs B 75 Ak 2N 8 (18,109) (18,825)
Net finance income BT IS U A 105,619 111,413
LOSS BEFORE TAX BR %Al & 1B 7 (229,365) (332,626)
Income tax credit FIT 13 75 48 10 49,554 12,408
LOSS FOR THE YEAR FEFE (179,811) (320,218)
Attributable to: BB
Owners of the parent BRAFRERFEA (179,811) (320,218)
RMB cents RMB cents
AR5 AR5
LOSS PER SHARE ATTRIBUTABLE TO BAGEEREEAEN
ORDINARY EQUITY HOLDERS OF BRER
THE PARENT 12
Basic and diluted HATEE (3.8) (6.7)
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CONSOLIDATED STATEMENT OF COMPREHENSIVE INCOME
a0tz E R A

Year ended 31 December2017 & ZE2017F 12831 B IEFE

2017 2016
RMB’000 RMB'000
AR¥T R ARBT T
LOSS FOR THE YEAR FEEBR (179,811) (320,218)
OTHER COMPREHENSIVE (LOSS)/INCOME Hib2mE (B X) W=
Other comprehensive (loss)/income to be reclassified AR EHESE
to profit or loss in subsequent periods: BaRzHEMmE2mEmGER)/
&
Exchange differences on translation of foreign BIMEEINERRITHEZR
operations (33,250) 76,667
Net other comprehensive (loss)/income to be AIRNESREENSES
reclassified to profit or loss in subsequent periods BiH 2 FHEME2mE(EX),/
Wz (33,250) 76,667
TOTAL COMPREHENSIVE LOSS FOR THE YEAR FEXHBAERE (213,061) (243,551)
114 Attributable to: BER:
Owners of the parent NRIRERE A (213,061) (243,551)
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CONSOLIDATED STATEMENT OF FINANCIAL POSITION

B OF B B AR 5 3R

31 December2017 2017412 A31H

2017 2016
Notes RMB’000 RMB'000
MIsE AR¥T T AREFIT
NON-CURRENT ASSETS ERBEE
Property, plant and equipment ME - BENEE 13 1,602,976 1,788,658
Construction in progress EEITRE 14 64,383 38,812
Investment properties "EY 15 59,333 67,486
Land use rights 4 b {5 B 16 88,793 93,734
Intangible assets mILEE 17 316,750 297,801
Goodwill BE 18 991,236 991,236
Deferred tax assets RETRIEE E 19 277,793 202,950
Long-term bank deposits REIRITERK 24 — 379,927
Prepayments, deposits and other TERRIE #HE R
receivables H b fE U 5008 22 3,462 5,496
Total non-current assets JEME B E B 3,404,726 3,866,100
CURRENT ASSETS MENEE
Inventories FE 20 786,324 619,876
Trade and bills receivables BorEKZIREE 21 144,336 161,391
Prepayments, deposits and other BERRIE - #HE Rk
receivables H o fE U FR 1B 22 191,189 191,230
Other financial assets HEthemEE 23 724,748 476,994
Pledged deposits RESFR 24 243,621 803,123
Cash and bank balances WE NIBTES 24 1,748,395 1,642,818
3,838,613 3,895,432
Assets of a disposal group SEARAEFENKEMA
classified as held for sale BE 30 187,237 204,459
Total current assets MBI EEEE 4,025,850 4,099,891
CURRENT LIABILITIES REAE
Trade payables Z 5 EMNR 25 338,440 237,621
Other payables and accruals HiENZEESSE A 26 1,037,658 862,233
Interest-bearing bank loans SFRIRITER 27 529,696 1,143,091
Tax payable FERFR 1S 7R 12,192 5,602
1,917,986 2,248,547
Liabilities directly associated with HEAOBMARESEEE
the assets classified as held for sale BEERHRABEAMNARE 30 — 4,988
Total current liabilities B R B 1,917,986 2,253,535
NET CURRENT ASSETS REBEEFE 2,107,864 1,846,356
TOTAL ASSETS LESS CURRENT LIABILITIES B EZERAHEE 5,512,590 5,712,456

-
=y
w

G110 (2 S WEHHEN T H



S OB AR R 3R @)

31 December2017 2017412 H31H

CONSOLIDATED STATEMENT OF FINANCIAL POSITION (CONTINUED)

2017 2016
Notes RMB’000 RMB'000
MIsE AR%T T ARBT T
NON-CURRENT LIABILITIES ERBEE
Deferred income R 3E W 7 28 2,245 3,329
Deferred tax liabilities ELEHRIEEE 19 19,418 7,513
Total non-current liabilities ERBEEEEE 21,663 10,842
NET ASSETS EEFHE 5,490,927 5,701,614
EQUITY R
Equity attributable to owners BATEEA
of the parent FE 15 R &
Share capital B& Zx 29 399,352 399,352
Reserves i 5,091,575 5,302,262
TOTAL EQUITY AR 5,490,927 5,701,614
16
Mr. Chopin Zhang Mr. Zhang Ping
iR 3 (Chopin Zhang) % &£ REEE
Director Director
BF o

£10z 1oday [enuuy Py SBUIP|OH [BUOIIBUISIU 1]IysEA



CONSOLIDATED STATEMENT OF CHANGES IN EQUITY
SOHERBBR

Year ended 31 December2017 & ZE2017F 12831 B IEFE

Capital PRC Other
Share Share redemption  statutory capital
capital  premium reserve reserve reserve

Share
option

reserve/

share
award  Translation Contributed Merger  Retained
reserve reserve surplus reserve  earnings Total

BRE

K HE Rt GRE/RS
R&  RHOEE BEBREFE LR EXEE RBEE  EXRE  RARE AfE%R  REERW @t
RMB'000 RMB'000 RMB'000  RMB'000  RMB'000  RMB'000
ARETR ARMTE ARETR ARETT ARBTR ARBTL ARETR ARETT ARBTRL ARNTR AR%TR

RMB'000  RMB'000  RMB'000  RMB'000  RMB'000

Notes  (note 29)  (note 41(i))
M (MaE20) (M 410)

(note 41(iii))  (note 41(ii))
GEZ)NGEAI0)

As at 1 January 2016 R2016F1A18 399352 3,881,093* 818*  182,021*  (44,615)

Loss for the year FEBR - - - - -
Other comprehensive income £ 462 Tz
Exchange differences on BN R RNERE

(19,600 1,367,204*  (850,504)* 1,064,873* 5,980,642

- = = —  (320218)  (320.218)

translation of foreign NEZS

operations — — — — — = 76,667 — — — 76,667
Total comprehensive income 2 [ 1 3 4 5

for the year — — — — - = 76,667 - — (320218  (243,551)
Dividends approved in respect AT E8 iR F| 7 B

of the previous year 11 — (35,477) — — — = — — — — (35,477)
At 31 December 2016 R2016F 125318 399,352 3,845,616* 818 182,021*  (44,615)* - 57,067  1,367,204*  (850,504)*  744,655% 5,701,614
At 1 January 2017 R2017E1818 399,352 3,845,616* 818*  182,021*  (44,615)* - 57,067*  1,367,204*  (850,504)*  744,655* 5,701,614
Loss for the year EEER - - - - - - - - —  (179.811)  (179,811)

Other comprehensive income £ 4t 2 i 28
Exchange differences on BN R RNERE

translation of foreign REER

operations - - - - - = (33,250) - — — (33,250
Total comprehensive (loss)/ 2 [ i  # 5

income for the year - - - - - - (33,250) - —  (179.811)  (213,061)
Share option and share ZHERRESR

award arrangements** STE - - - - - 2,374 - - - - 2,374
At 31 December 2017 R2017E128318 399,352 3,845,616* 818*  182,021*  (44,615)* 2,374% 23817*  1,367,204*  (850,504)*  564,844* 5,490,927

* %

These reserve amounts comprise the consolidated reserves of RMB5,091,575,000 (2016:
RMB5,302,262,000) in the consolidated statement of financial position.

On 13 July 2017, China Mengniu Dairy Company Limited (“Mengniu Dairy”), the
Company’s ultimate holding company, granted 265,845 unit of shares and 533,870
unit of share options under its share award scheme and share option scheme,
respectively, to the Company’s directors and management of the Group for the
purpose of providing incentives and rewards to eligible participants who contribute
to the success of Mengniu Dairy. The amount represented the fair value
amortization of these share options and share awards in 2017.

*

* %

EUREESBAK017FHBERREHEFD
4 A R #5,091,575,0007C (2016 6 © A R #
5,302,262,0007T) ©

R2017F7 8138 FRRFAEBERAF (R
FIED ARRIZHBERAR  RIEBEHR
EHENEESBAEAAATNESTREEA
8 % 265,845 1% B% Z F1533,870 8% B 4 - LA [A)
ATESFEBKRNELERMNEZASRH
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CONSOLIDATED STATEMENT OF CASH FLOWS

EHRAERER

Year ended 31 December 2017 & Z20174 12 831 A ILF &

2017 2016

Notes RMB’000 RMB’000
BT AR®T T ARBTT

CASH FLOWS FROM OPERATING ACTIVITIES & EHIE SR E

Loss before tax A& 8 (229,365) (332,626)
Adjustments for: FEIEE -
Depreciation and amortisation e R 7 178,596 169,713
Net loss on disposal of property, HEWE  BE R
plant and equipment REBHEEFE 6 250 2,392
Impairment losses for property, Mk BWE&
plant and equipment FAERRE 7.216 —
Provision for impairment of construction in EREIREMNBE
progress 14 — 1,712
Provision for impairment of trade and other B 5 N H b e R
receivables BB 17,437 2,876
Provision for impairment of inventories FEKEER 6 25,656 31,147
118 Interest income F B WA 7 (105,813) (103,522)
< Interest expense B 8 18,109 18,825
5 Foreign exchange difference, net b 1B F 5 3,300 (15,591)
5 Loss on disposal of a subsidiary BEFRAIEX 6 11,698 —
g Gain on other investments H b 3% & Yz 7 (17,915) (26,716)
§" Share option and share award arrangements A% ZZ Hi 4 Kz A% 72 )25 B
> | 2,374 —
5 (88,457) (251,790)
Q
é (Increase)/decrease in inventories =& G, (200,331) 86,170
> Decrease/(increase) in trade receivables 2 5 EWERE K
3 B, (35 ) 4,598 (27,349)
;% Decrease/(increase) in prepayments, deposits T8 {5 7038 ~ & K HE M
3 and other receivables JiE s SR TE R (38 n) 48,837 (49,161)
é (Increase)/decrease in pledged deposits and PR B ERITF SR H M
3 other financial assets % B & B (g m), R A (288,016) 80,406
Increase/(decrease) in trade payables, other BHEMNER  HaER
payables and accruals RIEMEE B RL M,
Rl 2) 288,940 (256,515)
Decrease in deferred income i SE Uy 20 (1,084) (1,083)
Cash generated from/(used in) operations KEERAE/ REBES (235,513) (419,322)
Income tax paid B PTEH (19,345) (57,917)

Net cash flows from/(used in) operating  &E& FZB B KR H
activities RERE (254,858) (477,239)




CONSOLIDATED STATEMENT OF CASH FLOWS (CONTINUED)
EHRERER @

Year ended 31 December2017 & ZE2017F 12831 B IEFE

-
=y
0

2017 2016
Notes RMB’000 RMB’000
FiEE AR®T T AREETT
CASH FLOWS FROM INVESTING ACTIVITIES REZBHHERE
Interest and gain on investment received B U F B 77,408 120,384
Proceeds from disposal of property,plantand H &Y ¥ WE L& iE
equipment P15 338 13,789 7,539
Proceeds from the disposal of an investment  H & 1% & ¥ 2 F 15 18
property — 1,306
Proceeds from sales of other financial assets HEHEMESREE
Fri8 K18 1,587,245 2,913,765
Receipts of bank deposits with original maturity /R | 88 B & =1& A LA £ #Y
of more than three months $R1T 17 31 B HA 09 U 3% 379,927 1,071,892
Proceeds from disposal of a subsidiary & FRAIRIA 32 4,747 —
Payment of bank deposits with original maturity R 2|81 B & =18 B LA £ &
of more than three months RITFE KA K (18,107) (977,619)
Acquisition of property, plant and equipment [ E %% W= M &G (23,102) (25,176)
Payment of construction in progress EETIEIE B M (97,604) (46,360)
Acquisition of intangible assets BERTAE (1,086) (535)
Acquisition of other financial assets EEHMEREE (1,635,895) (2,516,900)
Payment of acquisition of a subsidiary Wi F QR T A AR B 31 — (987,624)
Receipts of acquisition of a subsidiary W B F N 7] BT i B &9 R IE 31 — 72,437
Net cash flows from/(used in) investing BEEEMARSEHE
activities 287,322 (366,891)
CASH FLOWS FROM FINANCING ACTIVITIES EEZHRELARE
Proceeds from bank loans ERAFTERE 1,227,252 772,932
Receipts of pledged deposits at maturity in EE SR 17 16 ZXAE B8 A9 2 &7
relation to bank loans R F RUBK 798,905 510,357
Payment of pledged deposits in relation to HIR 1T & AR A
bank loans bk iR ER ORI (150,491) (798,905)
Repayments of interest-bearing bank loans BEFBER (1,807,132) (335,714)
Interest paid EEREESS (18,154) (18,586)
Dividends paid 2T E = (35,477)
Net cash flows (used in)/from financing BETEMEHES TR
activities 50,380 94,607
NET INCREASE/(DECREASE) INCASHAND BEE&RBEESZEWE M
CASH EQUIVALENTS (R 2) #8 82,844 (7491523)
Cash and cash equivalents at beginningof £ RERFELZEY
year 24 581,491 1,307,556
Effect of exchange rate changesoncash EXSFHUBRELRRS
and cash equivalents ZEPNTE 4,627 23,458
CASH AND CASH EQUIVALENTS AT END ERRELESZEEY
OF YEAR 24 668,962 581,491

G110 (2 S WEHHEN T H
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NOTES TO CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

BERAR(THELMEZR])

CORPORATE AND GROUP INFORMATION 1 RAREEEHR
Yashili International Holdings Ltd (the “Company”) was incorporated W FBEEERAER A (ARRDF ]
in the Cayman Islands on 3 June 2010 as an exempted company with 75/\2010¢6ﬂ SHIRERESEHS A alA
limited liability under the Companies Law, Chapter 22, (Law 3 of FNEBIFFE=5 50 K&K
1961, as consolidated and revised) of the Cayman Islands. The address i) EREHEFMK L AEER A
of its registered office is Cricket Square, Hutchins Drive, P.O. Box R A &) o H 5F it %% == B b 3k A& Cricket
2681, Grand Cayman KY1-1111, Cayman Islands. Square, Hutchins Drive, P.O. Box 2681,
Grand Cayman KY1-1111, Cayman Islands °
The Group is primarily engaged in the manufacture and sale of dairy AREBTERERN ENHEAERE
and nourishment products. BEM o
In the opinion of the directors, the holding company is China EERAE SEERRAAATRHESH
Mengniu International Company Limited (BVI). The ultimate holding REMRATIBV) EEZERIER AT A
company of the Company is China Mengniu Dairy Company Limited FTREFIEEREA AT (HE) -
(Cayman).
Particulars of the principal subsidiaries of the Company are as follows: ARABBEFRARMFBAT :
Place of
incorporation/ Particulars of Percentage of equity
registration and  registered/ interest attributable
operations issued capital to the Company Principal activities
EMKL/ AMmER/ AAREGN
BRREXNYE CRTRAFE RERIH TEXH
Company name Notes Direct Indirect
AEER i B B
Yashili International Ltd. BVI Us$1 100% —  Investment holding
(“Yashili (BVI)")
BLMERBR A RBRAEE (E 100% — REZK
(Yashili (BVI)))
Yashili International Group Limited Hong Kong HK$1 — 100%  Investment holding
("Yashili (HK)" )
H’Etﬂll"ﬂ‘%@ﬁ RAA N 17T — 100% KZEER
(TELFI(FHE)])
Newou Hong Kong International Hong Kong HK$1 — 100%  Import and export of dairy
Co., Limited (“Newou Hong Kong" ) products and related materials
HEREBERARD A B 18T — 100% OISR REENH
(TFEEE])
Yashili New Zealand Dairy Co., Limited New Zealand NzD287,032,059 — 100%  Production and sale of dairy
("Yashili New Zealand” ) products
MERELANAZERR HER 175 B 71. 287,032,059 7T — 100% HERHENHD
(FHERAXD)
Oushi Mengniu (Inner Mongolia) Dairy (i) PRC RMB470,000,000 — 100%  Production and sale of dairy
Products Co., Ltd. (“Oushi Mengniu”) products
ASRERERTARRERE g A% 470,000,0007T EERHEAR S
AR (B R4)])
Yashili International Baby Nourishment (i) & (i) PRC RMB531,815,600 — 100%  Production and sale of dairy
Co., Ltd. ("Yashili Nourishment") products
KLFEREHRERR i AR #531,815,6007T — 100% HERHENHD
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1 CORPORATE AND GROUP INFORMATION (Continued) 1

PAREBEER @

Place of
incorporation/ Particulars of Percentage of equity
registration and  registered/ interest attributable
operations issued capital to the Company Principal activities
FEmA L/ ZmELx/ RATEHLIN
BRREENY CRTRAEE REF DL TEER
Company name Notes Direct Indirect
ARER LiE Hf# i
Yashili Dairy (Maanshan) Trading (i)~ PRC RMB20,000,000 — 100%  Wholesale and retail of dairy
Limited (“Maanshan Trading") products
BIMAE(FRL)HERRATF HE AR #20,000,000 7T = 100% FARRHBEFRTE
(TE&ILHED
Yashili International Group Ltd. (i) & (i) PRC RMB1,126,105,300 — 100%  Production and sale of dairy
("Yashili (Guangdong)”) products
RIHBEREEFRAA HE AE#1,126,105,300 T = 100% 4EREEAED
(M F (BR)))
Shanxi Yashili Dairy Co., Ltd. (i)~ PRC RMB300,000,000 — 100%  Production and sale of dairy
("Yashili (Shanxi)") products
LR ERRAA HE AR #300,000,000 70 = 100% 4EREEAED
(MEEFLAE)D)
Dumex Baby Food Co., Ltd. (iy ~ PRC RMB2,226,000,000 — 100%  Production and sale of dairy
("Dumex China") products
SERLRHRRBBERAA HE A K #2,226,000,000 T = 100% 4EREEAED
(IZxHHE])
(i) These companies are wholly foreign invested enterprises established in the (i) ZERNBBRPBENIAINEDE -
PRC.

(ii) These companies are limited liability companies established in the PRC. The
official names of these companies are in Chinese and the English names are
for reference only.

(iii) In May 2016, Yashili (Guangdong) acquired Dumex China from Danone Asia
Pacific Holdings Pte Ltd. (“Danone Asia”).

The above table lists the subsidiaries of the Company which, in the
opinion of the directors, principally affected the results for the year or
formed a substantial portion of the net assets of the Group. To give
details of other subsidiaries would, in the opinion of the directors,
result in particulars of excessive length.

(i) ZERARRFERINERELR
Al-ZERAMEAELBAT I ME
AXERAEHRSZE -

@iy  2016F5 A - HLH (FEFR) sk
BTEZEBFH-

EEARLRBIZARAFRAE
EHAKEARAFEXEBRTE B
RAEBEEFEZERIND - EFR
REREMTRAZFREEHFE
BRITE -

-
N
-
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NOTES TO CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (CONTINUED)
& O B 75 3 R MY 5 (@)

31 December2017 2017412 A31H

2.1 BASIS OF PRESENTATION 21 2 EH%E
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These financial statements have been prepared in accordance with
International Financial Reporting Standards (“IFRSs”) (which include
all International Financial Reporting Standards, International
Accounting Standards (“IASs”) and Interpretations) issued by the
International Accounting Standards Boards (“IASB”) and the disclosure
requirement of the Hong Kong Companies Ordinance. They have
been prepared under the historical cost convention except for other
financial assets which have been measured at fair value. Disposal
groups held for sale are stated at the lower of their carrying amounts
and fair values less costs to sell. In addition, these consolidated
financial statements are presented in Renminbi (“RMB"”) and all values
are rounded to the nearest thousand except when otherwise
indicated.

Basis of consolidation

The consolidated financial statements include the financial statements
of the Company and its subsidiaries (collectively referred to as the
“Group”) for the year ended 31 December 2017.

A subsidiary is an entity (including a structured entity), directly or
indirectly, controlled by the Company. Control is achieved when the
Group is exposed, or has rights, to variable returns from its
involvement with the investee and has the ability to affect those
returns through its power over the investee (i.e., existing right that
give the Group the current ability to direct the relevant activities of
the investee).

When the Company has, directly or indirectly, less than a majority of
the voting or similar rights of an investee, the Group considers all
relevant facts and circumstances in assessing whether it has power
over an investee, including:

(@)  the contractual arrangement with the other vote holders of the
investee;

(b)  rights arising from other contractual arrangements; and

(©)  the Group's voting rights and potential voting rights.

% E B MR TR IE B B ER & 5 £ R
I = T O B R B S A R (TR BR
MHBREER]) (AT HBERE
AAmERER - BEREG EARERE)
WEBREANBBRAERE - R H
fEmMEEARAEEFEIN  ZFH
BRERECRBELRAEIRE - BH
FEREEEAZRERAEBEERER
ABEREREEANFEMIIR -
BAN - ZFAHBBHRRAARB (TA
REDZ2 BRBEHEHIN MEHE
BRBERZONTLE -

BHEE

AHUBRERBEARARETRA
(B AIAEE]) REZE2017F12A4
BTHIEFENTBRE -

TR REA AR R EE K E
MER(ERERLER) EAKEHEA
SHEGERECENEB M AELFE
BEAENH BAENBEERERE
CETERNZEMFSILERNSE
(IAREEEHRKRECEXMERIZHNE
MEENREERN) ERAKEEN
THZWIREDRE -

EARFERAHEHERAEARRELE
FRAFBUTHRRE ~AEEEE
BATHHEZTERETERGDHER
BhEHEBEES

@ HHRRECFHOREEFES
Z T 1%

(b) REAMIHZEMERNER

@ AEEOREBRMBERZRE-
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21 BASIS OF PRESENTATION (Continued) 2.1 EI:IE EIJ gziﬁ— (ﬁ;)

Basis of consolidation (Continued)

The financial statements of the subsidiaries are prepared for the same
reporting period as the Company, using consistent accounting
policies. The results of subsidiaries are consolidated from the date on
which the Group obtains control, and continue to be consolidated
until the date that such control ceases.

Profit or loss and each component of other comprehensive income
are attributed to the owners of the parent of the Group and to the
non-controlling interests, even if this results in the non-controlling
interests having a deficit balance. All intra-group assets and liabilities,
equity, income, expenses and cash flows relating to transactions
between members of the Group are eliminated in full on
consolidation.

The Group reassesses whether or not it controls an investee if facts
and circumstances indicate that there are changes to one or more of
the three elements of control described above. A change in the
ownership interest of a subsidiary, without a loss of control, is
accounted for as an equity transaction.

If the Group loses control over a subsidiary, it derecognises (i) the
assets (including goodwill) and liabilities of the subsidiary, (i) the
carrying amount of any non-controlling interest and (iii) the
cumulative translation differences recorded in equity; and recognises (i)
the fair value of the consideration received, (ii) the fair value of any
investment retained and (iii) any resulting surplus or deficit in profit or
loss. The Group’s share of components previously recognised in other
comprehensive income is reclassified to profit or loss or retained
profits, as appropriate, on the same basis as would be required if the
Group had directly disposed of the related assets or liabilities.

EHEE @)

FTRABMNMBRERIER -
BUR - I % B K 2 B AR R A R A A AR
HeFRANEEARBRER(NALE
EERGEHEZA)EEHREER
VHEEBEHEEZENRLEZA -

18 25 M E Al 2 I R /Y 4 AR K BB 0 AR
EEBEBRARNMEEMIERER
ZEETOR  BEEFREEYHER
BaELRF MASEAKE ZHE
EMEE - BE #a WA FAXK
RenBBENXZMESGHER T A
HH -

MRFEMBARAN LAHEERN =
HEHIGREPO B ZRELE TN
g EEFeHERENUATFAAE
TEME -EMREHTRBEGES
MTHMEERaNNERZE RE
BmERS

WARERES —BFRRMEE -
AEREERONZ T ARNEE(RR
BE)MBE (NVEMFEEREZORE
EELREREACHEN R TEE
B REROMRKEN 2R EE - )
PriRBEAREN R R BE K& x
R EAELEENBRKER - KA
PE 2 e AR Y AN SR RS
BOEFHBERERARENE &
EEEREMNBEEMAGNERT
HEEHRNZERE -

e
N
w
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2.2 CHANGES IN ACCOUNTING POLICIES AND
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DISCLOSURES

The Group has adopted the following revised IFRSs for the first time
for the current year’s financial statements.

2.9 %E‘fﬂl%&?ﬂi%ﬁ%lﬁﬁ’ﬂ@

AEBERAFERERAUTHAR
RERTBIRR 5 mE 2R -

Amendments to IAS 7 Disclosure Initiative B & 5 2E Al WEEE
E79 WL
Amendments to IAS 12 Recognition of Deferred Tax Assets for B = A KB E 1S E B IEAE
Unrealised Losses 129 W& EZ #R

Amendments to IFRS 12 Disclosure of Interests in Other Entities:

BEMBEHEE EEMTREPERNK

included in Annual Clarification of the Scope of IFRS 12 BIE 125805  F: EEGEFHEE
Improvements to IFRSs FE2014F 2 RIZE 12 5% 1 7 2B 5 5]
2014-2016 Cycle 2016 F 2z Zx

FEHEF

The nature and the impact of the amendments are described below:

Amendments to IAS 7 Statement of Cash Flows:
Disclosure Initiative

The amendments require entities to provide disclosures about changes
in their liabilities arising from financing activities, including both
changes arising from cash flows and non-cash changes (such as
foreign exchange gains or losses). On initial application of the
amendments, entities are not required to provide comparative
information for preceding periods.

The Group disclosed the required information in its annual
consolidated financial statements for the year ended 31 December

ERIMEERFEMT

l[@f-‘ STERETH 2 EF
ELSIEPT T ib‘%J

ZEBIERGERBHEFBREEH S
ENEENEY BERZSEPHEHNA
EMmERIIRE M I (BEWEFER)
SIEH - ROLTBITRZEETR X
BEFRENPHLEES -

\I

AEFE2017F12A3MBIEFEAH
B REPIRBETEREE T HB

2017, Z8
Amendments to IAS 12 Income Taxes: BB XA5E125 218

Recognition of Deferred Tax Assets for
Unrealised Losses

The amendments clarify that an entity needs to consider whether tax
law restricts the sources of taxable profits against which it may make
deductions on the reversal of that deductible temporary difference.
Furthermore, the amendments provide guidance on how an entity
should determine future taxable profits and explain the circumstances
in which taxable profit may include the recovery of some assets for
more than their carrying amount.

ZEEAER  EYAEMNERE T
B CEXFEEREZZRTRHIZSE
FEMATLFT 1S RO SRR © RO - A F1ERT
A 1 2 40 fa] BE TE R K FE AN TR A 1S RR IR
T XWEET EMABATSEEA L
BERELEEESNEEEENSS
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2.2 CHANGES IN ACCOUNTING POLICIES AND 20 BEFfBEXRBEZTEMNE
DISCLOSURES (Continued) Eb (&)
Amendments to IAS 12 Income Taxes: PREcrERAIE 1295 21
Recognition of Deferred Tax Assets for PR REBHRBIE
Unrealised Losses (Continued) ELEFFSREE 2RI @
Entities are required to apply the amendments retrospectively. (G EIEBEER B L ER%E
However, on initial application of the amendments, the change in the {5}%7 BRSNS E
opening equity of the earliest comparative period may be recognised REBHVBFR S (HERHE
in opening retained earnings (or in another component of equity, as ﬁﬂ = mﬂ B) MEAEHTEFWE
appropriate), without allocating the change between opening MEMEZNEMETIR CXRE
retained earnings and other components of equity. Entities applying TS A ETETHBEES -
this relief must disclose that fact.
The Group applied the amendments retrospectively. However, their NEBFEBHER T %ZBT - BRANE
application has no effect on the Group’s financial position and BEZESEIIHEANANR —J %Eﬁ 1 ET RO
performance as the Group has no deductible temporary differences or EZBSHEBEE ZHFEIINER ;T$

assets that are in the scope of the amendments.

Annual Improvements 2014-2016 Cycle Amendments
to IFRS 12 Disclosure of Interests in Other Entities:
Clarification of the scope of disclosure requirements
in IFRS 12

The amendments clarify that the disclosure requirements in IFRS 12,
other than those in paragraphs B10-B16, apply to an entity's interest
in a subsidiary, a joint venture or an associate (or a portion of its
interest in a joint venture or an associate) that is classified (or included
in a disposal group that is classified) as held for sale.

The Group has adopted the amendments retrospectively. The Group
disclosed the required information about certain assets of Scient (China)
Baby Nourishment Co., Ltd. (“Scient (China)”), a wholly- owned
subsidiary, that were classified as held for sale as at 31 December
2017. Further details are given in Note 30.

SENMBRRARERREBEZE

2014-2016 8 Hi Y F & & Bl B
B BREERFE12RHEHE M
ERPHER 2K EEBERK
Eﬁ%i&%&ﬂﬂ%nﬁﬁ%%ﬁé
PR EEER ]
ZEBIERTRBEMEREELE
1258 /E B A% B10—B16ER FF B & 1) 1E
B tEHEEHS %(&@ﬁ&%ﬁiﬁﬂh
WEDB)BFERENTAA Bk
AETE(SBERGELEF —TL
PlE HERR) ©

REERYPERTZEBR - AEEN
2EFRAIME(FEH)E ib?ﬁa’ e
BRABI(HE(FE)]) M EEER
2017F N2 A3BHE D AREBEFEER
EeBMEMNEEBESENTIONE
%Lﬁ_o

-
N
(8]
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2.3 ISSUED BUT NOT YET EFFECTIVE INTERNATIONAL

FINANCIAL REPORTING STANDARDS

The Group has not applied the following new and revised IFRSs, that
have been issued but are not yet effective, in these financial

statements.

Amendments to IFRS 2

Amendments to IFRS 4

IFRS 9 (2014)

Amendments to IFRS 9

Amendments to IFRS 10
and IAS 28

IFRS 15

Amendments to IFRS 15

IFRS 16

Amendments to IAS 40
IFRIC Interpretation 22
IFRIC Interpretation 23

Annual Improvements
2014-2016

Amendments to IAS 28

Annual Improvements
2015-2017 Cycle

IFRS 17

Amendments to IAS 19

Classification and Measurement of
Share-based Payment Transactions'

Applying IFRS 9 Financial Instruments
with IFRS 4 Insurance Contracts'

Financial Instruments’

Prepayment Features with Negative
Compensation®

Sale or Contribution of Assets between
an Investor and its Associate or Joint
Venture*

Revenue from Contracts with Customers'

Clarifications to IFRS 15 Revenue from
Contracts with Customers'

Leases®

Transfers of Investment Property'

Foreign Currency Transactions and
Advance Consideration’

Uncertainty over Income Tax Treatments?

Amendments to IFRS 1 and Cycle
IAS 28'

Long-term Interests in associates and
Joint Ventures?

Amendments to IFRS 3, IFRS 11. IAS 12
and IAS 232

Insurance Contracts®

Plan Amendment, Curtailment or
Settlement®

NOTES TO CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (CONTINUED)
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2.3 ISSUED BUT NOT YET EFFECTIVE INTERNATIONAL 2.3

FINANCIAL REPORTING STANDARDS (Continued)

1 Effective for annual periods beginning on or after 1 January 2018
2 Effective for annual periods beginning on or after 1 January 2019
3 Effective for annual periods beginning on or after 1 January 2021
4 No mandatory effective date yet determined but available for adoption

Further information about these IFRSs that are expected to be
applicable to the Group is described below. The actual impacts upon
adoption could be different to those below, depending on additional
reasonable and supportable information being made available to the
Group at the time of applying the standards.

In July 2014, the IASB issued the final version of IFRS 9, bringing
together all phases of the financial instruments project to replace IAS
39 and all previous versions of IFRS 9. The standard introduces new
requirements for classification and measurement, impairment and
hedge accounting. The Group has early adopted IFRS 9 (2013) on 1
July 2014, while the Group expects to adopt the full text of IFRS 9 (2014)
from 1 January 2018. During 2017, the Group has performed a
detailed assessment of the impact of the adoption of IFRS 9. The
amendments are not expected to have any significant impact on the
Group's financial statements.
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2.3 ISSUED BUT NOT YET EFFECTIVE INTERNATIONAL
FINANCIAL REPORTING STANDARDS (Continued)

IFRS 15, issued in May 2014, establishes a new five-step model to
account for revenue arising from contracts with customers. Under
IFRS 15, revenue is recognised at an amount that reflects the
consideration to which an entity expects to be entitled in exchange
for transferring goods or services to a customer. The principles in IFRS
15 provide a more structured approach for measuring and recognising
revenue. The standard also introduces extensive qualitative and
quantitative disclosure requirements, including disaggregation of total
revenue, information about performance obligations, changes in
contract asset and liability account balances between periods and key
judgements and estimates. The standard will supersede all current
revenue recognition requirements under IFRSs. Either a full
retrospective application or a modified retrospective adoption is
required on the initial application of the standard. In April 2016, the
IASB issued amendments to IFRS 15 to address the implementation
issues on identifying performance obligations, application guidance
on principal versus agent and licences of intellectual property, and
transition. The amendments are also intended to help ensure a more
consistent application when entities adopt IFRS 15 and decrease the
cost and complexity of applying the standard. The Group will adopt
IFRS 15 from 1 January 2018. The Group plans to adopt the
transitional provisions in IFRS 15 to recognize the cumulative effect of
initial adoption as an adjustment to the opening balance of retained
earnings at 1 January 2018. In addition, the Group plans to apply the
new requirements only to contracts that are not complete before 1
January 2018. The Group expects that the transitional adjustment to
be made on 1 January 2018 upon initial adoption of IFRS 15 will not
be material. During 2017, the Group has performed a detailed
assessment on the impact of the adoption of IFRS 15.
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NOTES TO CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (CONTINUED)

EAMARERNEBR S

E!J(;)

BB B 7% 3k &5 ZE R S 1558 R 2014 4F 5 A
B BYT2HALEBUYUERA
W ETAR - RIBERBR SRS %
AIEE155E RN BRMEETE

%ﬁ%ﬁ%%ﬁﬁ&%%ﬁﬁ%&m
KRB o BIRR B 75 5 5 ZE R 55 1557 4R 4
FERGHENERWANT L £
BB AXREEELTERERT &
FEnBWA - BEBTEEHNER
ZHEZENEGNEEREBERES
BREB) - LA N E B R R ET o xR
BRABEESRELENETAAR
BRATERHTE - R ¥ 2 FE R % % R
B S22 EPERSSEHREPE
201648 BER e EREES
AR B B B 7S RS HE R BB 155 IS ET

NBIABANREET  ZEAERER
FEFRES| ABMERT T RBEZIEN
BEEME - B NEEHMERNEE
HMBE RSB REEREISREER
— B PR K E B 2R RI A A AN K 1S AR
o AEE G MH2018%F 1A 1H 5 49
BREF RS SRS ER 1557 ¢« A K E 2R
MBI ISR A ERIFE 155 P 8 H X
KWW RBEFEERTAEN2018F 1A
THMRBF BEVIEHOBIE KR
AN AREEF B &2 5 R 2018F 1 A1
HATMARZEXNERERFTRTE - A&
EBEHAREARMNERT BHREE
Bl 155 M H2018FE1 A1BHEHR 2
ATl @B T RE KR - R2017F - K
EEEYHEARKGBHREEDES
R EEITHRTE -



NOTES TO CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (CONTINUED)
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31 December2017 2017412 A31H

2.3 ISSUED BUT NOT YET EFFECTIVE INTERNATIONAL
FINANCIAL REPORTING STANDARDS (Continued)

The Group's principal activity consists of the manufacture and sale of
dairy and nourishment products. The expected impacts arising from
the adoption of IFRS 15 on the Group are summarised as follows:

(a)

(b)

Variable consideration on the sale of dairy
and nourishment products

The Group provides a right of return and trade discounts for
some of the sales contracts of dairy and nourishment with
customers. Currently, the Group recognises revenue from the
sale of goods measured at fair value of the consideration
received or receivable, net of returns and allowances and trade
discounts. If revenue cannot be reliably measured,
recognition is deferred until the uncertainty is resolved. Under
IFRS 15, a transaction price is considered variable if a customer
is provided with a right of return or trade discounts. The Group
is required to estimate the amount of consideration to which it
will be entitled in the sales of its dairy and nourishment and the
estimated amount of variable consideration will be included in
the transaction price only to the extent that it is highly probable
that a significant reversal in the amount of cumulative revenue
recognised will not occur when the uncertainty associated with
the variable consideration is subsequently resolved. The
amendments are not expected to have any significant impact on
the Group's financial statements.

revenue

Presentation and disclosure

The presentation and disclosure requirements in IFRS 15 are
more detailed than those under the current IAS 18. The
presentation requirements represent a significant change from
current practice and will significantly increase the volume of
disclosures required in the Group's financial statements. Many
of the disclosure requirements in IFRS 15 are new and the
Group has assessed that these requirements are not expected to
have any significant impact on the Group's financial statements.
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2.3 ISSUED BUT NOT YET EFFECTIVE INTERNATIONAL

FINANCIAL REPORTING STANDARDS (Continued)

IFRS 16, issued in January 2016, replaces IAS 17 Leases, IFRIC 4
Determining whether an Arrangement contains a Lease, SIC-15
Operating Leases — Incentives and SIC-27 Evaluating the Substance
of Transactions Involving the Legal Form of a Lease. The standard sets
out the principles for the recognition, measurement, presentation and
disclosure of leases and requires lessees to recognise assets and
liabilities for most leases. The standard includes two recognition
exemptions for lessees — leases of low-value assets and short-term
leases. At the commencement date of a lease, a lessee will recognise
a liability to make lease payments (i.e., the lease liability) and an asset
representing the right to use the underlying asset during the lease
term (i.e., the right-of-use asset). The right-of-use asset is
subsequently measured at cost less accumulated depreciation and any
impairment losses unless the right-of-use asset meets the definition of
investment property in IAS 40, or relates to a class of property, plant
and equipment to which the revaluation model is applied.

The lease liability is subsequently increased to reflect the interest on
the lease liability and reduced for the lease payments. Lessees will be
required to separately recognise the interest expense on the lease
liability and the depreciation expense on the right-of-use asset.
Lessees will also be required to remeasure the lease liability upon the
occurrence of certain events, such as change in the lease term and
change in future lease payments resulting from a change in an index
or rate used to determine those payments. Lessees will generally
recognise the amount of the remeasurement of the lease liability as
an adjustment to the right-of-use asset. Lessor accounting under IFRS
16 is substantially unchanged from the accounting under IAS 17.
Lessors will continue to classify all leases using the same classification
principle as in IAS 17 and distinguish between operating leases and
finance leases. IFRS 16 requires lessees and lessors to make more
extensive disclosures than under IAS 17. Lessees can choose to apply
the standard using either a full retrospective or a modified
retrospective approach. The Group expects to adopt IFRS 16 from 1
January 2019. The Group is currently assessing the impact of IFRS 16
upon adoption and is considering whether it will choose to take
advantage of the practical expedients available and which transition
approach and reliefs will be adopted.
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NOTES TO CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (CONTINUED)
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31 December2017 2017412 A31H

2.3 ISSUED BUT NOT YET EFFECTIVE INTERNATIONAL

FINANCIAL REPORTING STANDARDS (Continued)

As disclosed in note 36 to the financial statements, at 31 December
2017, the Group had future minimum lease payments under non-
cancellable operating leases in aggregate of approximately
RMB12,870,000. Upon adoption of IFRS 16, certain amounts included
therein may need to be recognised as new right-of-use assets and
lease liabilities. Further analysis, however, will be needed to determine
the amount of new rights of use assets and lease liabilities to be
recognised, including, but not limited to, any amounts relating to
leases of low-value assets and short term leases, other practical
expedients and reliefs chosen, and new leases entered into before the
date of adoption.

Amendments to IAS 40, issued in December 2016, clarify when an
entity should transfer property, including property under construction
or development, into or out of investment property. The amendments
state that a change in use occurs when the property meets, or ceases
to meet, the definition of investment property and there is evidence
of the change in use. A mere change in management’s intentions for
the use of a property does not provide evidence of a change in use.
The amendments should be applied prospectively to the changes in
use that occur on or after the beginning of the annual reporting
period in which the entity first applies the amendments. An entity
should reassess the classification of property held at the date that it
first applies the amendments and, if applicable, reclassify property to
reflect the conditions that exist at that date. Retrospective application
is only permitted if it is possible without the use of hindsight. The
Group expects to adopt the amendments prospectively from 1 January
2018. The amendments are not expected to have any significant
impact on the Group’s financial statements.
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2.3 ISSUED BUT NOT YET EFFECTIVE INTERNATIONAL
FINANCIAL REPORTING STANDARDS (Continued)

IFRIC 22, issued in December 2016, provides guidance on how to
determine the date of the transaction when applying IAS 21 to the
situation where an entity receives or pays advance consideration in a
foreign currency and recognises a non-monetary asset or liability. The
interpretation clarifies that the date of the transaction for the purpose
of determining the exchange rate to use on initial recognition of the
related asset, expense or income (or part of it) is the date on which an
entity initially recognises the non-monetary asset (such as a
prepayment) or non-monetary liability (such as deferred income)
arising from the payment or receipt of the advance consideration. If
there are multiple payments or receipts in advance of recognising the
related item, the entity must determine the transaction date for each
payment or receipt of the advance consideration. Entities may apply
the interpretation on a full retrospective basis or on a prospective
basis, either from the beginning of the reporting period in which the
entity first applies the interpretation or the beginning of the prior
reporting period presented as comparative information in the financial
statements of the reporting period in which the entity first applies the
interpretation. The Group expects to adopt the interpretation
prospectively from 1 January 2018. The interpretation is not expected
to have any significant impact on the Group's financial statements.

vy
w
N

IFRIC 23, issued in June 2017, addresses the accounting for income
taxes (current and deferred) when tax treatments involve uncertainty
that affects the application of IAS 12 (often referred to as “uncertain
tax positions”). The interpretation does not apply to taxes or levies
outside the scope of IAS 12, nor does it specifically include
requirements relating to interest and penalties associated with
uncertain tax treatments. The interpretation specifically addresses (i)
whether an entity considers uncertain tax treatments separately; (ii)
the assumptions an entity makes about the examination of tax
treatments by taxation authorities; (i) how an entity determines
taxable profits or tax losses, tax bases, unused tax losses, unused tax
credits and tax rates; and (iv) how an entity considers changes in facts
and circumstances. The interpretation is to be applied retrospectively,
either fully retrospectively without the use of hindsight or
retrospectively with the cumulative effect of application as an
adjustment to the opening equity at the date of initial application,
without the restatement of comparative information. The Group
expects to adopt the interpretation from 1 January 2019. The
interpretation is not expected to have any significant impact on the
Group's financial statements.
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2.3

2.4

ISSUED BUT NOT YET EFFECTIVE INTERNATIONAL
FINANCIAL REPORTING STANDARDS (Continued)

The Group is in the process of making an assessment of the impact of
other new and revised IFRSs upon initial application but is not yet in a
position to state whether these new and revised IFRSs would have a
significant impact on the Group’s results of operations and financial
position.

SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING
POLICIES

Business combinations and goodwiill

Business combinations are accounted for using the acquisition
method. The consideration transferred is measured at the acquisition
date fair value which is the sum of the acquisition date fair values of
assets transferred by the Group, liabilities assumed by the Group to
the former owners of the acquiree and the equity interests issued by
the Group in exchange for control of the acquiree. For each business
combination, the Group elects whether to measure the non-
controlling interests in the acquiree that are present ownership
interests and entitle their holders to a proportionate share of net
assets in the event of liquidation at fair value or at the proportionate
share of the acquiree’s identifiable net assets. All other components
of non-controlling interests are measured at fair value. Acquisition-
related costs are expensed as incurred.

When the Group acquires a business, it assesses the financial assets
and liabilities assumed for appropriate classification and designation
in accordance with the contractual terms, economic circumstances
and pertinent conditions as at the acquisition date. This includes the
separation of embedded derivatives in host contracts of the acquiree.

If the business combination is achieved in stages, the previously held
equity interest is remeasured at its acquisition date fair value and any
resulting gain or loss is recognised in profit or loss.

Any contingent consideration to be transferred by the acquirer is
recognised at fair value at the acquisition date. Contingent
consideration classified as an asset or liability is measured at fair value
with changes in fair value recognised in profit or loss. Contingent
consideration that is classified as equity is not remeasured and
subsequent settlement is accounted for within equity.
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2.4 SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING 24 FEETBEREw@

-
w
H

£10z 1oday [enuuy Py SBUIP|OH [BUOIIBUISIU 1]IysEA

POLICIES (Continued)

Business combinations and goodwill (Continued)

Goodwill is initially measured at cost, being the excess of the
aggregate of the consideration transferred, the amount recognised
for non-controlling interests and any fair value of the Group's
previously held equity interests in the acquiree over the identifiable
net assets acquired and liabilities assumed. If the sum of this
consideration and other items is lower than the fair value of the net
assets acquired, the difference is, after reassessment, recognised in
profit or loss as a gain on bargain purchase.

After initial recognition, goodwill is measured at cost less any
accumulated impairment losses. Goodwill is tested for impairment
annually or more frequently if events or changes in circumstances
indicate that the carrying value may be impaired. The Group performs
its annual impairment test of goodwill as at 31 December. For the
purpose of impairment testing, goodwill acquired in a business
combination is, from the acquisition date, allocated to each of the
Group's cash-generating units, or groups of cash-generating units,
that are expected to benefit from the synergies of the combination,
irrespective of whether other assets or liabilities of the Group are
assigned to those units or groups of units.

Impairment is determined by assessing the recoverable amount of the
cash-generating unit (group of cash-generating units) to which the
goodwill relates. Where the recoverable amount of the cash-
generating unit (group of cash-generating units) is less than the
carrying amount, an impairment loss is recognised. An impairment
loss recognised for goodwill is not reversed in a subsequent period.

Where goodwill has been allocated to a cash-generating unit (or
group of cash-generating units) and part of the operation within that
unit is disposed of, the goodwill associated with the operation
disposed of is included in the carrying amount of the operation when
determining the gain or loss on the disposal. Goodwill disposed of in
these circumstances is measured based on the relative value of the
operation disposed of and the portion of the cash-generating unit
retained.
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2.4 SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING 24 FEETFBERE W@

POLICIES (Continued)

Fair value measurement

The Group measures its derivative financial instruments at fair value at
the end of each reporting period. Fair value is the price that would be
received to sell an asset or paid to transfer a liability in an orderly
transaction between market participants at the measurement date.
The fair value measurement is based on the presumption that the
transaction to sell the asset or transfer the liability takes place either in
the principal market for the asset or liability, or in the absence of a
principal market, in the most advantageous market for the asset or
liability. The principal or the most advantageous market must be
accessible by the Group. The fair value of an asset or a liability is
measured using the assumptions that market participants would use
when pricing the asset or liability, assuming that market participants
act in their economic best interest.

A fair value measurement of a non-financial asset takes into account
a market participant’s ability to generate economic benefits by using
the asset in its highest and best use or by selling it to another market
participant that would use the asset in its highest and best use.

The Group uses valuation techniques that are appropriate in the
circumstances and for which sufficient data are available to measure
fair value, maximising the use of relevant observable inputs and
minimising the use of unobservable inputs.
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POLICIES (Continued)

Fair value measurement (Continued)

All assets and liabilities for which fair value is measured or disclosed in
the financial statements are categorised within the fair value
hierarchy, described as follows, based on the lowest level input that is
significant to the fair value measurement as a whole:

AREBEFTE @

EEMBHRR EARXABEFTEM
BRENBEMAE ERXH2AEER
ERXRBMFEZNHAEMBEHRE
BR DBRATER:

Level I — based on quoted prices (unadjusted) in active markets FIEXR —NUEERMSEPHERBEE
for identical assets or liabilities. HEEHRE(CREHEER)
RIEEANEBE-

Level 2 — based on valuation technigues for which the lowest level
input that is significant to the fair value measurement is
observable, either directly or indirectly.

Level 3 — based on valuation technigues for which the lowest level
input that is significant to the fair value measurement is
unobservable.

For assets and liabilities that are recognised in the financial statements
on a recurring basis, the Group determines whether transfers have
occurred between levels in the hierarchy by reassessing categorisation
(based on the lowest level input that is significant to the fair value
measurement as a whole) at the end of each reporting period.

Impairment of non-financial assets

Where an indication of impairment exists, or when annual impairment
testing for an asset is required (other than inventories, deferred tax
assets and financial assets), the asset’s recoverable amount is
estimated. An asset’s recoverable amount is the higher of the asset’s
or cash-generating unit’s value in use and its fair value less costs of
disposal, and is determined for an individual asset, unless the asset
does not generate cash inflows that are largely independent of those
from other assets or groups of assets, in which case the recoverable
amount is determined for the cash-generating unit to which the asset
belongs.
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2.4 SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING 24 FEETFBERE W@

POLICIES (Continued)

Impairment of non-financial assets (Continued)

An impairment loss is recognised only if the carrying amount of an
asset exceeds its recoverable amount. In assessing value in use, the
estimated future cash flows are discounted to their present value
using a pre-tax discount rate that reflects current market assessments
of the time value of money and the risks specific to the asset. An
impairment loss is charged to the statement of profit or loss in the
period in which it arises in those expense categories consistent with
the function of the impaired asset.

An assessment is made at the end of each reporting period as to
whether there is an indication that previously recognised impairment
losses may no longer exist or may have decreased. If such an
indication exists, the recoverable amount is estimated. A previously
recognised impairment loss of an asset other than goodwill is reversed
only if there has been a change in the estimates used to determine
the recoverable amount of that asset, but not to an amount higher
than the carrying amount that would have been determined (net of
any depreciation/amortisation) had no impairment loss been
recognised for the asset in prior years. A reversal of such an
impairment loss is credited to the statement of profit or loss in the
period in which it arises.
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2.4 SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING 24 FEEHHERE @)
POLICIES (Continued)
Related parties B AL
A party is considered to be related to the Group if: — SR AEAREB G - M
(@) the party is a person or a close member of that person’s family @ ZIRZBATREHNALTRE
and that person B Mm&B AL
(i)  has control or joint control over the Group; () PRl REGAER :
(i) has significant influence over the Group; or (i) BHAEBBMEAFZE: 5
(iiy is a member of the key management personnel of the (i) AXEBHIAEEGAEE
Group or of a parent of the Group; ZEBABMNKE
138 or =54
2
E) (b)  the party is an entity where any of the following conditions by ZHBEE TN FAIEENEEE :
5 applies:
3
3
5 () the entity and the Group are members of the same group; () ZEREAAEEHEEBER —%
2 o) A=W/NE]
I
o
o
@ (i)  one entity is an associate or joint venture of the other iy —HMEELAEAR—BTEMNKS
5 entity (or of a parent, subsidiary or fellow subsidiary of the RAFEERE(HS—F
> other entity); B QR FRABKMAR
> N
2 FRAZET)
-
8 (i) the entity and the Group are joint ventures of the same (i ZEBEKAEEH AR —F
N third party; =AM EERE:
(iv)  one entity is a joint venture of a third entity and the other vy —HERBAEFE=-FE ﬁ“ 0a
entity is an associate of the third entity; B ME—EBEBRZE
=HERBNEE QA
(v)  the entity is a post-employment benefit plan for the v, ZERAHBEEAE-
benefit of employees of either the Group or an entity ZaTEM X ABARNEBE K
related to the Group; HAEBEBEHENELES
(vi) the entity is controlled or jointly controlled by a person (Vi) ZEEH@IBATIMATES
identified in (a); s REE A
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2.4 SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING 24 FEETFBERE W@

POLICIES (Continued)

Related parties (Continued)
(b)  (Continued)

(vii) a person identified in (a)(i) has significant influence over
the entity or is a member of the key management
personnel of the entity (or of a parent of the entity); and

(viii) the entity, or any member of a group of which it is a part,
provides key management personnel services to the Group
or to the parent of the Group.

Property, plant and equipment and depreciation

Property, plant and equipment, other than construction in progress,
are stated at cost less accumulated depreciation and any impairment
losses. When an item of property, plant and equipment is classified as
held for sale or when it is part of a disposal group classified as held
for sale, it is not depreciated and is accounted for in accordance with
IFRS 5, as further explained in the accounting policy for “Non-current
assets and disposal groups held for sale”. The cost of an item of
property, plant and equipment comprises its purchase price and any
directly attributable costs of bringing the asset to its working
condition and location for its intended use.

Expenditure incurred after items of property, plant and equipment
have been put into operation, such as repairs and maintenance, is
normally charged to the statement of profit or loss in the period in
which it is incurred. In situations where the recognition criteria are
satisfied, the expenditure for a major inspection is capitalised in the
carrying amount of the asset as a replacement. Where significant
parts of property, plant and equipment are required to be replaced at
intervals, the Group recognises such parts as individual assets with
specific useful lives and depreciates them accordingly.
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POLICIES (Continued)

Property, plant and equipment and depreciation
(Continued)

Depreciation is calculated on the straight-line basis to write off the
cost of each item of property, plant and equipment to its residual
value over its estimated useful life. The estimated useful lives of
property, plant and equipment are as follows:

ME BERKBURITE

(%)

FEDEME BERRENSEHEE
P E A ET R E A B A B O MUORLE
RAZERKREE - VE  BFELRED
fmEt A EAFES:

Freehold land Not depreciated SRt TRITE
Plant and buildings 13-47 years W= RET 13-47 5
Machinery and equipment 5-10 years e R R 5-104F
Motor vehicles 4-5 years HWEhE 4-5%F
Office equipment and others 3-5 years MAERERHMER 3-54F

Where parts of an item of property, plant and equipment have
different useful lives, the cost of that item is allocated on a reasonable
basis among the parts and each part is depreciated separately.
Residual values, useful lives and the depreciation method are
reviewed, and adjusted if appropriate, at least at each financial year
end.

An item of property, plant and equipment including any significant
part initially recognised is derecognised upon disposal or when no
future economic benefits are expected from its use or disposal. Any
gain or loss on disposal or retirement recognised in the statement of
profit or loss in the year the asset is derecognised is the difference
between the net sales proceeds and the carrying amount of the
relevant asset.

Construction in progress represents property, plant and equipment
under construction, which is stated at cost less any impairment losses,
and is not depreciated. Cost comprises the direct costs of construction
and capitalised borrowing costs on related borrowed funds during
the period of construction. Construction in progress is reclassified to
the appropriate category of property, plant and equipment when
completed and ready for use.

W—EYE BMEERBOEHEDEE
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2.4 SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING QAT EEHHRBE @

POLICIES (Continued)

Investment properties

Investment properties are interests in buildings held to earn rental
income and/or for capital appreciation, rather than for use in the
production or supply of goods or services or for administrative
purposes; or for sale in the ordinary course of business. Such
properties are measured initially at cost, including transaction costs.
Subsequent to initial recognition, investment properties are measured
at cost less accumulated depreciation and impairment losses.

Depreciation is based on the cost of an asset less its residual value.
Depreciation is recognised in profit or loss on a straight-line basis over
the estimated useful lives of investment properties. The estimated
useful lives are 50 years. Depreciation methods, useful lives and
residual values are reassessed at each reporting date.

Any gains or losses on the retirement or disposal of an investment
property are recognised in the statement of profit or loss in the year
of the retirement or disposal.

Non-current assets and disposal groups held for
sale

Non-current assets and disposal groups are classified as held for sale if
their carrying amounts will be recovered principally through a sales
transaction rather than through continuing use. For this to be the
case, the asset or disposal group must be available for immediate sale
in its present condition subject only to terms that are usual and
customary for the sale of such assets or disposal groups and its sale
must be highly probable. All assets and liabilities of a subsidiary
classified as a disposal group are reclassified as held for sale regardless
of whether the Group retains a non-controlling interest in its former
subsidiary after the sale.

Non-current assets and disposal groups (other than financial assets)
classified as held for sale are measured at the lower of their carrying
amounts and fair values less costs to sell. Property, plant and
equipment and intangible assets classified as held for sale are not
depreciated or amortised.
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2.4 SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING 24 FEETBEREw@

POLICIES (Continued)

Intangible assets (other than goodwill)

Intangible assets acquired separately are measured on initial
recognition at cost. The cost of intangible assets acquired in a
business combination is the fair value as at the date of acquisition.
The useful lives of intangible assets are assessed to be either finite or
indefinite. Intangible assets with finite lives are subsequently
amortised over the useful economic life and assessed for impairment
whenever there is an indication that the intangible asset may be
impaired. The amortisation period and the amortisation method for
an intangible asset with a finite useful life are reviewed at least at
each financial year end.

BREE (BERM)

ERURBNEREERVTEARR
KAFTE REBAHEMEBEETLE
ENRARERKBEEROAAE &
WEEMAERFHAFGERAERL
ER -FHARNEBHEEENAIERL
BEMAEE INERRBRNELE
ER e R ER A RE - A ERF
MERNELEENHIEFH R #H
TEEIREVRFELEEAER —

R e

Intangible assets with indefinite useful lives are tested for impairment FHERNBEEEGTFHEBIU
149 annually either individually or at the cash-generating unit level. Such NWeBANTFRNETHS - ZEREET
intangible assets are not amortised. The useful life of an intangible HITEHE FHERMNERLEESTEH
asset with an indefinite life is reviewed annually to determine whether EITERERAAUNCERTEE
the indefinite life assessment continues to be supportable. If not, the BAEHERNEKEE WEREES &

£10z 1oday [enuuy Py SBUIP|OH [BUOIIBUISIU 1]IysEA

change in the useful life assessment from indefinite to finite is
accounted for on a prospective basis.

Office software

Office software is stated at cost less any impairment losses and is
amortised on the straight-line basis over its estimated useful life of 5
years.

Research and development costs
All research costs are charged to the statement of profit or loss as
incurred.

Expenditure incurred on projects to develop new products is
capitalised and deferred only when the Group can demonstrate the
technical feasibility of completing the intangible asset so that it will be
available for use or sale, its intention to complete and its ability to use
or sell the asset, how the asset will generate future economic benefits,
the availability of resources to complete the project and the ability to
measure reliably the expenditure during the development. Product
development expenditure which does not meet these criteria is
expensed when incurred.

Deferred development costs are stated at cost less any impairment
losses and are amortised using the straight-line basis over the
commercial lives of the underlying products, commencing from the
date when the products are put into commercial production.
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2.4 SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING 24 FEETFBERE W@

POLICIES (Continued)

Operating leases

Leases where substantially all the rewards and risks of ownership of
assets remain with the lessor are accounted for as operating leases.
Where the Group is the lessor, assets leased by the Group under
operating leases are included in non-current assets, and rentals
receivable under the operating leases are credited to the statement of
profit or loss on the straight-line basis over the lease terms. Where the
Group is the lessee, rentals payable under operating leases net of any
incentives received from the lessor are charged to the statement of
profit or loss on the straight-line basis over the lease terms.

Prepaid land lease payments under operating leases are initially stated
at cost and subsequently recognised on the straight-line basis over the
lease terms.

Investments and other financial assets

Initial recognition and measurement
The Group recognises financial assets at which the Group becomes a
party to the contractual provisions of the instruments.

Regular way purchases and sales of financial assets are recognised on
the trade date, the date on which the Group commits to purchase or
sell the asset. Regular way purchases or sales are purchases or sales of
financial assets that require delivery of assets within the period
generally established by regulation or convention in the marketplace.

At initial recognition, the Group measures a financial asset at its fair
value plus, in the case of a financial asset not at fair value through
profit or loss, transaction costs that are directly attributable to the
acquisition of the financial asset. Transaction costs of financial assets
carried at fair value though profit or loss are expensed in the
statement of profit or loss.

This classification depends on whether the financial asset is a debt or
equity investment.

Financial assets are classified, at initial recognition, as debt instruments
at amortised cost, debt instruments, derivatives and equity
instruments at fair value through profit or loss and equity instruments
designated as measured at fair value through other comprehensive
income (with gains and losses remaining in other comprehensive
income, without recycling).
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POLICIES (Continued)

Investments and other financial assets (Continued)

Initial recognition and measurement (Continued)
A financial asset is classified as a debt instrument at amortised cost, if:

° the asset is held within a business model whose objective is to
hold assets in order to collect contractual cash flows; and

o the contractual terms of the financial asset give rise, on specified
dates, to cash flows that are solely payments of principal and
interest.

All other financial assets are measured at fair value through profit or
loss, except that for investments in equity instruments that are not
held for trading, the Group may elect at initial recognition to present
gains and losses in other comprehensive income (“OCI").

Subsequent measurement
The subsequent measurement of financial assets depends on their
classification as follows:

Debt instruments at amortised cost

A gain or loss on a debt investment that is subsequently measured at
amortised cost and is not part of a hedging relationship is recognised
in profit or loss when the financial asset is derecognised or impaired
and through the amortisation process using the effective interest rate
method.

Debt instruments, derivatives and equity instruments at
fair value through profit or loss

A gain or loss on debt investments, derivatives and equity instruments
that are subsequently measured at fair value and are not part of a
hedging relationship is recognised in profit or loss and presented in
the statement of profit or loss in the period in which it arise.
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2.4 SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING 24 FEEHBERBE @

POLICIES (Continued)

Investments and other financial assets (continued)

Subsequent measurement (Continued)

Equity instruments designated as measured at fair value
through other comprehensive income

The Group subsequently measures all equity investments at fair value.
Where the Group’s management has elected to present unrealised
and realised fair value gains and losses on equity investments in other
comprehensive income, there is no subsequent recycling of fair value
gains and losses to profit or loss. Dividends from such investments
continue to be recognised in profit or loss as long as they represent a
return on investment.

The Group is required to reclassify all affected debt investments when,
and only when, its business model for managing those assets
changes.

Derecognition of financial assets

A financial asset (or, where applicable, a part of a financial asset or
part of a group of similar financial assets) is primarily derecognised (i.e.,
removed from the Group’s consolidated statement of financial
position) when:

° the rights to receive cash flows from the asset have expired; or

° the Group has transferred its rights to receive cash flows from
the asset, or has assumed an obligation to pay the received cash
flows in full without material delay to a third party under a
“pass-through” arrangement; and either (a) the Group has
transferred substantially all the risks and rewards of the asset; or
(b) the Group has neither transferred nor retained substantially
all the risks and rewards of the asset, but has transferred control
of the asset.

When the Group has transferred its rights to receive cash flows from
an asset or has entered into a pass-through arrangement, it evaluates
if and to what extent it has retained the risk and rewards of
ownership of the asset. When it has neither transferred nor retained
substantially all the risks and rewards of the asset nor transferred
control of the asset, the Group continues to recognise the transferred
asset to the extent of the Group’s continuing involvement. In that
case, the Group also recognises an associated liability. The transferred
asset and the associated liability are measured on a basis that reflects
the rights and obligations that the Group has retained.
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POLICIES (Continued)

Derecognition of financial assets (Continued)

Continuing involvement that takes the form of a guarantee over the
transferred asset is measured at the lower of the original carrying
amount of the asset and the maximum amount of consideration that
the Group could be required to repay.

Impairment of financial assets

The Group assesses at the end of each reporting period whether there
is objective evidence that a financial asset or a group of financial
assets is impaired. An impairment exists if one or more events that
occurred after the initial recognition of the asset have an impact on
the estimated future cash flows of the financial asset or the group of
financial assets that can be reliably estimated. Evidence of impairment
may include indications that a debtor or a group of debtors is
experiencing significant financial difficulty, default or delinquency in
interest or principal payments, the probability that they will enter
bankruptcy or other financial reorganisation and observable data
indicating that there is a measurable decrease in the estimated future
cash flows, such as changes in arrears or economic conditions that
correlate with defaults.

Financial assets carried at amortised cost

For financial assets carried at amortised cost, the Group first assesses
whether impairment exists individually for financial assets that are
individually significant, or collectively for financial assets that are not
individually significant. If the Group determines that no objective
evidence of impairment exists for an individually assessed financial
asset, whether significant or not, it includes the asset in a group of
financial assets with similar credit risk characteristics and collectively
assesses them for impairment. Assets that are individually assessed for
impairment and for which an impairment loss is, or continues to be,
recognised are not included in a collective assessment of impairment.

The amount of any impairment loss identified is measured as the
difference between the asset’s carrying amount and the present value
of estimated future cash flows (excluding future credit losses that
have not yet been incurred). The present value of the estimated future
cash flows is discounted at the financial asset's original effective
interest rate (i.e., the effective interest rate computed at initial
recognition).
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POLICIES (Continued)

Impairment of financial assets (Continued)

Financial assets carried at amortised cost (Continued)
The carrying amount of the asset is reduced through the use of an
allowance account and the amount of the loss is recognised in the
statement of profit or loss. Interest income continues to be accrued
on the reduced carrying amount using the rate of interest used to
discount the future cash flows for the purpose of measuring the
impairment loss. Loans and receivables together with any associated
allowance are written off when there is no realistic prospect of future
recovery and all collateral has been realised or has been transferred to
the Group.

If, in a subsequent period, the amount of the estimated impairment
loss increases or decreases because of an event occurring after the
impairment was recognised, the previously recognised impairment
loss is increased or reduced by adjusting the allowance account. If a
write-off is later recovered, the recovery is credited to other expenses
in the statement of profit or loss.

Financial liabilities

Initial recognition and measurement

Financial liabilities are classified, at initial recognition, as financial
liabilities at fair value through profit or loss, loans and borrowings, or
as derivatives designated as hedging instruments in an effective
hedge, as appropriate.

All financial liabilities are recognised initially at fair value and, in the
case of loans and borrowings, net of directly attributable transaction
costs.

The Group's financial liabilities include trade payables, other payables,
interest-bearing bank loans, other loans and other financial liabilities.
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POLICIES (Continued)

Financial liabilities (continued)

Subsequent measurement
The subsequent measurement of financial liabilities depends on their
classification as follows:

Loans and borrowings

After initial recognition, interest-bearing loans and borrowings are
subsequently measured at amortised cost, using the effective interest
rate method unless the effect of discounting would be immaterial, in
which case they are stated at cost. Gains and losses are recognised in
the consolidated statement of profit or loss when the liabilities are
derecognised as well as through the effective interest rate
amortisation process.

Amortised cost is calculated by taking into account any discount or
premium on acquisition and fees or costs that are an integral part of
the effective interest rate. The effective interest rate amortisation is
included in finance costs in the statement of profit or loss.

Financial guarantee contracts

Financial guarantee contracts issued by the Group are those contracts
that require a payment to be made to reimburse the holder for a loss
it incurs because the specified debtor fails to make a payment when
due in accordance with the terms of a debt instrument. A financial
guarantee contract is recognised initially as a liability at its fair value,
adjusted for transaction costs that are directly attributable to the
issuance of the guarantee. Subsequent to initial recognition, the
Group measures the financial guarantee contract at the higher of: (i)
the amount of the best estimate of the expenditure required to settle
the present obligation at the end of the reporting period; and (i) the
amount initially recognised less, when appropriate, cumulative
amortisation.
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2.4 SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING 24 FEETFBERE W@

POLICIES (Continued)

Derecognition of financial liabilities

A financial liability is derecognised when the obligation under the
liability is discharged or cancelled, or expires.

When an existing financial liability is replaced by another from the
same lender on substantially different terms, or the terms of an
existing liability are substantially modified, such an exchange or
modification is treated as a derecognition of the original liability and a
recognition of a new liability, and the difference between the
respective carrying amounts is recognised in the statement of profit or
loss.

Offsetting of financial instruments

Financial assets and financial liabilities are offset and the net amount
is reported in the statement of financial position if there is a currently
enforceable legal right to offset the recognised amounts and there is
an intention to settle on a net basis, or to realise the assets and settle
the liabilities simultaneously.

Inventories

Inventories are stated at the lower of cost and net realisable value.
Cost is determined on the weighted average cost basis and, in the
case of work in progress and finished goods, comprises direct
materials, direct labour and an appropriate proportion of overheads.
Net realisable value is based on estimated selling prices less any
estimated costs to be incurred to completion and disposal.

Cash and cash equivalents

For the purpose of the consolidated statement of cash flows, cash and
cash equivalents comprise cash on hand and demand deposits, and
short-term highly liquid investments that are readily convertible into
known amounts of cash, are subject to an insignificant risk of changes
in value, and have a short maturity of generally within three months
when acquired, less bank overdrafts which are repayable on demand
and form an integral part of the Group’s cash management.

For the purpose of the consolidated statement of financial position,
cash and cash equivalents comprise cash on hand and at banks,
including term deposits, and assets similar in nature to cash, which
are not restricted as to use.
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POLICIES (Continued)

Provisions

A provision is recognised when a present obligation (legal or
constructive) has arisen as a result of a past event and it is probable
that a future outflow of resources will be required to settle the
obligation, provided that a reliable estimate can be made of the
amount of the obligation.

When the effect of discounting is material, the amount recognised for
a provision is the present value at the end of the reporting period of
the future expenditures expected to be required to settle the
obligation. The increase in the discounted present value amount
arising from the passage of time is included in finance costs in the
statement of profit or loss.

Income tax

Income tax comprises current and deferred tax. Income tax relating to
items recognised outside profit or loss is recognised outside profit or
loss, either in other comprehensive income or directly in equity.

Current tax assets and liabilities are measured at the amount expected
to be recovered from or paid to the taxation authorities, based on tax
rates (and tax laws) that have been enacted or substantively enacted
by the end of the reporting period, taking into consideration
interpretations and practices prevailing in the countries in which the
Group operates.

Deferred tax is provided, using the liability method, on all temporary
differences at the end of the reporting period between the tax bases
of assets and liabilities and their carrying amounts for financial
reporting purposes.
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2.4 SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING

POLICIES (Continued)

Income tax (Continued)

Deferred tax liabilities are recognised for all taxable temporary
differences, except:

° when the deferred tax liability arises from the initial recognition
of goodwill or an asset or liability in a transaction that is not a
business combination and, at the time of the transaction, affects
neither the accounting profit nor taxable profit or loss; and

o in respect of taxable temporary differences associated with
investments in subsidiaries, when the timing of the reversal of
the temporary differences can be controlled and it is probable
that the temporary differences will not reverse in the foreseeable
future.

Deferred tax assets are recognised for all deductible temporary
differences, the carryforward of unused tax credits and any unused
tax losses. Deferred tax assets are recognised to the extent that it is
probable that taxable profit will be available against which the
deductible temporary differences, the carryforward of unused tax
credits and unused tax losses can be utilised, except:

° when the deferred tax asset relating to the deductible temporary
differences arises from the initial recognition of an asset or
liability in a transaction that is not a business combination and,
at the time of the transaction, affects neither the accounting
profit nor taxable profit or loss; and

° in respect of deductible temporary differences associated with
investments in subsidiaries, deferred tax assets are only
recognised to the extent that it is probable that the temporary
differences will reverse in the foreseeable future and taxable
profit will be available against which the temporary differences
can be utilised.

The carrying amount of deferred tax assets is reviewed at the end of
each reporting period and reduced to the extent that it is no longer
probable that sufficient taxable profit will be available to allow all or
part of the deferred tax asset to be utilised. Unrecognised deferred
tax assets are reassessed at the end of each reporting period and are
recognised to the extent that it has become probable that sufficient
taxable profit will be available to allow all or part of the deferred tax
asset to be recovered.
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POLICIES (Continued)

Income tax (Continued)

Deferred tax assets and liabilities are measured at the tax rates that
are expected to apply to the period when the asset is realised or the
liability is settled, based on tax rates (and tax laws) that have been
enacted or substantively enacted by the end of the reporting period.

Deferred tax assets and deferred tax liabilities are offset if and only if
the Group has a legally enforceable right to set off current tax assets
and current tax liabilities and the deferred tax assets and deferred tax
liabilities relate to income taxes levied by the same taxation authority
on either the same taxable entity or different taxable entities which
intend either to settle current tax liabilities and assets on a net basis,
or to realise the assets and settle the liabilities simultaneously, in each
future period in which significant amounts of deferred tax liabilities or
assets are expected to be settled or recovered.

Government grants

Government grants are recognised at their fair value where there is
reasonable assurance that the grant will be received and all attaching
conditions will be complied with. When the grant relates to an
expense item, it is recognised as income on a systematic basis over
the periods that the costs, which it is intended to compensate, are
expensed.

Where the grant relates to an asset, the fair value is credited to a
deferred income account and is released to the statement of profit or
loss over the expected useful life of the relevant asset by equal annual
instalments or deducted from the carrying amount of the asset and
released to the statement of profit or loss by way of a reduced
depreciation charge.

Revenue recognition

Revenue is recognised when it is probable that the economic benefits
will flow to the Group and when the revenue can be measured
reliably, on the following bases:
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POLICIES (Continued)

Revenue recognition (Continued)

Rental income
Revenue is recognised on a time proportion basis over the lease terms.

Interest income

Revenue is recognised on an accrual basis using the effective interest
method by applying the rate that exactly discounts the estimated
future cash receipts over the expected life of the financial instrument
or a shorter period, when appropriate, to the net carrying amount of
the financial asset.

Dividends
Revenue is recognised when the shareholders’ right to receive the
payment has been established.

Employee benefits

Defined contribution plans

The Group's subsidiaries operating in the People’s Republic of China (the
"PRC") except for Hong Kong (“Mainland China”) participate in a
central defined contribution retirement benefit plan managed by the
local municipal government in the locations in which they operate.
Contributions are made based on a percentage of the companies’
payroll costs and are charged to the consolidated statement of profit
or loss as they become payable in accordance with the rules of the
central defined contribution retirement benefit plan.

Short term employee benefits

Short term employee benefit obligations are measured on an
undiscounted basis and are expensed as the related service is
provided.

A provision is recognised for the amount expected to be paid under
short-term cash bonus or profit-sharing plans if the Group has a
present legal or constructive obligation to pay this amount as a result
of past services provided by the employee and the obligation can be
estimated reliably.
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POLICIES (Continued)

Employee benefits (continued)

Share-based payments

The Group operates share option schemes for the purpose of
providing incentives and rewards to eligible participants who
contribute to the success of the Group’'s operations. Employees
(including directors) of the Group receive remuneration in the form of
share-based payments, whereby employees render services as
consideration for equity instruments (" equity-settled transactions”).

The cost of equity-settled transactions with employees is measured by
reference to the fair value at the date on which they are granted. The
fair value is determined by an external valuer using a binomial model.

The cost of equity-settled transactions is recognised in employee
benefit expense, together with a corresponding increase in equity,
over the period in which the performance and/or service conditions
are fulfilled. The cumulative expense recognised for equity-settled
transactions at the end of each reporting period until the vesting date
reflects the extent to which the vesting period has expired and the
Group's best estimate of the number of equity instruments that will
ultimately vest. The charge or credit to the statement of profit or loss
for a period represents the movement in the cumulative expense
recognised as at the beginning and end of that period.

Service and non-market performance conditions are not taken into
account when determining the grant date fair value of awards, but
the likelihood of the conditions being met is assessed as part of the
Group's best estimate of the number of equity instruments that will
ultimately vest. Market performance conditions are reflected within
the grant date fair value. Any other conditions attached to an award,
but without an associated service requirement, are considered to be
non-vesting conditions. Non-vesting conditions are reflected in the
fair value of an award and lead to an immediate expensing of an
award unless there are also service and/or performance conditions.
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POLICIES (Continued)

Employee benefits (continued)

Share-based payments (Continued)

For awards that do not ultimately vest because non-market
performance and/or service conditions have not been met, no expense
is recognised. Where awards include a market or non-vesting
condition, the transactions are treated as vesting irrespective of
whether the market or non-vesting condition is satisfied, provided
that all other performance and/or service conditions are satisfied.

Where the terms of an equity-settled award are modified, the
minimum expense recognised is the expense as if the terms had not
been modified, if the original terms of the award are met. An
additional expense is recognised for any modification that increases
the total fair value of the equity-settled transactions or is otherwise
beneficial to the employee as measured at the date of modification.

Where a share-based option award is cancelled, it is treated as if it
had vested on the date of cancellation, and any expense not yet
recognised for the award is recognised immediately. This includes any
award where non-vesting conditions within the control of either the
Group or the employee are not met. However, if a new award is
substituted for the cancelled award, and designated as a replacement
award on the date that it is granted, the cancelled and new awards
are treated as if they were a modification of the original award, as
described in the previous paragraph.

The dilutive effect of outstanding options is reflected as additional
share dilution in the computation of earnings per share.
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2.4 SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING 24 FEETBEREw@

-—
w
o

£10z 1oday [enuuy Py SBUIP|OH [BUOIIBUISIU 1]IysEA

POLICIES (Continued)

Employee benefits (continued)

Share-based payments (Continued)

Where a share-based option award is cancelled, it is treated as if it
had vested on the date of cancellation, and any expense not yet
recognised for the award is recognised immediately. This includes any
award where non-vesting conditions within the control of either the
Group or the employee are not met. However, if a new award is
substituted for the cancelled award, and designated as a replacement
award on the date that it is granted, the cancelled and new awards
are treated as if they were a modification of the original award, as
described in the previous paragraph. Any payment made to the
employee on the cancellation or settlement of the grant shall be
accounted for as the repurchase of an equity interest, i.e. as a
deduction from equity, except to the extent that the payment exceeds
the fair value of the equity instruments granted, measured at the
repurchase date. Any such excess shall be recognised as an expense.

The dilutive effect of outstanding options is reflected as additional
share dilution in the computation of earnings per share.

Borrowing costs

Borrowing costs directly attributable to the acquisition, construction
or production of qualifying assets, i.e., assets that necessarily take a
substantial period of time to get ready for their intended use or sale,
are capitalised as part of the cost of those assets. The capitalisation of
such borrowing costs ceases when the assets are substantially ready
for their intended use or sale. Investment income earned on the
temporary investment of specific borrowings pending their
expenditure on qualifying assets is deducted from the borrowing costs
capitalised. All other borrowing costs are expensed in the period in
which they are incurred. Borrowing costs consist of interest and other
costs that an entity incurs in connection with the borrowing of funds.
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2.4 SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING 24 FEETFBERE W@

POLICIES (Continued)

Dividends

Final dividends are recognised as a liability when they are approved by
the shareholders in a general meeting. Proposed final dividends are
disclosed in the notes to the financial statements.

Interim dividends are simultaneously proposed and declared.
Consequently, interim dividends are recognised immediately as a
liability when they are proposed and declared.

Foreign currencies

Each entity in the Group determines its own functional currency based
on the assessment of its specific facts and circumstances. Once the
functional currency is determined, it can be changed only if there is a
change to the underlying transactions, events and conditions. As the
Group mainly operates in Mainland China, RMB is used as the
presentation currency of the Group. Foreign currency transactions
recorded by the entities in the Group are initially recorded using their
respective functional currency rates prevailing at the dates of the
transactions. Monetary assets and liabilities denominated in foreign
currencies are translated at the functional currency rates of exchange
ruling at the end of the reporting period. Differences arising on
settlement or translation of monetary items are recognised in the
statement of profit or loss.

Differences arising on settlement or translation of monetary items are
recognised in the statement of profit or loss with the exception of
monetary items that are designated as part of the hedge of the
Group'’s net investment of a foreign operation. These are recognised
in other comprehensive income until the net investment is disposed
of, at which time the cumulative amount is reclassified to the
statement of profit or loss. Tax charges and credits attributable to
exchange differences on those monetary items are also recorded in
other comprehensive income.
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2.4 SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING 24 FEETBEREw@
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POLICIES (Continued)

Foreign currencies (Continued)

Non-monetary items that are measured in terms of historical cost in a
foreign currency are translated using the exchange rates at the dates
of the initial transactions. Non-monetary items measured at fair value
in a foreign currency are translated using the exchange rates at the
date when the fair value was measured. The gain or loss arising on
translation of a non-monetary item measured at fair value is treated in
line with the recognition of the gain or loss on change in fair value of
the item (i.e., translation difference on the item whose fair value gain
or loss is recognised in other comprehensive income or profit or loss is
also recognised in other comprehensive income or profit or loss,
respectively).

The functional currencies of certain subsidiaries are currencies other
than RMB. As at the end of the reporting period, the assets and
liabilities of these entities are translated into the presentation currency
of the Group at the exchange rates prevailing at the end of the
reporting period and their statements of profit or loss are translated
into RMB at the weighted average exchange rates for the year. The
resulting exchange differences are recognised in other comprehensive
income and accumulated in the translation reserve. On disposal of a
foreign operation, the component of other comprehensive income
relating to that particular foreign operation is recognised in the
statement of profit or loss.

For the purpose of the consolidated statement of cash flows, the cash
flows of overseas subsidiaries are translated into RMB at the exchange
rates ruling at the dates of the cash flows. Frequently recurring cash
flows of overseas subsidiaries which arise throughout the year are
translated into RMB at the weighted average exchange rates for the
year.
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SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING JUDGEMENTS AND
ESTIMATES

The preparation of the Group’s financial statements requires
management to make judgements, estimates and assumptions that
affect the reported amounts of revenues, expenses, assets and
liabilities, and their accompanying disclosures, and the disclosure of
contingent liabilities. Uncertainty about these assumptions and
estimates could result in outcomes that could require a material
adjustment to the carrying amounts of the assets or liabilities affected
in the future.

Judgements

In the process of applying the Group’s accounting policies,
management has made the following judgements, apart from those
involving estimations,which have the most significant effect on the
amounts recognised in the consolidated financial statements:

Classification between investment properties and
owner-occupied properties

The Group determines whether a property qualified as an investment
property, and has developed criteria in making that judgement.
Investment property is a property held to earn rentals or for capital
appreciation or both. Therefore, the Group considers whether a
property generates cash flows largely independently of the other
assets held by the Group. Some properties comprise a portion that is
held to earn rentals or for capital appreciation and another portion
that is held for use in the production or supply of goods or services or
for administrative purposes. If these portions could be sold separately
or leased out separately under a finance lease, the Group accounts for
the portions separately. If the portions could not be sold separately,
the property is an investment property only if an insignificant portion
is held for use in the production or supply of goods or services or for
administrative purposes. Judgement is made on an individual property
basis to determine whether ancillary services are so significant that a
property does not qualify as an investment property.

Estimation uncertainty

The key assumptions concerning the future and other key sources of
estimation uncertainty at the end of the reporting period, that have a
significant risk of causing a material adjustment to the carrying
amounts of assets and liabilities within the next financial year, are
described below.
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SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING JUDGEMENTS AND
ESTIMATES (Continued)

Impairment of goodwill

The Group determines whether goodwill is impaired at least on an
annual basis. This requires an estimation of the value in use of the
cash-generating units to which the goodwill is allocated. Estimating
the value in use requires the Group to make an estimate of the
expected future cash flows from the cash-generating units and also to
choose a suitable discount rate in order to calculate the present value
of those cash flows. Further details are given in Note 18.

Impairment of non-financial assets (other than
goodwill)

The Group assesses whether there are any indicators of impairment
for all non-financial assets at the end of each reporting period.
Indefinite life intangible assets are tested for impairment annually and
at other times when such an indicator exists. Other non-financial
assets are tested for impairment when there are indicators that the
carrying amounts may not be recoverable. An impairment exists when
the carrying value of an asset or a cash-generating unit exceeds its
recoverable amount, which is the higher of its fair value less costs of
disposal and its value in use. The calculation of the fair value less costs
of disposal is based on available data from binding sales transactions
in an arm'’s length transaction of similar assets or observable market
prices less incremental costs for disposing of the asset. When value in
use calculations are undertaken, management must estimate the
expected future cash flows from the asset or cash-generating unit and
choose a suitable discount rate in order to calculate the present value
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of those cash flows. Further details, including a sensitivity analysis of HAES  BIEEEEBROBRED T
key assumptions, are given in note 17 to the financial statements. VB HmARM 17 BEER -
Deferred tax assets EEREEE

Deferred tax assets are recognised for all deductible temporary
differences and all unused tax losses to the extent that it is probable
that taxable profit will be available against which the deductible
temporary differences and the unused tax losses can be utilised.
Significant management judgement is required to determine the
amount of deferred tax assets that can be recognised, based upon the
likely timing and level of future taxable profits, which affects the
probability of utilisation and the tax rate to be used in the calculations.
Details of deferred tax assets are contained in note 19 to the financial
statements.
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SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING JUDGEMENTS AND
ESTIMATES (Continued)

Impairment of non-financial assets (other than
goodwill) (continued)

Impairment of trade receivables

The Group determines the provision for impairment of trade and
other receivables based on an assessment of the recoverability of the
receivables. This assessment is based on the credit history of its
customers and other debtors and the current market condition.
Management reassesses the provisions at the end of each reporting
period. Details of the impairment of trade receivables are contained in
note 21 to the financial statements.

Useful lives, residual values and depreciation of
items of property, plant and equipment

The Group determines the estimated useful lives and related
depreciation charges for its property, plant and equipment. This
estimate is based on the historical experience of the actual useful lives
of property, plant and equipment of similar nature and functions. The
Group will revise the depreciation charges where useful lives are
different to those previously estimated, or it will write off or write
down technically obsolete or non-strategic assets that have been
abandoned or sold. Actual economic lives may differ from estimated
useful lives; actual residual values may differ from estimated residual
values. Periodic review could result in a change in depreciable lives
and residual values and therefore depreciation expenses in the future
periods.

Business Combination

When the Group completes a business combination, the identifiable
assets acquired and the liabilities assumed are recognised at their fair
value. Management estimation is required to determine the fair values
of the assets acquired, the liabilities assumed, and the purchase
consideration, and on the allocation of the purchase consideration to
the identifiable assets and liabilities. The fair values of the identifiable
assets acquired and the liabilities assumed are determined using
valuation techniques including the discounted cash flow model. The
inputs to these models are taken from observable market where
possible, but where this is not feasible, a degree of judgement and
estimation is required in establishing fair values. Management must
estimate the expected future cash flows and discount rate in order to
calculate the fair values.
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31 December2017 2017412 A31H

4,

OPERATING SEGMENT INFORMATION

Since the acquisition of Oushi Mengniu (Inner Mongolia) Dairy
Products Co., Ltd. (“Oushi Mengniu”) in 2015, the acquisition of
Dumex Baby Food Co., Ltd. (“Dumex China”) in 2016 and the
operation of Yashili New Zealand Dairy Co., Limited (“Yashili New
Zealand”) at the end of 2015, the Group underwent various group
reorganisation, including the purchase and sales function.

From the second half of 2016, the Group is reorganised into business
units based on their products and services and has three reportable
operating segments as follows:

(@  Production and sale of infant milk formula products — this
segment includes the development, manufacture and sale of
infant milk formula products in the PRC and overseas.

(b)  Production and sale of nutrition products — this segment
includes the development, manufacture and sale of milk powder
for adults and teenagers, soymilk powder, rice flour and cereal
products in the PRC and overseas.

(c)  Other operations mainly include the production and sale of
packing materials which mainly serve the Group's internal use,
the sale of surplus raw materials and the sale of base-powder to
third parties. The results of these operations are included in the
“others” column.

The change was made to improve the way in which the business units
can be managed.

For the purpose of assessing segment performance and allocating
resources among segments, the senior executive management team
assesses the performance of the operating segments based on a
measure of “reportable segment profit”, i.e., “revenue less cost of
sales and allocated selling and distribution expenses”. The Group does
not allocate other income and gains, net finance costs, expenses other
than certain selling and distribution expenses to its segments, as the
senior executive management does not use this information to
allocate resources to or evaluate the performance of the operating
segments. Segment assets and liabilities are not regularly reported to
the Group's senior executive management and therefore information
of reportable segment assets and liabilities is not presented in these
financial statements.

Intersegment sales and transfers are transacted with reference to the
selling prices used for sales made to third parties at the prevailing
market prices.
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4. OPERATING SEGMENT INFORMATION (Continued) 4, RETHER @

Year ended 31 December 2017

HZE2017512A318 1L EE
Infant milk
formula Nutrition
products products Others Total
B RE S
R E M EEm Hit &5t
RMB’'000 RMB’000 RMB’000 RMB’000
ARBTRT AR®TR AR¥TR AR¥T:R
Segment revenue: DEWA :
Sales to external customers HE FINHRFE 1,530,707 481,533 242,476 2,254,716
Intersegment sales D EEHE — — 9,360 9,360
1,530,707 481,533 251,836 2,264,076
Reconciliation: HER -
Elimination of intersegment sales D EHEE — — (9,360) (9,360)
Total revenue FENEN 2,254,716
Segment results DEEE 98,994 (20,643) (8,257) 70,094
Reconciliation: AR -
Finance income B 75 U A 123,728
Finance costs B 75 Ak ZN (18,109)
Other income and gains = NSO & 70,167
Unallocated other expenses R BCHE M (475,245)
Loss before tax & %4 Bl B 18 (229,365)
Other segment information Hin o &R
Depreciation and amortisation e R 86,838 30,680 38,799 156,317
Unallocated amounts RO BB 22,279
Total depreciation and amortisation 37 & % # §5 42 %8 178,596
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4. OPERATING SEGMENT INFORMATION (Continued) 4, RETHER @

Year ended 31 December 2016

HZE2016F12A3MALEFE
Infant milk
formula Nutrition
products products Others Total
B Rh A
TN E & EEM EHAh, A%

RMB'000  RMB'000  RMB'000  RMB'000
ARBTE ARBTT ARETIT ARBTRT

Segment revenue: DEWA :
Sales to external customers PHE FINENE 1,462,414 668,150 72,751 2,203,315
Intersegment sales D EEH S 20,436 25,274 — 45,710
1,482,850 693,424 72,751 2,249,025
164
- Reconciliation: Ea o
2 Elimination of intersegment sales HH o B S (20,436) (25,274) = (45,710)
% Total revenue 28U A 2,203,315
5 Segment results DEEE (164,950) 71,531 (16,589)  (110,008)
o
=}
E Reconciliation: HER -
5 Finance income A 130,238
~ Finance costs B 75 Ak 2N (18,825)
= Other income and gains =N N 227,396
z Unallocated other expenses R 5 BE /Y E b 32 i (561,427)
c .
= Profit before tax B 258 A1 g ) (332,626)
E S —
g Other segment information HihnHER
g Depreciation and amortisation I E N 130,442 36,136 — 166,578
Unallocated amounts AR5 BL kI8 3,135

Total depreciation and amortisation T & K ## £ 42 58 169,713
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4. OPERATING SEGMENT INFORMATION (Continued) 4, RETHER @

Geographical information it EE R
2017 2016
RMB’000 RMB’000
AR®ET T ARET T
Mainland China R A R 2,066,132 2,146,045
Overseas BN (= 188,584 57,270
2,254,716 2,203,315

The revenue information above is based on the locations of the

FHRWAGEEREFPAE RS S -

-
o]
w

customers.
5. REVENUE, OTHER INCOME AND GAINS 5. WA --Httgr AR W=
An analysis of the Group's revenue, other income and gains is as AREBBHWA - EIA R ZH DT
follows: m
2017 2016
Notes RMB’000 RMB’000
Bt 5 ARBTT AR®TT
Revenue KA
Sales of goods 7 on 3H & €) 2,254,716 2,203,315
Other income and gains Hin g A R U 2=
Government grants BT % B
— Compensation for expenses incurred —HEELEXHONME 1,698 3,582
— Compensation for acquisition of assets ~— — ¥ i B & Z&= ) 76 (8 1,084 1,084
— Taxes refunded — iR 400 14,120
Compensation income mEIK A (b) 85 2,252
Rental income el A 9,423 6,053
Consigned processing income ZEEMITKA (0) 33,267 36,731
Foreign exchange gains, net PE 5 W 5 558 — 16,649
Promotion service income e E RIS U A (d) 17,000 134,090
Others H1th 7,210 12,835
70,167 227,396

G110 (2 S WEHHEN T H



NOTES TO CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (CONTINUED)
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31 December2017 2017412 H31H

5. REVENUE, OTHER INCOME AND GAINS (Contiued) 5. UL A ~ E Uk A & W 5 o)

stocktake and disposal of obsolete inventories.

Notes: MEE

(@ The Group is principally engaged in the manufacture and sale of dairy and (a) AEBTERFHAEMLEEREER
nourishment products. Revenue represents the sales value of goods supplied HE-ZSXWA BRMEBFPHENE R
to customers. Revenue excludes sales taxes and is after deduction of any MEBE WATEEHEER  T&
trade discounts. HBRAE I 85 E 5740 -

The Group's customer base is diversified and no revenue from transactions REEBREPERZ T RER - I
with a single customer amounted to 10% or more of the Group's total EAME RPN MERHW AL
revenue during the year. REBBEZETENI0%HIA L -

(b)  Compensation income mainly represented forfeitures received from by FEUAFEENRFEFATRERLCHEHS
distributor customers during the year for cross territorial sales that breached BB OMREHEEEL R A FIE -
the terms of distribution agreements.

() This mainly represented consigned processing income and cost of sales from (0) ZAMITWARKAREXASTHERY
processing milk powder for Inner Mongolia Mengniu (Group) Dairy Company AE(EE)BROMERLAR(AQARNEZR

166 Limited, a fellow subsidiary of the Company. WEBAG)ZEMTIABDHKAREER
PN
g
% (d) This represented promotion service income from Danone Asia and Arla Foods (d) SZ A IE &R B sE 20 M A Arla Foods amba
3 amba during the year. R HERE RIS A ©
o
5
® 6. OTHER EXPENSES H B X
e
>
2 2017 2016
& Notes RMB’000 RMB’000
> HiE ARTRE ARETR
>
% Loss on disposal of items of property, BREVE  BELXRE
2 plant and equipment, net FIE K 250 2,392
3 Losses on disposal of inventories GFEREEX (a) 50,356 56,091
2 Loss on disposal of a subsidiary EE—AFArIKIEL 31 11,698 —
Impairment of inventories FTEREEE 25,656 31,147
Donations 15 i 940 4,455
Cost of consigned processing Z LI TRCA 5(c) 38,289 31,084
Foreign exchange expenses, net B 5 1B K F 5 3,300 —
Loss on impairment of trade and B 5 N H At & WK Y
other receivables VERIEREES 17,437 2,876
Others Hib 15,048 20,185
162,974 148,230
Note: B 5T
(a) Losses on disposal of inventories mainly represented losses arising from (a) FENREBEEAETEREARBNREFE

PREEMER -
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7. LOSS BEFORE TAX 7. BRBIAIEE

AL BB EBE LM GEM) T
P BIBIRFTERE

The Group's loss before tax is arrived at after charging/(crediting):

2017 2016
Notes RMB’000 RMB'000
B 5 ARETT AR%®FTR
Cost of goods sold B i s KA 1,332,513 1,166,015
Depreciation of items of property, Y BEREETE
plant and equipment* 13 164,445 159,375
Depreciation of investment properties KEMENE 15 2,447 2,457
Amortisation of land use rights -+ b (5 P E g 16 2,394 2,031
Amortisation of other non-current assets HEiIEme & 4,275 3,078
Amortisation of intangible assets S E 17 5,035 2,772
Total depreciation and amortisation ENEHARE 178,596 169,713
167
Minimum lease payments under operating EEMHKEHE
leases of buildings =EHEE 27,125 6,444 E
Auditors’ remuneration 1% BR A B & 2,726 3,190
B
s
Employee benefit expense* EERAE =
(excluding directors’ and chief executive’'s (R EEEE R F EBTK %
remuneration): ANBFHH) : 5
Wages, salaries and allowances TE& He k=2 418,121 447,331 o
Termination benefits BEER (8 42,876 74,132 =
Pension scheme contributions (defined RIREEHEIME R (E5E ﬁ
contribution schemes) (D) 33,677 38,644 e
Equity-settled share-based payment % 4 E B S A 2
expenses 2,374 —
497,048 560,107
Interest income MEWKA (105,813) (103,522)
Gain on other investments H 1% & W= (17,915) (26,716)
Total financial income R N (123,728) (130,238)
Impairment of trade receivables 2 5 W RRRE 21 7,495 296
* Part of these costs and expenses were included in “Cost of goods sold” as * HOMZEXNANBACBREE Ll
disclosed above. BEEREEMRA]F -
FINANCE COSTS 8. B A
2017 2016
RMB’000 RMB'000
ARBT R AREFTT
Interest on bank loans wholly repayable BRAFABHEEDN
within five years RITERHF S 18,109 18,825
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9. DIRECTORS” AND CHIEF EXECUTIVE'S
REMUNERATION

NOTES TO CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (CONTINUED)

9. EERTHREHZMH

(a) Directors’ and chief executive's (a) EERITTHAR N
remuneration
The Directors’ and chief executive’s remuneration for the years BIEE BN [ G5 238315 (1)a)
ended 31 December 2016 and 2017, disclosed pursuant to the by OQMHOEE_HXD(BRES
Hong Kong Listing Rules, section 383(1)(a), (b), (c) and (f) of the RAMERTSHOKRE)  REE
Hong Kong Companies Ordinance and Part 2 of the Companies 20174 K2016512H31H It F
(Disclosure of Information about Benefits of Directors) E EENTTHREHNEL LE
Regulation, is as follows: BT
2017
Salaries,
allowances, Performance Pension
and benefits related scheme Total
Fees in kind bonuses contributions remuneration
e 2l HEEEH BAREHE
e REWAZ e T B Bk
RMB000 RMB'000 RMB’000 RMB'000 RMB’000
AR%TR AR®Tn AR¥Tn AR%TR AR%¥Tn
Executive directors HiTES
— Mr. Chopin Zhang (i) — & ¥ (Chopin Zhang) %
4 (i)(v) — 1,230 5,794 43 7,067
— Mr. Hua Li —E N LA () — 1,041 2,128 51 3,220
— 2,271 7,922 94 10,287
Non-executive directors FETES
— Mr. Lu Minfang —ESREE = = - - -
— Mr. Qin Peng —&ErE = = — - -
— Mr. Zhang Ping —R®RERE - - - - -
— Mr. Huang Xiaojun (ii) — =B E L A) — — — _ _
— Ms. Lam Pik Po (i) —MEE 1) — — — — —
Independent BYEHTES
non-executive directors
— Mr. Mok Wai Bun Ben — BBt E 220 — — _ 220
— Mr. Cheng Shoutai —BIFAEAE 220 — - - 220
— Mr. Lee Kong Wai Conway ~ — 244 220 - - — 220
660 — — — 660
660 2,271 7,922 94 10,947
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9.

DIRECTORS” AND CHIEF EXECUTIVE'S

REMUNERATION (Continued)

(a) Directors’ and chief executive’s

9. EEREEHITEFMm@

() EEREREHUTEFMH

remuneration (Continued) ()
2016
Salaries,
allowances,  Performance Pension
and benefits related scheme Total
Fees in kind bonuses  contributions  remuneration
e MRk HEEEHE BAReiE
ik EMF = e 3 HHss
RMB'000 RMB'000 RMB'000 RMB'000 RMB'000
AREFT ARETT ARETRT ARETT ARETR
Executive directors BTES
— Mr. Lu Minfang —ESHEE — 2,200 — 43 2,243
— Mr. Li Dongming —FRAEE — 675 360 38 1,073
— Mr. Hua Li —ENLE — 668 3,620 16 4,304
— 3,543 3,980 97 7,620
Non-executive directors FHTES
— Ms. Sun Yiping —BFENLt — — = = =
— Mr. Lu Minfang —EgmEE = = — — -
— Mr. Wu Jingshui —REKELE = — — - -
— Mr. Qin Peng —ZEx4 = — — - -
— Mr. Zhang Ping —REEE — — — — —
— Mr. Huang Xiaojun —EBEELE — = = = =
Independent non-executive BUFHTES
directors
— Mr. Mok Wai Bun Ben —REREE 200 — — — 200
— Mr. Cheng Shoutai —BFARE 200 — — — 200
— Mr. Lee Kong Wai Conway —ZRELE 200 — - - 200
600 — — — 600
600 3,543 3,980 97 8,220

On 1 January 2017, Mr. Chopin Zhang was appointed as
an executive director.

On 5 June 2017, Mr. Huang Xiaojun resigned as a non-
executive director.

On 5 June 2017, Ms. Lam Pik Po was appointed as a non-
executive director.

(ii)

(iii)

20171 A18 + 5& F(Chopin
Zhang) e £ E L E RINITE
g o

MN2017F6A5H EEEE &
EBEIFNTES -

R2017%F6A5H MEBE
TEZEAFENTES -

-
o
0
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9. DIRECTORS’ AND CHIEF EXECUTIVE'S 9. EEREFEHTEFMw
REMUNERATION (Continued)
(a) Directors’ and chief executive’s (a) EEREEHITE & M
remuneration (Continued) (#0)

(iv)  For the year ended 31 December 2017, Mr. Chopin Zhang (iv) & Z=2017%F12H31H 1t #F
and Mr. Hua Li have been granted certain units of shares € » 8k F(Chopin Zhang) 5t &
and share options by Mengniu Dairy under its share RENLERR TSEIE
option scheme and share award scheme. The amounts of MR T 8 R fn B2 B &t
fair value amortization of these shares and share options ZTEHE TN LERE-
granted to Mr. Chopin Zhang and Mr. Hua Li during the 5k *F (Chopin Zhang) %t A4 K& 2
year ended 31 December 2017 were RMB542,000 and NEEERETHZERGO R
RMB875,000 respectively. The remuneration relating to BN B E2017F12 A31
the share options and shares granted to the directors are HEFERNAABEHES
not included in the above analysis. B Rl s AR 542,000 &

AR Q75000 - BERIE S

170 ERTHZEEREME
< MEEMESY RBE SR i
é DT o
3 9. DIRECTORS’ AND CHIEF EXECUTIVE’'S 9. EENEEHITETFM @
5 REMUNERATION (Continued)
% - - - —— =
e (b) Five highest paid employees b) EEREMEES
ﬁ Two (2016 two) of the five highest paid individuals were AfEEeHALFBERNMM (2016
e directors whose emoluments are shown above. Details of the FM)EES EERENHS
§ emoluments paid to the three (2016: three) highest paid BRERLEXEZE KNEE I
5 individuals who are neither a director nor chief executive of the F=f1(2016%F : =fU)FFE==E I
.g Company for the year were as follows: BHEHTEN RS T RITHA
3 BT :
4
2017 2016
RMB’000 RMB'000
AR¥ET R AREEFIT
Salaries, allowances and benefits in kind ¥4 -« ZBE R EWAH = 1,168 1,723
Performance related bonuses HELEEBAES 5,427 5,310
Pension scheme contributions RIS TR
(defined contribution schemes) (EFEEEZD) 101 124

6,696 7,157
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9. DIRECTORS” AND CHIEF EXECUTIVE'S

REMUNERATION (Continued)

(b) Five highest paid employees (b)

The number of the non-director and non-chief executive highest
paid employees whose remuneration fell within the following

bands is as follows:

9. EEREEHITEFMm@

LEREHEES
CESIPNRFEIEES & 3
BT E RS 51 B K
SRUNNE

Number of employees

EEHE
2017 2016
HK$500,001 to HK$1,000,000 78 #500,001 7T 2 & # 1,000,000 7T = =
HK$1,000,001 to HK$1,500,000 75 #51,000,001 7T & 78 ¥ 1,500,000 7T — 3
HK$1,500,001 to HK$2,000,000 75 # 1,500,001 7T & 7 #5 2,000,000 7T e —
HK$2,000,001 to HK$2,500,000 76 # 2,000,001 7T & 7 # 2,500,000 7T 1 —
HK$2,500,001 to HK$3,000,000 75 % 2,500,001 7T 2 7 % 3,000,000 7T 2 —
3 3
= 3
10. INCOME TAX CREDIT 10. Fi {5 B Rl

2017 2016
RMB’'000 RMB’000
ARBT T AR F T
Current income tax BIHR T 13 % 13,694 9,722

Adjustments in respect of current tax of AFEABRATFED
previous periods Bl EA 75 18 3 & 1,382 13,194
Deferred income tax ISR (64,630) (35,324)
Tax credit for the year AREFFHRE L H (49,554) (12,408)

-
=
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10. INCOME TAX CREDIT (Continued)

10.

A reconciliation of the income tax credit applicable to loss before tax
at the PRC statutory income tax rate and the income tax credit at the
Group's effective income tax rate for the year is as follows:

NOTES TO CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (CONTINUED)

P18 B3R ()

FEFE R - 5hER DA E B R BUAE T
BHBEAENAERER - BREA

£ H

ERMEBHBREAENMEHRIE

o BRI

2017 2016
RMB’000 RMB’000
ARBT R ARBFT
Loss before tax IR (229,365) (332,626)
At the PRC statutory tax rate of 25% B EDEE T E25%
(2016: 25%) (i) (20164 : 25%) (i) (57,341) (83,157)
Adjustments in respect of current tax of AKERNERANEFEDN
previous periods BV EA 75 78 38 B 1,382 13,194
Effect of non-deductible expenses B S 2 3,349 10,703
Effect of tax rate differences (i) TR E 8% 2() (14,169) (40,800)
Unrecognised tax losses REERIEE B 54,033 158,485
Utilisation of previously unrecognised tax B LAE R FERE 1B
losses (22,849) (50,254)
Effect of non-taxable income THBRANTZE (13,959) (20,579)
Tax credit for the year at the effective rate AEFREBRMETENTIE
37 o (49,554) (12,408)

Note:

Pursuant to the Corporate Income Tax Law of the PRC passed by the Tenth
National People’s Congress on 16 March 2007 (the “New Tax Law"), the
statutory income tax rate of the Group’s PRC subsidiaries is 25% from 1
January 2008, except for Oushi Mengniu which is subject to a preferential
tax rate of 15%, in accordance with “The Notice of Tax Policies Relating to
The Implementation of Western China Development Strategy”.

Pursuant to the rules and regulations of the Cayman Islands and the British
Virgin Islands (the “BVI"), the Group is not subject to any income tax in the
Cayman Islands and the BVI.

The provision for Hong Kong profits tax for 2017 is calculated at 16.5% (2016:
16.5%) of the estimated assessable profit for the year.

Pursuant to the rules and regulations of New Zealand, Yashili New Zealand is
subject to an income tax rate of 28% (2016: 28%) in New Zealand.

B -

BIEETEZ2EARRKREKER2007F
SAEBBMN(PEAREMBE S EAN
BREITHFHBZED  AEEBPEMNBR
7 E200841 A1 HRAEATE BRI R
£25% o WRARCE R F A E e 7 50 K B B
EEAEEHEEREMENRN) BES
FZHI5%HEERE -

BERSHERRABEXES((RBE
THBDMRERER AEHEAE
REHEMABELBHESHAMNTIMNME
Tt e

REB207FEHEFNEHBBERALTF
ERETERBEF - £ B16.5% (2016
F16.5%) R KR -

BB ABEBRRORTE RER A
Il 1T 37 70 B B AN X TE28% (2016 F -
28% )M FTBBIFL K »
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11. DIVIDENDS 1. RE
The dividends for the year are set out below: KEFZHRBETNT
2017 2016
RMB’000 RMB'000
AR®TR ARBT T
Dividends: R B
Declared and paid during the year RETIRR A
— Equity dividends on ordinary shares (i)  — & 3@ % i% 2. (i) — 35,477
Proposed: K -
— Final dividend: Nil (2016: Nil) —REIR S : E (20164 « &) — —

Note: M sT -

(i) In 2017, the Company did not declare and pay dividend to the shareholders (i) W2017F KA ARXATKRRETIE LI
of the Company (In 2016: the Company declared and paid a final dividend BB (20164 : AAFIREEE RS |-
of approximately RMBO.75 cents per share as an appropriation of share HESRE—VHRFEREREERT
premium for the year ended December 2015 to the shareholders of the BRAREE0TSD) °
Company).

12. LOSS PER SHARE ATTRIBUTABLE TO ORDINARY  12. ARAEBEERREARE

EQUITY HOLDERS OF THE PARENT

The basic loss per share for the year is calculated by dividing the loss
for the year attributable to ordinary equity holders of the parent by
the weighted average number of ordinary shares outstanding during
the year.

The parent has no dilutive potential shares.

T i

RS Eﬂ’é

BEREABBRIREFAGAAER
%ﬂﬁ*ﬁ_/\ﬁﬁféﬂé[ﬁ’%uiﬁqaﬁéﬁ
BB IR P B

#T

T

7F

m#m

ARREBEHFRAN -

3
@
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12. LOSS PER SHARE ATTRIBUTABLE TO ORDINARY

EQUITY HOLDERS OF THE PARENT (Continued)

12.

NOTES TO CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (CONTINUED)

The calculations of basic and diluted loss per share are based on: =t REANMBESEESTBEERT
T
2017 2016
RMB’000 RMB'000
AR T ARETFTT
Loss: &8
Loss attributable to ordinary equity holders — FA 7 5 & &5 f% £ 7K F0 #6555 18
of the parent, used in the basic and M ARIEBERITA A
diluted loss per share calculation FE1G 518 (179,811) (320,218)
Number of shares
BOEE
2017 2016
‘000 ‘000
F & Fhx
Shares: f& 5
Weighted average number of ordinary shares &+ & & % £ 2N F1 # 58 &5 18 B F
for the purpose of the basic and diluted A9 I 38 f% 0 - 15 £
loss per share calculation 4,745,560 4,745,560
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13. PROPERTY, PLANT AND EQUIPMENT 3. VX BERKE

Office
Freehold  Plantand  Machinery and Motor  equipment
land buildings equipment vehicles  and others Total
BWAER
BELi HERET BERRE weE  HitRE At
RMB’000 RMB’000 RMB'000 RMB’000 RMB’000 RMB’000
2017 20175 ARBTR AR%®TxR ARBTR AR®TR AR%TR AR¥TR
Cost: A
At 1 January 2017 R2017€1A18 54,513 909,521 1,616,310 33,091 45,789 2,659,224
Additions NE — 5,483 10,665 5 6,949 23,102
Transfer from construction in progress & ¢ & 72 ¥ T 72 (Fi3F14)

(note 14) — 5,651 23,450 362 2,767 32,230
Transfer from assets of adisposal ~ EREHEFENEEMR

group dlassified as held for sale BE (F5E30)

(note 30) — 2,002 11,356 1,613 5,447 20,418
Transfer from investment properties % & 5% & % % (ff7£15)

(note 15) — 55,011 — — 55,011
Assets of a disposal group classified D EABBEHFEREA

as held for sale (note 30) B (M530) — (53,274) — — — (53,274)
Transfer to construction in progress & Z 2 T2 (i3 14)

(note 14) — (185) (1,050) — — (1,235)
Disposals BE — (3,147) (46,426) (11,715) (19,883) (81,171)
Disposal of a subsidiary (note 31) & F 2 & (Fi532) = (34,984) (38,653) (539) (1,875) (76,051)
Exchange realignment EXFE @221 (16228) (33,657) (30) 8)  (52,228)
At 31 December 2017 R2017%F12A31H 52,286 869,850 1,541,995 22,787 39,108 2,526,026
Accumulated depreciation and 2 MERFE:

impairment:

At 1 January 2017 R2017F1R18 — (191,082) (617,374) (25,498) (36,612) (870,566)
Depreciation provided during the year 2 Rzt 2 &) #7 & (Fi357)

(note 7) — (45,003) (112,219) (2,037) (5,186) (164,445)
Impairment A E (3,077) (3,956) (154) (29) (7,216)
Transfer from assets of adisposal ~ EEEHFEFENREA

group dlassified as held for sale & (f330)

(note 30) — (905) (4,375) (522) (2,226) (8,028)
Transfer from investment properties 8 & &5 % & #1 % (Fff 7 15)

(note 15) — (4,531) — - — (4,531)
Disposals RE — 1,586 37,011 10,165 18,370 67,132
Assets of a disposal group classified DB ABEFERER

as held for sale (note 30) &2 (M5E30) — 8,500 — - — 8,500
Transfer to construction in progress & % = £ 32 T 12 (fff 3£ 14)

(note 14) — 27 150 — — 177
Disposal of a subsidiary (note 31) 2 & F A &) (f£32) = 18,591 30,625 512 1,034 50,762
Exchange realignment ERFE — 1,148 3,955 20 I'y) 5,165
At 31 December 2017 R2017%12A31H — (214,746) (666,183) (17,514) (24,607) (923,050)
Net carrying amount: FEEE:

At 31 December 2017 R2017F 128318 52,286 655,104 875,812 5,273 14,501 1,602,976
At 1 January 2017 R201741A18 54,513 718,439 998,936 7,593 9,177 1,788,658

I~
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13. PROPERTY, PLANT AND EQUIPMENT (Continued) 13. ME BERZHE®

Office
Plant and Machinery and Motor  equipment
Freehold land buildings equipment vehicles  and others Total
BAER
BETH HERETF HENEE Tk Btk At
RMB'000 RMB'000 RMB'000 RMB'000 RMB'000 RMB'000
2016 20165 ARETFT ARETET ARBTT ARBTT ARETT ARETR
Cost: A :
At 1 January 2016 R2016E1H18 37,095 832,862 1,438,808 42,465 63,862 2,415,092
Additions nNE — 7,419 8,926 398 7,883 24,626
Transfer from construction in progress 2 # 5 7£ 3 T 12 13,625 11,036 46,225 — 84 70,970
Acquisition of a subsidiary KE—-RTRA — 59,241 8,263 — 786 68,290
Transfer from assets of a disposal BRABAHENEER
group classified as held for sale BE — 35,083 49,156 5,566 13,657 103,462
Assets of a disposal group dlassified D EABEEEREAR
176 as held for sale EE — (2,002) — — (610) (2,612)
< Transfer to construction in progress EE S T2 — — (9,060) — — (9,060)
3.3’_ Disposals RE = (1,017) (4,319) (15,412) (40,014) (60,762)
= Transfer to investment properties ~ ERZHE Y% — (52,175) — — — (52,175)
g* Exchange realignment fE K E 3,793 19,074 78,311 74 141 101,393
>
g’- At 31 December 2016 M®2016%12A31H 54,513 909,521 1,616,310 33,091 45,789 2,659,224
>
“I—’ Accumulated depreciation and EMERAE:
2 impairment:
g At 1 January 2016 R2016F1A18 — (142,709) (474,926) (31,074) (51,813) (700,522)
5 Depreciation provided during the year 2 REH2&) & = (36,294) (113,037) (3.171) (6,841)  (159,343)
> Impairment AE = = = = (32) (32)
§ Transfer from assets of a disposal ERARASENRESA
% group classified as held for sale BE — (13,973) (33,316) (4,505) (11,556) (63,350)
2 Disposals RE = 210 4,709 12,948 32,964 50,831
% Transfer to investment properties EERTIRENE — 1,554 — — — 1,554
2 Assets of a disposal group dlassified DB AFEFEREH
as held for sale BE — 905 — — 518 1,423
Transfer to construction in progress  E&EZ R T2 — — 2,386 — — 2,386
Exchange realignment [ & & — (775) (3,190) 304 148 (3,513)
At 31 December 2016 #2016 12 A31H = (191,082) (617,374) (25,498) (36,612) (870,566)
Net carrying amount: REEE:
At 31 December 2016 #2016 12 A31H 54,513 718,439 998,936 7,593 9,177 1,788,658
At 1 January 2016 R2016E1H18 37,095 690,153 963,882 11,391 12,049 1,714,570

As at 31 December 2017, all the assets of Yashili New Zealand
including property, plant and equipment of RMB1,093,906,000 were
collateralised for a bank loan of RMB66,883,000 under a general
security agreement (2016: Nil).

HIE2017F 12831 B FIAEHAED
FEEEREEEARE1,093,906,000
THWE BELIBER — KR
EHE T NERBBELNAARE
66,883,000 C HYER 1T E 3K (2016%F « ) ©
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14. CONSTRUCTION IN PROGRESS 14, EEIRE
2017 2016
Notes RMB’'000 RMB'000
5T ARE®TT AR®ETT
Cost A
At beginning of the year NG 40,524 33,151
Additions 388 4 79,730 66,300
Acquisition of a subsidiary WHE—KFRAA 31 — 7,473
Disposal of a subsidiary BRE—FRXFAA 32 41) —
Transfer from property, plant and equipment ®E R B W% - KE KXE 13 1,058 6,674
Transfer from assets of a disposal group HEAEAEFEN
classified as held for sale REEAEE — 41
Transfer to property, plant and equipment EEEYE . HENREE 13 (32,230) (70,970)
Transfer to intangible assets HEEETEE 17 (22,478) (2,472)
Transfer to long-term deferred expense EHEREREIGFEHER (332) —
Exchange realignment VE & §E 2 (136) 327
At end of the year RER 66,095 40,524
Provision for impairment B (1,712) (1,712)
Carrying amount at 31 December K12 A31BNEEE 64,383 38,812

As at 31 December 2017, all the assets of Yashili New Zealand
including construction in progress of RMB3,576,000 were
collateralised for a bank loan of RMB66,883,000 under a general
security agreement (2016: Nil).

None of the interest expense was capitalised to construction in
progress for the year ended 31 December 2017 (2016: Nil) prior to
being transferred to buildings and machinery.

HIE2017F 1283180 FTAEILERN
2HEEBRIEEEARE3576,0007T
MNEETIRER —RREHBE T L&
BB A AR 66,883,000 T KR 1T
B (20164 « &) -

REHEBFT RS REE2017F
RANBLEFE BRENMBERT
RN ESER Q06 : &) -

S|
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NOTES TO CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (CONTINUED)

15. INVESTMENT PROPERTIES 15. REYHE
2017 2016
Notes RMB’'000 RMB'000
FaE AR¥ETT AR%®FTT
Cost: B
At beginning of the year R EH) 75,032 24,076
Additions NE — 550
Transfer from property, plant and equipment ®EE B W% - K E L& E — 52,175
Transfer from assets of a disposal group EROFEEFEN
classified as held for sale BEHEE 53,274 —
Transfer to property, plant and equipment HESYE . BENRKRE 13 (55,011) —
Disposals BE = (1,769)
At end of the year REXR 73,295 75,032
Accumulated depreciation: Z2FINE .

178 At beginning of the year R EH (7,546) (3,998)
Charge for the year FANE 7 (2,447) (2,457)
Transfer from property, plant and equipment EE B W% - K= L& E — (1,554)
Transfer from assets of a disposal group BEEREAEAEEFERN

classified as held for sale REHEE (8,500) =
Transfer to property, plant and equipment EEEYE  RE REKE 13 4,531 —
Disposals BEE = 463
At end of the year RER (13,962) (7,546)
Carrying amount at end of the year RERKREEE 59,333 67,486

The fair value of the investment properties, as determined by the
directors of the Company, based on the market approach with
reference to market transaction prices of similar properties, taking
into account other factors, i.e., characteristics of the properties and
locations, is estimated to be approximately RMB124,721,000 as at 31
December 2017 (2016: RMB94,566,000).

ARANEZ2RBRBLUDENTER
SER UEREINEMHEAEZ WZD
ENEH - NE UmBEAFHEHEZKR
B ER2017FE12A3MBN AR EBE
45 N ER#124,721,0007 (2016 = A
R #94,566,0007T) °
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31 December2017 2017412 HA31H

15 INVESTMENT PROPERTIES (Continued) 15 ?i ﬁ % % (,%E)

[RBEEEREE

THXRBHATAEEREEMEN
NABEFENERER:

Fair value hierarchy
The following table illustrates the fair value measurement hierarchy of

the Group's investment properties:

Fair value measurements as at 31 December 2017 using

AR2017F12831BW A AEBEWEE

Quoted prices Significant Significant
in active  observable unobservable
markets inputs inputs
(Level 1) (Level 2) (Level 3) Total
ERWE EATUBEE EXAFTABEE
ZHE WA BB W AgE
(&) (F&=) (E4&=) &t
RMB’000 RMB’000 RMB’000 RMB’000
ARBTRT AR®BTR AR%®TR AR%®TRT 19
Fair value measurement for: AR BET= : E
Commercial properties [EEZRES — — 124,721 124,721
Fair value measurements as at 31 December 2016 using
FAR2016F 12 A31EM AR EEMAE
Quoted prices Significant Significant
in active observable  unobservable
markets inputs inputs
(Level 1) (Level 2) (Level 3) Total
RS BEAUHEE EATAHE
2 W1E WA BIE WA BIE
E8—) ;=) EH=) a5t
RMB'000 RMB'000 RMB’000 RMB’000
ARBTT AR®TT AR¥TRT AR®TT
Fair value measurement for: A7 (EEE £
Commercial properties [EEXRES — — 94,566 94,566

During the years of 2017 and 2016, there were no transfers into or
out of Level 3.

2017F K206 FHEA R BEFTEE
ABZLSIBEZPEH -

I GE4110T (2 E S W
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31 December2017 2017412 H31H

16. LAND USE RIGHTS 16. T b {5
20175 20164
RMB’'000 RMB’'000

AR®FR ARBET T

Carrying amount at beginning of the FYEmEE

year 95,265 53,191
Disposal of a subsidiary (note 32) BB FAa (HEE32) (2,496) —
Amortisation for the year (note 7) FNEHIR LY (7)) (2,394) (2,031)
Acquisition of a subsidiary (note 31) W eE—=xFna (KtEE31) — 41,527
Transfer from assets of a disposal group #EH QFEFEMN R BHEE

classified as held for sale — 2,578

90,375 95,265
Current portion included in H AR EERTBENNZ
prepayments, deposits and e K& H e W I8
other receivables (1,582) (1,531)
180 88,793 93,734
Land use rights represent prepayments of land use rights premium to TR AN & E A B BT A RS
the PRC authorities by the Group. The Group's leasehold land is AN T ERERES AEENA
located in Mainland China, on which its manufacturing plants were EITHURFE BEAERE A%
located. The Group is granted land use rights for a period of 50 years. BEETH T ERAE  BEIS0F o K
The Group has obtained land title certificates for all the land use EEEKNEHREACSAN D306
rights. FRHERHERE -
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NOTES TO CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (CONTINUED)
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31 December2017 2017412 HA31H

17. INTANGIBLE ASSETS

17. BREE

Software Trademarks Total
B (G &5t
Notes RMB’000 RMB’000 RMB’000

31 December 2017 2017%12A31H i ARETR AR®TR AR%®Tx
Cost at 1 January 2017, net of FEFEE

accumulated amortisation 14,754 283,047 297,801
Purchased B 1,086 — 1,086
Transfer from assets of a disposal EEE B FEFEH

group classified as held for sale EEHEE 30 645 — 645
Transfer from construction in EBEOEZIRE

progress 14 22,478 — 22,478
Disposal of a subsidiary = /N 32 (10) — (10)
Amortisation provided during i NE=

the year 7 (5,035) — (5,035)
Exchange realignment P& & & &) (215) — (215)
At 31 December 2017 FRFE 33,703 283,047 316,750
At 31 December 2017 F R

Cost B AR 53,953 283,047 337,000

Accumulated amortisation e (20,250) — (20,250)
Net carrying amount FRFE 33,703 283,047 316,750

e
[
-

[ F 34

E]
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NOTES TO CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (CONTINUED)
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31 December2017 201712 A31H

17. INTANGIBLE ASSETS (Continued) 17. ,ﬁ\i\ }f? ﬁ E (4&)
Software  Trademarks Total
B [ERE a&t
Note RMB’000 RMB’000 RMB’000
31 December 2016 201612 A31H Mz ARBTFT ARBTT ARKTRT
Cost at 1 January 2016, net of FEFEE
accumulated amortisation 12,651 — 12,651
Purchase BE 535 — 535
Acquisition of a subsidiary WEE—RF R A 73 283,047 283,120
Transfer from assets of a disposal ®EE HZFAEFERN
group classified as held for sale REMAEE 101 — 101
Transfer from construction in HEBEOEZITRE
progress 2,472 — 2,472
Amortisation provided during AN 8
the year 7 (2,772) — (2,772)
182 Amortisation — Transfer from EREHAETERN
< assets of a disposal group REMAEE
E) classified as held for sale (77) — (77)
;f Exchange realignment P = g 1,771 — 1,771
o
3 At 31 December 2016 FREE 14,754 283,047 297,801
ng_’ At 31 December 2016 FR
3 Cost BN 29,687 283,047 312,734
é' Accumulated amortisation SEt# Y (14,933) — (14,933)
g Net carrying amount FRFEE 14,754 283,047 297,801
z
ng_= As at 31 December 2017, all the assets of Yashili New Zealand HIE2017F 128318 FAE I ED
z including intangible assets of RMB4,761,000 were collateralised for a >HEEBEEEAREAL761,0007T
% bank loan of RMB66,883,000 under a general security agreement WEFEEREN —MREZSHET  UE
2 (2016: Nil). BRI 4 /5 A K 66,883,000 7T A $R 1T

As at 31 December 2017 and 31 December 2016, the intangible
assets represented trademarks with indefinite useful lives identified in
acquisition, and purchased and customised software held by the
Group. Amortisation of the intangible assets is included in
“Administrative expenses”, “Selling and distribution expenses” and
“Cost of sales”.

(20164 : ) °

R2017F 12 A31H K&20164 12 A 31
H BEFREEARNEBETRAINERS
WAETHEENBEE RN AER
SEBENEMt - BREEEEHE A
[TTHAS] [#HE REHAS R
B -
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17.

INTANGIBLE ASSETS (Continued)

Impairment testing of trademarks

The recoverable amount of the Dumex infant formula products cash-
generating unit (“CGU") to which the trademarks belong has been
determined based on a value in use calculation using cash flow
projections based on financial budgets covering a five-year period
approved by senior management. The discount rate applied to the
cash flow projection is 16.87% (2016: 14.22%). The growth rate
used to extrapolate the cash flows of the Dumex infant formula
products CGU beyond the five-year period is 3% (2016: 3%).

Assumptions were used in the value in use calculation for 31
December 2017 and 31 December 2016. The following describes
each key assumption on which management has based its cash flow
projection to undertake impairment testing of trademarks:

(@) Budgeted gross margin — The basis used to determine the
value assigned to the budgeted gross margin is the average
gross margin achieved in the year immediately before the
budget year, adjusted for expected efficiency improvements and
expected increase in production costs.

(b) Discount rate — The discount rate used is before tax and
reflects specific risks relating to the relevant CGU.

(¢)  Raw materials price fluctuation — Reference is made to the
actual data of the past year of countries from where raw
materials are sourced.

The values assigned to key assumptions are consistent with external
information sources.

17.

BEEE @)

7o AR Rk B R =

BEMBRNEZERERR T NHE
RBESEHBUNTTKRESETINAL
BREBABMENAFHKRBE K
FEAAREE RARSRERBMFTERN
BHOERBETUABE -HERAFHU
%IEREMIR R A16.87% (2016 :
14.22%) - Z X BB RE A PHHES
EXBURSRERRIRERER
FHZUBEBE R T B3% (20164 ¢
3%) °

HEETE2017F12A831H K2016F 12 A
BTHMFEREBERRASE TRE 51
BiRRe e @ ETEZRENS
FTR IR & EE BR&FMIT :

() FHEFE— ARETHEELEF
REENEENEEEEEE
—ERERMTHENE I A
FETE B A LR TR TE B AR AR K
338 91177 F LA SR 2 -

(o) FME—FAAFBERTIHRALR
REBBRESEDEMNREERR -

© RMHEREH —2ZFRHMKRE
BREFERSE -

TERENEERIFBIRKIR -2 -

e
[0}
w
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17 INTANGIBLE ASSETS (Continued) 17 /ij\E\ J:l:g ﬁ E (:%E)
Impairment testing of trademarks (Continued) (SRS AEREEAE )
The sensitivity analysis for Dumex infant formula products CGU to FEEZERANZELRBEERR
which the trademarks belong on the key assumptions used in the SEHBEMNERAEERELIERR
calculation of value in use, taken individually, gives the following R BBYEDBETHRES T
results: BHEROAT

Reasonably possible change  Impairment
ARERENSEREH RE
RMB'000
AREFIT
Revenue growth rate I A % R & Decrease 1% FE1K 1% 89,158
Gross margin rate EF Decrease 3% [£1K3% 96,647
184
5 18. GOODWILL B
o 2017 2016
£ RMB’000 RMB’000
o . —
3 AR¥T R AREF T
T
g Carrying amount at 1 January R1A1BEREE 991,236 272,760
a Acquisition of a subsidiary WbE — K F R A — 718,476
8 Carrying amount at 31 December MR12A31BEMEREEE 991,236 991,236
>
;% As at 31 May 2016, Yashili (Guangdong) (the “acquirer”), a subsidiary R2016E5HA31TH # + F(E E)
'§ of the Group, acquired a 100% equity interest in Dumex China (the TWER]D) XEBH—FKF A0
é “acquiree”). The business acquisition gave rise to goodwill of Wkg 2 &R (%W EE S ])100%
3 RMB718,476,000. PR LIEXEBREFTREBARE

In 2015, Yashili (Guangdong) (the “acquirer”), a subsidiary of the
Group, acquired a 100% interest in Oushi Mengniu (the “acquiree”),
a subsidiary of Mengniu Dairy, which is also the ultimate holding
company of the Group. The acquirer recorded goodwill amounting to
RMB272,760,000, which was originally recorded in the book of
Mengniu Dairy as a result of the Mengniu Dairy’s acquisition of Oushi
Mengniu in a previous year.

718,476,000 7T 7 B9 & o

2015 - LR (BER) ((WEHD) -
AEEBN—RTAR WETEHRSF
(TWRBEAFD(AEENIERRQGRF
FEN—FRTAR)EI100% 0% H - W iE
FERMmA s T AR %272,760,000 7T
NEE - ZREABAFESFILENK
BEU S REREL -
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18 GOODWILL (Continued) 18 @j% (,%E)

Impairment testing of goodwill

The above goodwill is allocated to the following groups of cash-
generating units for impairment testing which is in line with the way
in which the Company manages its business:

° Infant milk formula products cash-generating unit group, and

° Nutrition products cash-generating unit group.

The carrying amounts of goodwill reallocated to the infant milk
formula products cash-generating unit group and nutrition products
cash-generating unit group are RMB932,984,000 and
RMB58,252,000, respectively.

The recoverable amounts of the infant milk formula products cash-
generating unit group and nutrition products cash-generating unit
group have been determined based on a value in use calculation using
cash flow projections based on financial budgets covering a five-year
period approved by senior management. The discount rate applied to
the cash flow projections is 14.70% (2016: 14.17%). The growth rate
used to extrapolate the cash flows of the infant milk formula products
and nutrition products CGUs beyond the five-year period are 3% and 3%
(2016: 3% and 3%).

7T Rk R B

AEEREEEXHNIN K LAE
BEORINTHERSEHLE LA
PA R {8081 & -

e BREEANHDERREEHNEMN
HE M

s ZBERREELBEMES-

WEFHIREIEZEAFANHESEE
BENHENEERReEEEMES
M E S Rl A AR 932,984,000 5T #
A R #58,252,000 7T °

LRI MERReELEMAES
MEEmReEREMAGNTRE
BTN ESRERBABRAENESF
REEXFENARE  RABRESRE
FERAFEMSHNEREBETUET -
HERFHUEARSRENHRES
14.70% (2016 4F : 14.17%) » £ 4) 7 B
FHMERMEERBRSELEEMR
PREERERBERELFH 2B
8 E T B3%M3% (20164 : 3% N
3%) o

Py
2]
(8]
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18 GOODWILL (Continued) 18 @j % (,%E)

Impairment testing of goodwill (Continued) (SRR AEREAE )

Assumptions were used in the value in use calculation for 31 T E2017F K20165F12 A31H # {#

December 2017 and 2016. The following describes each key AEER TmFH AETHRE - BEEEBIRIRS

assumption on which management has based its cash flow projection mETENETHERENRFTKERN

to undertake impairment testing of goodwill: FETE fﬁi?& =S UNNE

(@) Budgeted gross margin — The basis used to determine the (@ TEHEEMNEX-FAREBETHEEEF
value assigned to the budgeted gross margin is the average T{ETEE’]%/EE%& JEE FE
gross margin achieved in the year immediately before the —FRENNEHENE . IR
budget year, adjusted for expected efficiency improvements and JE T8 5T R AE IR Tt K T8 B A E K AR
expected increase in production costs. AN P LA T B o

(b)  Discount rates — The discount rate used is before tax and by WIRE—FT AR K JHF AT =
reflects specific risks relating to the relevant group of CGUs. MEBRSEHEMNETERE -

186

() Raw materials price fluctuation — Reference is made to the © BEMBEREZH-2ZRBEE

actual data of the past year of countries from where the raw BREFEEHE -

materials are sourced.

The values assigned to key assumptions are consistent with external FEBENEERINPEERRE -
information sources.

£10z 1oday [enuuy Py SBUIP|OH [BUOIIBUISIU 1]IysEA

The sensitivity analysis for the infant milk formula product cash- HEERRAHERBRSEL % {*
generating unit group on the key assumptions used in the calculation AN TRAEEEAEXLEEEGHN
of value in use, taken individually, gives the following results: BEHEDRETERESN  SHER
mT
Reasonably possible change  Impairment
ARERENSEEE A
RMB’000
ARETTT
Revenue growth rate I A SR R Decrease 3% FE1E3% 168,164
Gross margin rate E Fl = Decrease 5% [&1K5% 470,533
In the opinion of the Company’s directors, any reasonably possible REBEERA CERBLEHEN
change in the key assumptions on which the recoverable amount is AR EBEMRKENBERBHR
based would not cause the nutrition products cash-generating unit BAETMA e S IEEE  HILA2EE

group'’s carrying amount to exceed its recoverable amount. REEEEAY D KEE-
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19. DEFERRED TAX 19. IEFEF 1B

FRAETCHMBREERMABEERNE

The movements in deferred tax assets and liabilities during the year

are as follows: T
Deferred tax assets EEMBREE
Impairment Tax losses  Accruals Others Total
EERE BXKESE FEREA Hith &t
Notes RMB’'000 RMB’'000 RMB'000 RMB'000 RMB’000
BiaE AREFIT AREFTTT AREFTT ARETT AR®ETT

At 1 January 2017 MR2017F1H81H 10,152 108,255 62,738 21,805 202,950
Debited/(credited) to FARBRRFTAN

the statement of iR E B 18

profit or loss 10 (1,393) 17,994 44,735 15,199 76,535
Charged to other HEf2mkas AR

comprehensive

income (12) (1,680) — (1,692)
At 31 December 2017 2017912 H31H 8,747 124,569 107,473 37,004 277,793
At 1 January 2016 W2016F1 A1 H 1,971 73,749 62,923 15,012 153,655
Debited/(credited) to FRREBEEERFTAD

the statement of IR E R I8

profit or loss 10 8,905 24,935 (185) 5,345 39,000
Charged to other Hib2mkaE AR

comprehensive

income — 1,720 — 1,720
Transfer to assets ERARATE

classified as held

for sale 724 7,851 — 8,575
At 31 December 2016 742016412 4318 10,152 108,255 62,738 21,805 202,950

-
o]
~
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19. DEFERRED TAX (Continued) 19. 3E E B I8 (@)

Deferred tax liabilities ELEFREHRAE
Interest
income accruals Others Total
EHFR
FEFER Hth &5t
Notes RMB’'000 RMB’'000 RMB'000
B 7 AR T AR®TT ARBTT
At 1 January 2017 R2017F1A1H 7,482 31 7,513
(Debited)/credited to the FRRBERTAN
statement of profit or loss IR IE R I8 10 11,905 — 11,905
At 31 December 2017 201712 H31H 19,387 31 19,418
At 1 January 2016 20161 81H 3,742 95 3,837
(Debited)/credited to the FRARBRERTAN
188 statement of profit or loss iE 3T 7 T8 10 3,740 (64) 3,676
g At 31 December 2016 R2016%F 12 A31H 7,482 31 7,513
g
3 2017 2016
[)
5 RMB’000 RMB'000
=} e —
% AR%ETR AREFTT
o
& Represented by: H B
@ — Deferred tax assets —IEEFEEE 277,793 202,950
e — Deferred tax liabilities —REERIEAE (19,418) (7,513)
>
g 258,375 195,437
§ As at 31 December 2017, all the assets of Yashili New Zealand HF20177FE12A318 A E AL %D
8 including deferred tax assets of RMB39,607,000 were collateralised 2 EEEBIEEEARE39,607,0007T
~

for a bank loan of RMB66,883,000 under a general security

agreement (2016: Nil).

Management expects it is probable that taxable profits will be
available against which the above tax losses and deductible temporary

differences can be utilised in the coming years.

MELEHBEEERN —RREHET
LAEE SR 4 & A K 66,883,000 7T A9
RITER(20164F « ) -

EEERHAREFEA TR LEER
BAE - AR A Ll B B e R Al
HREREER -
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19.

D EFERRED TAX (Continued)

Deferred tax assets have not been recognised in respect of the
following item:

19. IE #E B 18 ()

BB THEEL R TFH B #ER

Tax losses arising in Mainland China (i) 7 A B8 K BE & A 79 5 18 E5 18 (i)

2017 2016
RMB’000 RMB’000
ARMT T AR®TT
2,515,312 2,218,755

(i)  The above tax losses are available for a maximum of five years
to offset against future taxable profits of the companies in
which the losses arose.

Deferred tax assets have not been recognised in respect of the
above item as it is not considered probable that there will be
taxable profit available to against the tax losses in the future.

The following deferred tax liabilities have not been recognised in
respect of the following items:

At 31 December 2017, temporary differences relating to the
undistributed profits of the subsidiaries established in Mainland China
amounted to RMB413,557,000 (2016: RMB630,749,000). Deferred
tax liabilities have not been recognised in respect of the withholding
tax that would be payable on the distribution of these retained
earnings, as the Company controls the dividend policy of these
subsidiaries in Mainland China and the directors have determined that
these profits are not likely to be distributed in the foreseeable future.

() b BOE A5 4R AT A OLIE 8 A A
E By B L TR

B & IR )R T B R B E IR
myAER REEAKETK
F] BE 7 B K 2K B ER T ME A K
HABHRERER -

AERNECHEAE

2017912 A31H - B 7E A B K FE K
YHMFREHNASEMNBEER 2 EH
M= 2 A AR #413,557,0007T (2016
£ AR #630,749,0007T) - AR R
S EEFBERENF QAR
BHE WEEEEHETENA AR
wmAETEEOER  MAEERR DI
HWERBGE MR EASHMMIERH R
BELEFIEEE -

e
o]
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NOTES TO CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (CONTINUED)

20. INVENTORIES 20. B &
2017 2016
RMB’000 RMB'000
AR¥F T AREF T
Raw materials R+ % 208,142 201,218
Finished goods X 398,607 211,591
Work in progress ES 161,501 180,259
Packing materials B M 16,985 25,915
Low value consumables KEEER 1,089 893
Total SEr 786,324 619,876

21.

As at 31 December 2017, all the assets of Yashili New Zealand
including inventories of RMB152,961,000 were collateralised for a
bank loan of RMB66,883,000 under a general security agreement

(2016: Nil).

TRADE AND BILLS RECEIVABLES

HE2017F128318 FAEBEILED
2EHEEBEEMEARKI152,961,000
THEFEERER—RREHRET  UER
HEE 4 B A R¥66,883,000 T H IR 1T E

(2016 4F : ) °

9. EZEURKERE

2017 2016

RMB’000 RMB’'000

ARET R AREEFIT

Trade and bills receivables BorEWKZREE 153,455 162,138

Impairment NERIEL (9,119) (747)
144,336 161,391

The Group normally allows a credit limit and credit term to its
customers which is adjustable in certain circumstances. In view of the
aforementioned and the fact that the Group’s trade and bills
receivables relate to a large number of diversified customers, there is
no significant concentration of credit risk. Trade and bills receivables

are non-interest-bearing.

AEERRRTEPHEEEREM
SEHR YAEREBALTHE - &
R EXF R ARENE SRR R
EREANETRAENNEF AR BA
BEREESETRR EZFRUAKLE

1 0 A A A B
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21.

TRADE AND BILLS RECEIVABLES (Continued)

The aging analysis of the trade and bills receivables as at the end of
the reporting period, based on the invoice date and net of provisions,
is as follows:

21.

ESERRREE @

R E BR - A0 R B A A B WUR R
EURREZEZAROKREDTNOT

2017 2016

RMB’000 RMB’000

ARET T AREF T

Within 3 months =EALUR 126,288 117,057
3 to 6 months =Z=EA 4,606 38,521
More than 6 months NE AN E 13,442 5,813
144,336 161,391

As at 31 December 2017, all the assets of Yashili New Zealand
including trade receivables of RMB101,608,000 were collateralised for
a bank loan of RMB66,883,000 under a general security agreement
(2016: Nil).

The movements in provision for impairment of trade and bills
receivables are as follows:

HE2017F 1283180 FTABEIAERN
>HEEBIEEEAREKE101,608,000
THESRERRFER —RREHHET
PAEER 58 49 A A K 66,883,000 7T #Y
RITE (2016 4 « ) o

BORWAREBREZEENESH N
B

2017 2016

Note RMB’000 RMB’000

Bt EE ARETT AR®BTT

At 1 January RN1A1H 747 421

Impairment losses recognised B R B REE X 7 7,495 296
Transfer from assets of a disposal wBAEREFE

group classified as held for sale 877 30

At 31 December ®12A31H 9,119 747

There was no provision made for individually impaired trade and bills
receivables at 31 December 2017 and 31 December 2016.

2017412 A31 8 FM2016E12 A318 1

BEBERNREER S EKER IR R

TR B -

-
0
-
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21.

TRADE AND BILLS RECEIVABLES (Continued) 21.

The aging analysis of the trade receivables, that are neither individually
nor collectively considered to be impaired, is as follows:

NOTES TO CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (CONTINUED)

ESEVURKEE @

TAREHNREBRERCBEZES

FEW R Z R D AT AR T

2017 2016

RMB’000 RMB'000

ARMET T ARBF T

Neither past due nor impaired 3 7K 180 HA 3R (B 129,600 81,656
Less than 3 months past due E DR = A 7,096 16,318
136,696 97,974

Receivables that were neither past due nor impaired relate to a large
number of diversified customers for whom there were no recent
history of default.

Receivables that were past due but not impaired relate to a number
of independent customers that have a good track record with the
Group. Based on past experience, the directors are of the opinion that
no provision for impairment is necessary in respect of these balances
as there has not been a significant change in credit quality and the
balances are still considered fully recoverable.

The amounts due from related parties of the Group included in the

BE K 8 B 78 R 1B 2 FE MR IR T B K
ETRBRNEFPER REETHPA

AR RIA Z ARk

B H R 1B 3 MR ORE 2 B U RR Y
—UBUEFEMR ZEFEEFEAKHE
NBERHFNX S REBELR

BRET HRORL (B B

W EEAEEEEYEEANELMA
BRI AR A K AR A 2 B -

SN E 5 FE U R RO FE MR S R B T

trade receivables are as follows: IR -
2017 2016
RMB’000 RMB’000
AR®T T AREETF T
Subsidiaries of the ultimate holding & 442 B A% 3 59 + A A

company 2 9,953

A substantial shareholder and HAEEBEERTENEE IR
its subsidiaries HE A A 98,796 —
98,798 9,953

The above amounts are unsecured, non-interest-bearing and
repayable on credit terms similar to those offered to the major
customers of the Group.

FlFEREER RERARGBETA

SEXZEFPMALUEE

HIREE -
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922. PREPAYMENTS, DEPOSITS AND OTHER 2 ENR AETRHEMEWR
RECEIVABLES g
2017 2016
RMB’000 RMB'000
ARBT R AR T
Value-added tax recoverable FHEIN L E 81,065 35,098
Interest receivable J& Y A8 57,116 10,796
Prepayments for purchase of BERMERTEN K
raw materials 14,939 10,886
Advances to sales offices AR BLE R © 3,172 3,365
Other receivables arising from U mSHEEZR
promotion services — 91,999
Prepayments for purchase of ERNESERAX
advertising services — 2,802
Others Hih 38,359 41,780
194,651 196,726
Less: Non-current prepayments W —FUENRAGEER 3,462 5,496
Total aEr 191,189 191,230
The amounts due from related parties included in prepayments, SIATFE - S & EH M fE UL R IE A JE
deposits and other receivables are as follows: W R 7 IEN T
2017 2016
RMB’000 RMB'000

AR¥TR ARETIT

Subsidiaries of the ultimate holding & 4R IEMR KR B+ 2 7]

company 33 3,600
Subsidiaries of the parent’s main REREBRARNEERRER
shareholder H BB A 7] 241 —
A substantial shareholder and HAEEEEATZENRER X
its subsidiaries EWE AR 1,641 70,296
1,915 73,896

e
0
w
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23.

NOTES TO CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (CONTINUED)

92. PREPAYMENTS, DEPOSITS AND OTHER 2 FENR #HERHMER
RECEIVABLES (Continued) ?_ik IE (#8)
As at 31 December 2017, all the assets of Yashili New Zealand HIE2017F 12831 B FABHIAEND
including prepayments, deposits and other receivables of THEEBREEMEAKI209,0007T
RMB9,209,000 were collateralised for a bank loan of RMB66,883,000 HMIENR - e REMmEWFERRN —
under a general security agreement (2016: Nil). REWHE T NERSBBOAEAR
% 66,883,000 7T ] R 17 & 7 (2016 £ :
;) -
Except the amounts disclosed above, the amounts due from related F F it & %8I0 2017 F K 2016F 12 A
parties as at 31 December 2017 and 2016 were unsecured, non- BVHEWHEB SR REERE2E
interest-bearing and had no fixed terms of repayment. BAHBETERAE-
OTHER FINANCIAL ASSETS 23. HttEm&EE
2017 2016
Note RMB’000 RMB’'000
Bt 5 ARETT AR®BTx
Bank wealth management products £ R1TH =&K& E M (i) 724,748 476,994
Note: B 5T

(i) As at 31 December 2017, the Group's bank wealth management products
were mainly financial products purchased from banks with good credit
ratings with expected annual interest rates of 2.0% to 5.1% (31 December
2016: 3.1% to 4.0%). These investments were acquired with original
maturity of one month to one year and were not allowed to be withdrawn
prior to the maturity date without the banks’ consent.

As at 31 December 2017, the bank wealth management products amounting
to RMB199,105,000 (2016: Nil) was pledged to secure letters of credit and
an interest-bearing bank loan.

(i) R2017F 128318 AEBAEERT
VEREERTEANRROINEETR
MIRTHBENSRER BHOFMNX
H2.0%ZE51%(2016F 12 A31H : 3.1%
F40% ) EEBREAR—HEAN—F5
BRI ERITHRETEHMME -

R2017F 128318 MESBEAEARYE
199,105,000 (2016 4F : ) Em X RITU
REEMBEERAREREREM—1E
FTERITIRITE R -
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24. CASH AND BANK BALANCES AND OTHER u BEREBITEREARES
DEPOSITS F&

2017 2016
RMB’000 RMB’000
AR¥ET T AR F T
Cash and cash equivalents B RESEEBEY 668,962 581,491
Pledged deposits IR ISR ITIE R 243,621 803,123

Time deposits with original maturity REIZI B & =18 B A L8 FHFR
of more than three months 1,079,433 1,441,254
1,992,016 2,825,868

Less: Short-term pledged deposits 38 : SR1TRLE 2 R HIREFE S F K

for banking facilities 243,621 803,123
Less: Long-term bank deposits B REFIRITIE K — 379,927
Cash and bank balances B NBTEF 1,748,395 1,642,818
2017 2016
RMB’'000 RMB'000

AR¥TR ARETT

The above balances denominated in: A N7 E#¥H{E IR S M IRITAE

— RMB — AR 1,919,656 2,473,884
— United States Dollar (“USD") — X7 57,925 307,206
— Hong Kong Dollar (“HKD") — B 14,182 2,008
— European Dollar (“EUR") — BT 247 34,686
— New Zealand Dollar (“NzZD") — 6 8,083

1,992,016 2,825,868

The RMB is not freely convertible into other currencies. However,
under Mainland China’s Foreign Exchange Control Regulations and
Administration of Settlement, Sale and Payment of Foreign Exchange
Regulations, the Group is permitted to exchange RMB for other
currencies through banks authorised to conduct foreign exchange
business.

Cash at banks earns interest at the prevailing market interest rates. As
at 31 December 2017, the effective annual interest rates of short-
term time deposits were approximately 1.1% to 8.5% (31 December
2016: 1.5% to 8.5%). The bank balances and pledged deposits are
deposited with creditworthy banks with no recent history of default.

As of 31 December 2017, other than certain bank loans secured by
time deposits amounting to RMB234,731,000 (2016:
RMB798,905,000), a deposit of RMB8,890,000 (2016: RMB4,218,000)
was pledged for letters of credit.

ARBYFAEHABASEMER - A
- AR AP B K BE O HMEE B IR 1R B K A
E-EERNETERE ASEEE
BREREETINEEBORIT KA
REELSEMER -

RITIRSIRBITMIHF B - K2017
F12A31H RHETHGEROEERFF
KX B11%E85%(2016F 12 A31 8
15%E85%) c IR{THEHB LB EREFN
R EEOTHRBEER TR
17 °

MR2017F12A831H BT —&LETE
HEBIBTEHTRARK234,731,000
6 (20164 © A R #798,905,000 7T ) it
T A AR #8,890,0007T 17 &
(20164 : AR #4,218,0007T) # £ &5
EZRENRES -

vy
0
w
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95. TRADE PAYABLES 25. EFZENRK
The aging analysis of the Group’s trade payables, based on the invoice NEHE  AEERERXEHHNE
date, as at the reporting date is as follows: SENZOERR>TIAT
2017 2016
RMB’000 RMB’000
AR%T T AREFIT
Within 3 months =18 A LAR 116,634 222,504
3 to 6 months =EAZERMEHA 122,870 12,356
More than 6 months ~NE A E 98,936 2,761
338,440 237,621
The amounts due to related parties included in trade payables are as SIAB S ENFTNENBE A HE
follows: /N
196
2017 2016
) RMB000 RMB’000
§ AR¥T T ARETFIT
% Subsidiaries of a substantial HAEEBEEATZENEEIN
§' shareholder b B 2 =) 127 —
> Subsidiaries of the parent’s main BREERAR —EZWRENHE LD A
g shareholder 18,695 9,758
& Subsidiaries of the ultimate holding £ #2312 B A% B 59 T A A
a2 company 23,205 2,997
%:? 42,027 12,755
c
7
3 Trade payables, including amounts due to related parties, are non- BEENS BIEENMNBEE S8R
'g' interest-bearing and are normally settled within one month to three AT BEHE— MR —ZE=@AARNGEE -
3 months.
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26. OTHER PAYABLES AND ACCRUALS 9. Htt EN AR ETE R
2017 2016
RMB’000 RMB’000
AR%T T AREFTT
Advances from customers BETEMNK 289,320 135,383
Accrued payroll R i 158,160 129,581
Termination benefits payables FE ST BE B R (B 7,103 53,595
Interest payables JE& 1~ A1LS 194 239
Other tax payables H b e~ B IE 28,089 15,783
Guarantee deposits from customers W EU & = #){R B & 67,280 66,513
Accrued expenses BIREHR 429,849 363,052
Payables for constructions of FEfF T2
property, plant and equipment 30,849 61,068
Customer loyalty program =E B2 (i) = —
Others Hih 26,814 37,019
1,037,658 862,233
(i) Customer loyalty program () EFABTE
2017 2016
RMB’000 RMB'000
AR%T T AREFIT
At 1 January w1 HA1H — 3,203
Additions 0 = =
Recognised as revenue during the year — E A 2 #E R U A — (3,203)
At 31 December ®12H31H — —
The amounts due to related parties included in other payables and TIAHMERRIBEBMESE BN ER
accruals are as follows: FARE T HRIEWT ¢
2017 2016
RMB’000 RMB’000
AR%T T ARBFT
Subsidiaries of the ultimate holding  F &I A B H T A A
company — 414
Subsidiaries of the parent’s main RERER AR T ERRAOEE A A
shareholder 40 —
A substantial shareholder and its HAREEBEEATENERETR
subsidiaries HI B A A 4,639 _
4,679 414

G110 (2 S WEHHEN T H
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97. INTEREST-BEARING BANK LOANS 91. T E BT

As at 31 December 2016
2016512 A31H

;#

As at 31 December 2017
A2017%12831H

Effective Effective interest
interest rate (%) Maturity RMB’000 rate (%) Maturity ~ RMB’000
BERA=E AR BRI AR
(%) ZIEARFFE Fr (%) FIHARFfE T
Current BN HA
Short term bank loans: 45 Hi4R 17 & 3K :
— Pledged loans —EHER 0.80 to 3.30* 2018 262,813 150to 1.54 2017 743,091
— Guaranteed loans — ERERK — — —  147t03.92 2017 300,000
— Pledged and —ERE TR 2.4110 2.76** 2018 66,883 — — —
guaranteed loans ERER
— Credit loans —EREXR 1.47%** 2018 200,000 3.92 2017 100,000
529,696 1,143,091
198 2017 2016
< RMB’000 RMB'000
g ARMTRE  ARBTT
Fl Bank loans denominated in RITER
3 — RMB —UARKEHE 249,421 400,000
S —UsD —AETEHE 33,799 673,767
z — HKD — BB E 128,729 69,324
s —EUR — AR TEHE 52,197 —
@ —NzD — A EHE 53,498 —
g — Australian Dollar (“AUD") — LR ITTEHE 12,052 —
'g 529,696 1,143,091
8 (@ Asat 31 December 2017, bank loans with an aggregate amount (@) M2017F12H31H — L@ 5E
g of approximately RMB213,392,000 (31 December 2016: #) 5 A R #213,392,0007T (2016 F
~

RMB743,091,000) were secured by time deposits amounting to
RMB234,731,000 (31 December 2016: RMB798,905,000).

12A318 : AR#®743,091,0007T)
B8R 1T B KA A R #234,731,000
TT(2016F12A318: A R ¥
798,905,000 7T) K & BAfF FE1THE
o
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27. INTEREST-BEARING BANK LOANS (Continued)

(b)

* K

As at 31 December 2017, a bank loan for letters of credit with
an amount of approximately RMB49,421,000 (31 December
2016: Nil) was secured by a bank wealth management product
amounting to RMB49,052,000 (31 December 2016: Nil).

As at 31 December 2017, a bank loan of RMB66,883,000 (31
December 2016: Nil) was guaranteed by Yashili International
Group Ltd., and was also secured by the total the assets of Yashili
New Zealand under a general security agreement. As at 31
December 2017, the carrying amount of the total assets of Yashili
New Zealand was NZD305,333,000 (approximately equal to
RMB1,414,516,000).

The contracted interest rate is HIBOR+0.7, EURIBOR'+0.8, BBSW?+0.8,
LIBOR+0.8 or 3.3.

The contracted interest rate is BKBM?+0.85 or LIBOR+0.85.

The contracted interest rate is 1.47 + National trade interest discount®.
EURIBOR: The Euro Interbank Offered Rate (EURIBOR) is a daily reference
rate, published by the European Money Markets Institute for Eurozone
banks.

BBSW: The Bank Bill Swap Bid Rate (BBSW) is a base rate in Australia.

BKBM: The New Zealand Bank Bill Benchmark Rate (BKBM) is a base rate in

New Zealand.

National trade interest discount: A financial subsidy granted by government
for minorities business.

27.

STEERTER@®

(b)

* %

M2017FE12 4310 —HBHELD
A AN R #49,421,0007T (2016 4E 12
A31H:B)NEAFRITEZRMNU
— I8 A R #49,052,000 7T (2016 &
12A318 : MMWEERTHER
BEMETER -

PR2017F 128318 HELH A A
R % 66,883,000 7T (2016 4F 12 A 31
B:&#)WRTERRELARE
EEBER QA ETER RN
TOE L £ & E20175F 12831018
B #) A& 40 # 305,333,000 7T (H9Z 7
AR #1,414,516,0007T) 8] & 58 &
ERER—MREBEBHET  NER

i (H Eh
FACE

4 A & & AHIBOR+0.7 * EURIBOR'+0.8 -
BBSW?+0.8 * LIBOR+0.83%3.3 °

& [F %) % % BKBM?+0.85 5% LIBOR+0.85 ©
BRMERAE1AT+REI B -

EURIBOR : BT RTTREIFI = REUM G’ ™
SERHEALEER -

BBSW : SR AFI S5 R 1T R IBEE RN E R
ANTERAEPTHERSEER -

BKBM : ST AR IRITRIZEEER X A5 A
HMERMMBTNERSEERK

REME BRGEIBREEEN—
THI R F

-
0

9
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98. DEFERRED INCOME 98. I fE K £
2017 2016
RMB’000 RMB’000
AR%T R AREFIT
As at beginning of the year F A4S 3,329 4,412
Amortisation for the year F NN (1,084) (1,083)
As at end of the year FRE 2,245 3,329

Deferred income mainly represented the government grants received EXEWz= F ERMEEFTHE K& T T4l
for the acquisition of a new plant and for certain technical innovation #T &R & EREFRIEB BSNHTME - 2%
and production line expansion projects. These grants are deferred BN EMEER P E A FHANEE AL -

over the useful lives of the relevant assets and the amount recognised 72017 4F i 38 /% H W A 2 Y 75 69 B2 & 7 2
as other income and gains in 2017 was RMB1,084,000 (2016: AR © 5 /& A K% 1,084,0007T (20165 -

RMB1,083,000). AR #1,083,0007T) °
200
§ 99. SHARE CAPITAL 29. BRI
=
g Number of
%- shares Nominal value
2 g 4= HE
g Notes '000 RMB’000
g B 3 TR ARETE
& Authorised: 2t :
> Ordinary shares of HK$0.1 each FREEIE TN EBA 0) 10,000,000 861,600
=}
% Ordinary shares, ERIT BEHE:
-'8" issued and fully paid:
2 Shares issued upon the Reorganisation 72010 £ & 48 B 2% 17 &9 I 1D
2 in 2010 (ii) 100 9
Capitalisation issue in 2010 R2010F &AM # 1T (iii) 2,925,900 251,364
Shares issued by share offer in 2010 7420104 &5 1@ i% 15 3% & 317
£ (iv) 574,000 49,312
Shares repurchased in 2011 2011 5 et Bl (v) (10,000) (818)
Accumulated share options exercised 2014 4E A 2 5t B% # 51 217 4
up to 2014 69,170 5,665
Shares issued to Danone Asia in 2016 22015 4F [A] 1% f& 25 M
BT (vi) 1,186,390 93,820

At 31 December 2016 and 2017 12016 £ % 2017512 H31H 4,745,560 399,352
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29. SHARE CAPITAL (Continued)

Notes:

(U]

(i)

(iii)

(iv)

(v)

The Company was incorporated on 3 June 2010 with authorised capital of 3,800,000
shares at HK$0.10 per share. As part of a reorganisation of the Group in
preparation for the listing of the Company’s shares on the Main Board of the
Stock Exchange of Hong Kong Limited (the “Stock Exchange”) in 2010 (the
“Reorganisation”), the authorised share capital of the Company was
increased to HK$1,000,000,000 (equivalent to RMB861,600,000) divided
into 10,000,000,000 shares of HK$0.10 each.

On 2 July 2010, as part of the Reorganisation, the Company issued a total of
99,999 shares at HK$0.10 per share equivalent to RMB9,000 to the
shareholder of Yashili (Guangdong) as the consideration to acquire Yashili
(Guangdong).

Pursuant to the resolution of the Company’'s shareholders passed on 8
October 2010, the authorised share capital of the Company was increased
from HK$380,000 to HK$1,000,000,000; in addition, 2,925,900,000
ordinary shares of HK$0.1 each were issued at par value to the shareholders
of the Company as at 8 October 2010 by way of capitalisation of
HK$292,590,000 (equivalent to RMB251,364,000) from the Company's
share premium account.

A total of 3,500,000,000 shares of the Company were listed on the Stock
Exchange on 1 November 2010 (“IPO"), among which 644,000,000 shares
(18.4% of the total number of shares of the Company) were issued to the
public, comprising 574,000,000 new shares and 70,000,000 sale shares. The
gross proceeds received by the Company from the IPO were approximately
HK$2,411 million.

On 10 June 2011 and 13 June 2011, the Company repurchased all of its
own ordinary shares of 10,000,000 at an aggregate price (including a
transaction fee and commission) of HK$18,728,000 (equivalent to
RMB15,538,000), which was deducted from reserves.

The repurchased shares were cancelled and accordingly the issued share
capital of the Company was reduced by the nominal value of these shares.
Pursuant to section 49H of the Hong Kong Companies Ordinance, an
amount equivalent to the par value of the shares cancelled of HK$1,000,000
(equivalent to RMB818,000) was transferred to the capital redemption
reserve. The premium and transaction costs paid on the repurchase and
cancellation of the shares of HK$17,728,000 (equivalent to RMB14,720,000)
were charged to reserves.

29. B% 7N )

MEE

0

(ii)

(iii)

(iv)

(v)

A A A2010F6 A3 8 5 M Ak 320 &
7E A% AN 43,800,000 4% - & A% T {E A0.1
BITBORGD -ERATEENR2010F RS
BARABMHRELEBR ARSI AR
NARI(EBBIMD)ER EmmETH
SRTERDH—BH EEATRAE
Z 7% #1,000,000,000 7T (M E A AR
861,600,0007T ) * % 410,000,000 F % -
FREEEI10E LA M, ©

R2010F7A28  EREHEBN —HH -
RARABELTF(ER)EHTHRER
174 #£99,999% & IR EE0.174% T &9 Ik
7 MENRARY90007T  fEAARR T
W - F (B3R B ¥ (E -

BiEA DT IENR2010FE10A8H @B
KR - AR B R E E IR 2N 380,000
7 7018 0 % 1,000,000,000 % 7T ¢ bEAN - i
i@ AR A B R 19 s (8 BR 8% 7£.292,590,000
7T (F 2 R A R#251,364,0007T) 1E &
Ko RARA2010F10 A8 H L EAERE
fi% B8 2% 172,925,900,000 % & A% Fl {E0.178
TCH)EBAR o

RNAFEEMDR2010EMB1BEEH
BRI EM(BEXRAREIT]  BEA
3,500,000,000 A% £ 644,000,000 f% (15
KARKRMEENI84%) M ARALT
317 - H 8 $5574,000,000 F A% # A K
70,000,000 % S5 & B tn - AR RIWMEA &
RARBITHEBRIBERENAE2411E
BHETT

72011456 A10B &6 A13 B AARH
O fEH B 5 &) & @A% 10,000,000 @ 488
B(EFEELMAS) BABEM18,728,0007T
(M8 E 7 A R#15,538,0007T) @ I & 7 &
BRI -

BlRERMDEWEN MARRYEE BT
BRANTEHEREZZSEEROOE
BEeoKBEB ARG EAHES 3+
A% {7 /9 T E 78 ¥ 1,000,0007T (% E A
R #818,0007T) 8 AR () B 88 & & 7 o
HEERAEROAIETNEERR
5B R & 17,728,000t (HE AR
14,720,000 7T) B £ /R B o

N
o
—_
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29. SHARE CAPITAL (Continued)

Notes: (Continued)

(vi) On 30 October 2014, the Company, Mengniu International and Danone Asia
entered into a Subscription Agreement pursuant to which, among other
things, Danone Asia has conditionally agreed to subscribe for and the
Company has conditionally agreed to allot and issue 1,186,390,074
subscription shares at the subscription price of HK$3.70 per subscription
share.

The share subscription has been approved by the Company’s shareholders at
an extraordinary general meeting on 28 November 2014.

On 12 February 2015, the Company received all the share subscription
proceeds of HK$4,389,643,000, equivalent to RMB3,471,330,000, among
which RMB93,820,000 was accounted for as share capital, and the
remaining, after deducting issuance cost, amounting to RMB3,374,773,000
was accounted for as share premium.

30. ASSETS OF A DISPOSAL GROUP CLASSIFIED

AS HELD FOR SALE AND LIABILITIES DIRECTLY
ASSOCIATED WITH THE ASSETS CLASSIFIED
AS HELD FOR SALE

Scient (China) is a company incorporated in the PRC and a wholly-
owned subsidiary of the Company. It is primarily engaged in the
production and sale of dairy products.

In December 2015, the Company decided to dispose of Scient (China)
to improve the Group's capacity utilization. As at 31 December 2016,
the negotiation for the sale of Scient (China) is still in the process and
therefore the assets and liabilities directly related to Scient (China)
were classified as a disposal group held for sale.

On 22 December 2017, Scient (China) entered into an agreement
regarding the disposal of a piece of land, together with certain
property, plant and equipment on the land to the local government
authority.

The disposal transaction had not been completed until January 2018.
As such, as at 31 December 2017, the related assets continued to be
classified as a disposal group classified as held for sale, while other
assets and liabilities of Scient (China) ceased to be classified as a
disposal group held for sale.

NOTES TO CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (CONTINUED)

29. I% 7N ()

30.

MiEE ()

(viy 20144108308 AQR RFEE R
EREDMBEFT TREHE  EhE -
ERTDMNEMGHRERE  BEARQA
B 6 14 [/ & BC % & % 171,186,390,074
BRERND REBEELRATRRERNG
3.70% T °

HR2014F 1M A28HZBR M ABEEARD
AR R R AR RE LA -

R2015F2 A128 » AR B E| 2 2R #E
2 B8 774,389,643,000/8 7T LA AR
3,471,330,0007T * E/F A R #93,820,000
AT ABEITRA - Flere BEMBGH
T8 B %M AR 3,374,773,000 T 51 A
IR AR (B o

i

I I
T b i
I 3 At
W R
2 & it
gy
M =
S 0t A

i

T 225

=

BR(PE)RARBEFEIMHEE
MEB AR £ E2NEIS a0 EEME
%0

R2015F 128 KRB RTERER B A
(FE)URRASEEERFBX -HEE
2016F 12831 AL EEE (FE)
MEETH AL EBEEENEEDE
NEAREEREEEM-

20175128228 » B (F B) & KT
BEER -BEREE B LMERAEM
MEAWE MELERENRZ -

ZRBEXHN2018F1 A5k - Atk
R2017F12A318 HEEEEEW
HohE—ERBERAEEEA MER
(FEHMEMEERBENTERE D
ARBFEEEM-
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30. ASSETS OF A DISPOSAL GROUP CLASSIFIED 30. 7 ERAFEGENREEME
AS HELD FOR SALE AND LIABILITIES DIRECTLY EERESESFERE
ASSOCIATED WITH THE ASSETS CLASSIFIED EEEHEZEHEBNEE®
AS HELD FOR SALE (Continued)

The major classes of assets and liabilities classified as held for sale as R2017F1N2ANBHREFEEERE
at 31 December 2017 are as follows: BT
2017 2016
Notes RMB’000 RMB'000
{hFsa AR%T T ARBTT

Assets: BE -
Property, plant and equipment ME BB MK 13 159,550 127,166
Land use rights 4 Hb {5 A A 27,687 27,687
Intangible assets EEE 17 — 645
Trade receivables 2 5 WK = 39
Prepayments, deposits and other TERTRIE e REAM 203

receivables & Ut X — 3,068
Cash and short term deposits Re RBTET = 1,080
Investment properties KEME — 44,774
Assets classified as held for sale NHEABEGFERN

REERE 187,237 204,459

Liabilities: B1E:
Trade payables B 5 EMEER — (201)
Other payables and accruals Hib e AR EET &R — (4,787)
Liabilities directly associated with DHEARBEGEEEER

assets classified as held for sale HENEE — (4,988)
Net assets directly associated with HEEHAEEREBAN

the disposal group FEE 187,237 199,471

G110 (2 S WEHHEN T H
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31.

BUSINESS COMBINATION

31.

Acquisition of Dumex China in 2016

On 31 May 2016, the Group acquired a 100% equity interest in
Dumex China from Danone Asia. Dumex China is mainly engaged in
the manufacture and sale of infant formula products under the
Dumex China brand. The acquisition was made as part of the Group'’s
strategy to expand its market share of infant formula products in

Mainland China.

The fair values of the identifiable assets and liabilities of Dumex China

as at the date of acquisition were as follows:

NOTES TO CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (CONTINUED)

EBAs
R2016FWEZ XL T H

MR20164%5A31H » A% E A E§E M
WEH2E F AR % E%F E100% %
BoZRBETENEZEZRZTEREE
PWREFTPMERNEEEES - /EH
Ui B =5 1R Ty A ER B ok P B K BE B2 4D
TP EBH —F5 °

RKBER  2XETBEZAI#AEE
FERBBEZAAEBOT

Fair value
recognized on
acquisition
W KRRz
DRE
Notes RMB’000
Pt ARETT
Assets BE
Property, plant and equipment LE N 13 68,290
Construction in progress TEITRE 14 7,473
Land use rights o {5 A A 16 41,527
Intangible assets mIEEE 17 283,120
Inventories 78 64,945
Trade and bills receivables H 5 RRRREE 63,887
Prepayments, deposits and other receivables TAR FRIE - e & H MW RIE 14,116
Cash and bank balances Re RRITEF 112,071
Total assets EEHAE 655,429
Liabilities aE
Trade payables 2 5’ (43,626)
Other payables and accruals HtEN R RESER (302,909)
Current tax payable FET TS %% (112)
Total liabilities BERE (346,647)
Total identifiable net assets at fair value RARBEINEZAH#NEELTE 308,782
Add: Goodwill arising on acquisition e WEEEEE 718,476
Purchase consideration at fair value RAnBEINEZEERE 1,027,258
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31.

BUSIN ESS COMBINATION (Continued)

Acquisition of Dumex China in 2016 (Continued)

The fair values of the trade receivables and other receivables as at the
date of acquisition amounted to RMB63,887,000 and
RMB14,116,000, respectively. The gross contractual amounts of trade
receivables and other receivables were RMB63,887,000 and
RMB14,116,000.

The Group incurred transaction costs of RMB5,510,000 for this
acquisition. These transaction costs have been expensed and are
included in administrative expenses in the consolidated statement of
profit or loss.

An analysis of the cash flows in respect of the acquisition of Dumex
China is as follows:

1. ¥ & 6tm@

2016 F W BB 2% 3<% P B (@)

RUREE B - WO E B UBR A A A
EBEE» 5 A AR63,887,000t f AR
#14,116,000T ' REEED A AAR
63,887,000 F1 A R #14,116,0007T °

REBZIMBELESSBERAARE
5,510,000t WERX S ERHEHEHR
It WEHAEGFFBERPOITERAS
18 -

ERZXEZTBERBERZ2REESRD
Mo

RMB’000

AREETTT

Cash consideration HERE 1,099,695

Receipt of adjustments to purchase consideration W ERERER (72,437)

1,027,258

Cash and cash equivalents acquired BERBREERREEED (112,071)
Net outflow of cash and cash equivalents included FFABRBEEENRESREL

in cash flows from investing activities ReMBSZFEY ML FE 915,187
Transaction costs of the acquisition included FAKREEHEENTEEREZ

in cash flows from operating activities W EIERZ F KA 5,510

920,697

Since the acquisition, Dumex China contributed RMB101,089,000 to
the Group’s revenue and RMB55,905,000 to the consolidated loss for
the year ended 31 December 2016.

Had the combination taken place at the beginning of the year, the
revenue of the Group and the loss of the Group for the year ended
31 December 2016 would have been RMB2,332,773,000 and
RMB469,437,000, respectively.

BUlER ZEZTBRARERNHKA
BELT AR 101,089,0000T r EE T A
R # 55,905,000/ 18 2% -

ERWBEERFY) AEE2016FE
1 95 Bl B A WA A R #2,332,773,0007T
K E1E A R ¥ 469,437,000 7T °

N
o
%,
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32. DISPOSAL OF A SUBSIDIARY 39. EEF AT

BEERLF (FET)

R2017F6 A AEBEBHFEHERET
HEFFLEBR QA (A TEEHELF
(EBET))MI100% EREEL T B

s —

E=F-e

Disposal of Yashili (Heilongjiang)

In June 2017, the Group disposed of a 100% equity interest in
Heilongjiang Yashili Dairy Co., Ltd (“Yashili (Heilongjiang)”) to an
independent third party.

The net assets of Yashili (Heilongjiang) as at the date of disposal were

REER LM (ERETL) Z2FEEN

as follows: T
Notes RMB’000
Bt eE ARBFIT
Net assets disposed of: REXFEEREEE :
Property, plant and equipment M - BB R&E 13 25,289
Construction in progress EREIRE 14 41
206 Land use rights + i P 1 16 2,49
) Intangible assets BEEE 17 10
> o
= Inventories FE 588
g* Prepayments, deposits and other receivables  JE{J 3818 - 30 & & H fth lE Y 5118 60
5 Trade payables B 5 R (635)
s Accruals and other payables FEET B A I H & 7T K (11,445)
z Tax payable FERTET 1S 7R 41
[oX
é. 16,445
-
> Loss on disposal of a subsidiary BREFAAIER 6 (11,698)
=}
g 4,747
-g Satisfied by: W BB ¥ (E -
3 Cash R& 4,747
o
~N



NOTES TO CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (CONTINUED)

S O B 7% R 3R M R )

31 December2017 2017412 HA31H

32. DISPOSAL OF A SUBSIDIARY (Continued)

Disposal of Yashili (Heilongjiang) (continued)

An analysis of the cash flows in respect of the disposal of Yashili

(Heilongjiang) for the current year is as follows:

3. BB F A A @)
BEEMRLTA(BETI @

BZHRERDRINEWT

RAFEE BEHRERLTHN (BRI =

RMB'000

AREETT

Cash consideration RERE 4,747

Cash and bank balances disposed of BEER® RIRITFH =
Net outflow of cash and cash equivalents SFARERSEANRERECRE R

in respect of the disposal of a subsidiary ReEEBYIRLIFRE 4,747

33. NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED STATEMENT

OF CASH FLOWS

(a) Major non-cash transactions

During the year, the Group did not enter into finance lease
arrangements or any other significant non-cash transactions.

33. A BEERERKT

() TEFREXRS

AERN AEERBLTREE
ZHHEMBEANERFRER

% o
(b) Changes in liabilities arising from financing (b) MEFZEHSIENEEEE
activities {1 N

Bank and

other loans

RITRHEMER

RMB’000

AREEFTT

At 1 January 2017 20171 A1H 1,143,091
Changes from financing cash flows EEEIR B EREE) (579,880)

Exchange differences on translation of foreign /NS & SN IR 2247 & = 55

operations (33,515)

At 31 December 2017 M2017412H31H 529,696

N
o
~
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34.

35.

36.

PLEDGE OF ASSETS 34.
Details of the Group's pledged assets are included in notes 13, 14,
17,19, 20, 21, 22, 23 and 24 to the financial statements.

OPERATING LEASE ARRANGEMENTS 35.

As Lessee

At the reporting date, the total future minimum lease payments under
non-cancellable operating leases in respect of buildings were payable
as follows:

NOTES TO CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (CONTINUED)

EEERHA

EREBEEEFERFENFEE S0y
R RMFE13-14-17+19-20~ 21
22°23K%24 -

REHERH

EREAA

RIBE RS RN SEEE T 5
EEREWEN 0K K RIERE R E
e :

2017 2016

RMB’000 RMB'000

AR¥TR ARBFIT

Within one year —E R 8,051 7,835
In the second to fifth years,inclusive E_ZFRFE (BREEEME) 4,819 9,914
12,870 17,749

COMMITMENTS 36. RIE
In addition to the operating lease commitments detailed in note 35, BRI sE355F Ml Ay 48 & FH SR EI - IR
the Group had the following capital commitments as at the end of LEHIR NEBFEMEREAEDT :
the reporting period:
2017 2016
RMB’000 RMB'000
AR¥T AREFIT
Contracted, but not provided for: BEIL B KRB
Land and buildings B EKRZEEY 7,592 19
Plant and machinery TR 3R 15,509 36,276
23,101 36,295
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37. RELATED PARTY TRANSACTIONS 3. B ARS
(a) In addition to the transactions detailed elsewhere in these (2) BEEATEREH TP
financial statements, the Group had the following material RBENBEBRRS KEEBREZ
transactions with related parties during the years ended 31 2017 X 2016F 12 A31HILFE
December 2017 and 2016: SRR T EITIUTEAL S
2017 2016
RMB’000 RMB'000
AR%T T AREBTT
Transactions with subsidiaries of B iy 4% 4% Hﬁﬁ&%ﬁ’]%’& Al
the ultimate holding company 8 B 5 2
Sale of raw materials* ﬁﬁ%ﬁ%;ﬂ* 44 115
Sale of milk powder products * HEDME®* 753 4,028
Sale of power* HES N = 232
Purchase of milk powder products * B B 1) & & * 11,573 105,357
Purchase of raw materials* B B R ¢ 102,729 77,958 2909
Purchase of complimentary products* & B £ 8% pg 3 * 3,434 — ﬁ
Income from consigned processing* % £ A1 L5 #) &= S * 33,126 36,713
Service expense* AR & 1,096 200 ®
Trade mark licence fee* BiEFERFrE — — g%
a
Transactions with subsidiaries of BRHRERAGHNEZRER E
the parent’s main shareholder HE B ARMEE TR S N
Purchase of packing materials BE e RME 37,338 2,526 4‘\4‘;
Purchase of starch and sugar, etc. BEBRD  BES 5,989 24,046 ﬁ
Transactions with a substantial HAEEBBEEAFENKREFTR
shareholder and its subsidiaries HBE QA
Sale of raw materials* SH & R R — 6,341
Sale of base powder* HEEH 172,131 32,464
Purchase of base powder* FREEE D * = 4,143
Testing service income* 15081 AR 75 WL A * 3,685 676
Office rental expense* WAEHEER* 276 127
IT service expense* EEBM R E 195 4,666
Entrusted loan and interest income* &£ B & F B UL A * — 582
Training service expense* AR & > a —
Warehouse expense* BEEER 211 2,020
Income from consigned processing* EEMTUMESR* 14,130 —
Sponsorship for marketing promotion* /35 # & & * — 96,324
Transactions with an associate of iER S $ S il /N O /N I
the ultimate holding company RABE T 2 5
Purchase of base powder* FREEED* 16,520 —



NOTES TO CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (CONTINUED)
& O B 75 3 R MY 5 (@)

31 December2017 2017412 H31H

37. RELATED PARTY TRANSACTIONS (Continued) 37. BEBAE RS @

(a) (continued) (a)

N
-
o
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(b)

(©)

The directors of the Company are of the opinion that the above
related party transactions were conducted on normal
commercial terms during the ordinary course of business. The
directors have confirmed that the above transactions will
continue in the future.

AAFEERA A LWES X
5Ty — R RO TT -
AHEBBRTET EEDH
R 5 S R R R
r

* The above transactions also constitute connected transactions or * itz S ER ET R BI14AE AT
continuing connected transactions as defined in Chapter 14A of the AEMNBEBERI G FEBERS -
Listing Rules.

Outstanding balances with related parties

Details of the outstanding balances with related parties are set
out in notes 21, 22, 25 and 26 to the financial statements.

Compensation of key management
personnel of the Group

Key management compensation is detailed in note 9 to the
financial statements.

(b)

(@

BEEBLTNAREERESR

EEEBEB AN KREEBEHRFR
HRYEHRERM 212225
26 °

Z%IKEEE%‘IEAEE’\JEH

TZEEABNBRMAERNT T
WRMES ©
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38. FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS BY CATEGORY 3. REFSINERMTE

The carrying amounts of each of the categories of financial RBEPRR SELRIAMNEDEXN
instruments as at the end of the reporting period are as follows: T

31 December 2017

20175128311

Financial Financial
assets at fair assets at
value through amortised
profit or loss cost Total
DA nEE
#ETTABR DU ER R A
FTEMESRMEE HENSREE &5t
RMB’000 RMB’'000 RMB’'000
AR®T T AR®T T AR¥T T
Financial assets SRMEE
Trade and bills receivables BE5EWRKRERE — 144,336 144,336
Prepayments, deposits and other ~ JEff 7 - #i4 R Hth
receivables e Uz — 69,065 69,065
Other current financial assets HemiE 724,748 — 724,748
Pledged deposits SREBEITIER — 243,621 243,621
Cash and cash equivalents WHWERBRITER — 1,748,395 1,748,395
724,748 2,205,417 2,930,165
Financial
liabilities at Financial
fair value liabilities at
through profit amortised
or loss cost Total
URREE
SEFTABREN DU ER A A
cHAsE HENEREE &5t
RMB’000 RMB’000 RMB’000
AR®T AR®T AR¥T
Financial liabilities cRIEE
Trade payables B RN — 338,440 338,440
Other payables and accruals HiEN R EER — 554,986 554,986
Short-term interest-bearing bank EHIETBERITRER
loans — 529,696 529,696
— 1,423,122 1,423,122

N
-
=y
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38. FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS BY CATEGORY (Contiued) 38. IRIERIZI D WS B T B (@)

31 December 2016 2016412 A31H

Financial Financial
assets at fair assets at
value through amortised
profit or loss cost Total
AR EE
FEhEt ABm LA SRR A
ENEREE HENeREE &t
RMB’'000 RMB'000 RMB'000
AREFIT AREFIT AREFIT
Financial assets EMEE
Trade and bills receivables BoEWZREE — 161,391 161,391
Prepayments, deposits and other ~ FEff 3k - # & R H
219 receivables JE W 3R IE = 114,932 114,932
< Other current financial assets HteopsEE 426,884 50,110 476,994
e Pledged deposits PR HIER1TIE K — 803,123 803,123
5 Long-term bank deposits EHEITEFER — 379,927 379,927
g Cash and cash equivalents WE LIRTER — 1,642,818 1,642,818
g 426,884 3,152,301 3,579,185
s
§" Financial
= liabilities at Financial
i fair value liabilities at
3 through profit amortised
% or loss cost Total
_(80 ARREE
2 FEET ABE LA BRAK AR
2 MeMalE FENsmas AFF
RMB'000 RMB'000 RMB'000
ARETIT ARETT AREFIT
Financial liabilities =i
Trade payables B BRI — 237,621 237,621
Other payables and accruals B RN ERE A — 253,496 253,496
Short-term interest-bearing bank G HART BRI TRE X
loans — 1,143,091 1,143,091
— 1,634,208 1,634,208
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39. FAIR VALUE AND FAIR VALUE HIERARCHY OF 9. ERMIAZARBERAA
FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS BER
The carrying amounts and fair values of the Group’s financial AEBENSRITAMNERAEALARLEB
instruments, other than those with carrying amounts that reasonably B TERELIURAAEBEMNERRE
approximate to fair values, are as follows: HBWOT
Carrying amount Fair value
BREEE AREE
31 December 31 December 31 December 31 December
2017 2016 2017 2016
20175 20164 20175 20164
12A31H 12H31H 12A31H 12H31H
RMB’'000 RMB’000 RMB’000 RMB’'000
ARETT ARETT AR®TRT ARETET
Financial assets SREE
Long-term bank deposits RAERIRITIFR — 379,927 — 389,524

EEWY &
B 5 RN

EEFMFACABRREMRS
PAVDE B =¥ 3= BaN: R LR ER N

Management has assessed that the fair values of cash and cash
equivalents, the current portion of pledged deposits, trade and bills

receivables, other current financial assets, trade payables, financial REEWEE HEthemEE - BE5E
assets included in prepayments and deposits, interest receivable, and HFRIE - FFATBNREIES - BIWFE
other receivables, financial liabilities included in accruals and FEMERRENSREE  sTATER

ERALEPAI: EBAMEREMEN
REN TR AE  EHFERITERD

customers’ deposits, interest payables and other payables and
accruals, short-term bank loans approximate to their carrying amounts

largely due to the short-term maturities of these instruments.

The Group’s corporate finance team headed by the finance manager
is responsible for determining the policies and procedures for the fair
value measurement of financial instruments. The corporate finance
team reports directly to management. At each reporting date, the
corporate finance team analyses the movements in the values of
financial instruments and determines the major inputs applied in the
valuation. The valuation is reviewed and approved by management.
The valuation process and results are discussed with management
twice a year for interim and annual financial reporting.

AnBEEEARTEEAR AREE
ERTEMKMBOBELHRRE -

AEERVBEEAENTMBEERKEA
ERETERTAAAEEFENER
MEF MHEEFEERAEEERS -
EEERER AR HEEE DTSR
TAEENEHUEEERARMGEEN
TERAE - REEREEERZEL
BE-RTHHAMFEFBRS  HEB
BMEREEEESFIMMA

N
P
w
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39. FAIR VALUE AND FAIR VALUE HIERARCHY OF 9. EMIECZAARABERLAR

FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS (Continued) EE & @m
The fair values of the financial assets and liabilities are included at the TREELMBENAAEBEENZIA
amount at which the instrument could be exchanged in a current BREX 5 (@A SEEERIN R
transaction between willing parties, other than in a forced or BHRNZARXRGEEAR NHFER
liquidation sale. The following methods and assumptions were used BETIAUBETAREE-
to estimate the fair values.
The fair values of long-term bank deposits have been calculated by FARHEENRARITERNA
discounting the expected future cash flows using rates currently L BEHIIEBEUKE - 28R ER LB
available for instruments with similar terms, credit risk and remaining TEHAENTAEBREESSRMNET
maturities. MIEERKBEREN T REGE -
Fair value hierarchy NRAEEBR
The following tables illustrate the fair value measurement hierarchy of AREEFEBAUTERUNGBSa T A

214 the Group’s financial instruments: B AREE
Assets for which fair values are disclosed: BRARBEHRENEE

£10z 1oday [enuuy Py SBUIP|OH [BUOIIBUISIU 1]IysEA

Fair value measurement using

DREFTENER

Significant unobservable
inputs (Level 3)

Significant unobservable
inputs (Level 3)

EATHEEGAZE ERTUERHABE

(B=%#H) (B=%%)

As at 31 December 2017 As at 31 December 2016

7M20175%12A31H 720165128318

RMB’000 RMB’000

ARET T AREFIT

Other financial assets HihemEE 724,748 476,994
Long-term bank deposits REARITENR — 389,524
724,748 866,518
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40. FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT OBJECTIVES

AND POLICIES

The Group's principal financial instruments, other than derivatives,
comprise interest-bearing bank loans and other borrowings, cash and
cash equivalents and pledged deposits. The main purpose of these
financial instruments is to raise finance for the Group’s operations.
The Group has various other financial assets and liabilities such as
trade and bills receivables and trade payables, which arise directly
from its operations.

The main risks arising from the Group'’s financial instruments are fair
value and cash flow interest rate risks, foreign currency risk, credit risk
and liquidity risk. Generally, senior management of the Company
meets regularly to analyse and formulate measures to manage the
Group's exposure to these risks. In addition, the board of directors of
the Company holds meetings regularly to analyse and approve the
proposals made by senior management of the Company. Generally,
the Group introduces conservative strategies on its risk management.
The Group’s accounting policies in relation to derivative financial
instruments are set out in note 2.4 above.

(a) Fair value and cash flow interest rate risks

Fair value interest rate risk is the risk that the value of a financial
instrument will fluctuate because of changes in market interest
rates. Cash flow interest rate risk is the risk that the future cash
flows of a financial instrument will fluctuate because of changes
in market interest rates. With its borrowings issued at fixed and
floating interest rates, the Group is exposed to both fair value
and cash flow interest rate risks.

The Group regularly reviews and monitors the mix of fixed and
floating interest rate borrowings in order to manage its interest
rate risk. The Group’s interest-bearing bank loans and short-
term deposits are stated at amortised cost and not revalued on
a periodic basis. Floating rate interest income and expenses are
credited/charged to profit or loss as earned/incurred.

40.

BHEEAREEEREREE

AEEBRTETRIINEIRZEHMITE
BREABRTESR REeRREEEY
REBEREFER ZEeRTANTIESR
MIRASEELERES AEEHE
EZRERBEEZERELNEMEA
BEMBE NEFHRKFIANRERE
BRE 5 ENRE -

AEBEeRTAELANTIZEARAA
AEBERRSRENXER 5N E
- EERRIEABESRER - —&M
FARRSREREeTHOHRERE
DI RHERE  BERAEBE KX
FER - WIN ARBEFETHAH
SROMEREARASREEER
ENEZ —KRMEF AKEREER
ERPRIVRTRE - AEBARITE
TR TEANSEREAN L XXHE24 -

(@) ARBEERBSHABRE
e

ARrREBEEMNEERREEESHITA
MEBEBSEAMSNREFHM LR
KEH) R - IR 2R 8 A EE R
EEETRITANKRKRESRER
RmZH R m L RKE AR
o B ME I EE KOF B A X
A AEEmEAAEBELR

EREMEREE

AEETHEELEE BT T
PAERNERES REREA
R AKREFERITERRK
METE IR AR E . A
EEREMR - FBNEMERA
K B R BRERS] BUEy A R B
XEFA/ BB

N
—_
w
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40. FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT OBJECTIVES 0. HERABREEBEEREE
AND POLICIES (Continued) (&)

(a)

N
-
o

(b)

£10z 1oday [enuuy Py SBUIP|OH [BUOIIBUISIU 1]IysEA

Fair value and cash flow interest rate risks
(Continued)

If there was a general increase/decrease in the interest rates of
bank loans with floating interest rates by one percentage point,
with all other variables held constant, the consolidated pre-tax
profit would have decreased/increased by approximately
RMB2,803,000 (2016: RMB11,431,000) for the year ended 31
December 2017, with no impact on other components of the
consolidated equity, except for retained earnings of the Group.
The sensitivity analysis above has been determined assuming
that the change in interest rates had occurred at the end of the
reporting period and the Group has applied the exposure to
interest rate risk to those financial instruments in existence at
those dates. The estimated one percentage point increase or
decrease represents management’s assessment of a reasonably
possible change in interest rates over the period until the end of
the next reporting period.

Foreign currency risk

The Group is exposed to foreign currency risk primarily on bank
deposits, other receivables, trade payables and bank loans of
the operations to which the transactions relate. The currencies
giving rise to this risk are primarily HKD, USD, NZD, and EUR.

(a)

(b)

APABERREERENR
B B (@)

WiEZE AN EFEHNRTER
MAEBEEME,RE—EAD
omABEHMESETNE AEH
Z2017F12AB L EE A
HRAFBERD  ENOAR
#2,803,000 T (20164 : A R ¥
11,431,00070) + H ¥ A& EH 4 O
EmOEMIBoWESLE  HEX
DEFEBR N El BRRE DT
EREBMNEEHE RS HEHR
BAMEBET ASEEHEBEN
FERBRERBRZEABTEDN
TRITHE - Bt —RE DA
BetEEHHRNEEZ T — @R
EHRABILEFEREAEZEHOF
fth ©

S5 L B

AEBEBMIIERRETERE N
SNEEHEZRITER HMER
F EHENRBANUNRRITE
R RBEZERERXS2YREE
BN E®, - 5| E e 2 B
TERBE XU ABUARK
IT e
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40. FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT OBJECTIVES

AND POLICIES (Continued)

(b) Foreign currency risk (continued)

The following table demonstrates the sensitivity to a reasonably
possible change in the RMB exchange rates to HKD, USD, NZD,
and EUR with all other variables held constant, of the Group’s
loss before tax (due to changes in the fair value of monetary

assets and liabilities):

40. UBEMEERERREEK
()

(b) M & B )

TRINTEMBEEMEHER T
HEOERAT ARBREE . X
TC AE - ARBRTH) K R A B
HERNAEEH(REREERA
BENAARBEEBEH) HAEEK
AIBENEE -

Increase/
(decrease)
in RMB
exchange Increase/(decrease)
rate % in loss before tax
ARBER
EHRHATHR)% BAaBBELA(TE)
2017 2016
RMB’'000 RMB’000
ARBTT AR¥ETT
If RMB weakens against the USD i AR ETEE (5) 746 (22,415)
If RMB strengthens against MARBEETHE
the USD 5 (746) 22,415
If RMB weakens against the HKD M ARBLABETERE (5) (7,448) (50,042)
If RMB strengthens against the HKD {4 A B #& 5,3 7T FH& 5 7,448 50,042
If RMB weakens against the NZD MARERBTRE (5) 3,823 6,570
If RMB strengthens against the NZD {4 A R ¥ H 41 7T FH{&E 5 (3.823) (6,570)
If RMB weakens against the EUR fig AR ¥ S BT EZ B (5) (3,203) 2,597
If RMB strengthens against the EUR  fif A B ¥ i, BT FHE 5 3,203 (2,597)
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40. FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT OBJECTIVES
AND POLICIES (Continued)

(@

(d)

Credit risk

The Group's credit risk is primarily attributable to trade and
other receivables. Exposure to the credit risk is monitored by
management on an ongoing basis.

Details of the Company’s credit policy are contained in note 21
to the financial statements.

Majority of the Group’s customers have been trading with the
Group for years and the Group did not record significant bad
debt losses during 2017 and 2016. At the end of the reporting
period, the Group had certain concentration of credit risk of the
trade receivables as the receivables from the five largest trade
debtors represented 84.85% of the total trade receivables as at
31 December 2017 (31 December 2016: 49.35%).

The maximum exposure to credit risk is represented by the
carrying amount of each financial asset in the consolidated
statement of financial position. The Group does not provide any
other guarantees which would expose the Group to credit risk.

Further quantitative data in respect of the Group'’s exposure to
credit risk arising from trade receivables are disclosed in note 21
to the financial statements.

Liquidity risk

The Group’s approach to managing liquidity is to ensure, as far
as possible, that the Group as a whole has always maintained
sufficient liquidity to meet its liabilities when they fall due, under

both normal and stressed conditions, without incurring
unacceptable losses or damage to the Group’s reputation.

40.

NOTES TO CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (CONTINUED)
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MR2017F12831H ERE 5 &
WK AE 8 E 5 FE IR 38 1984.85%
(2016512 A31H : 49.35%) °
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40. FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT OBJECTIVES 40.

AND POLICIES (Continued)

(d) Liquidity risk (continued)

The maturity profile of the Group’s financial liabilities as at 31
December 2017 and 2016, based on the contractual

undiscounted payments, is as follows:

BHREREEEBERBE
()

(d) 7 B4 R B m)

KEBREARQR SR E ER2017
FR2016FE12A31B N B BB N
(BERAITBHARFE) DT -

Within
1 year or 1to 2to
on demand 2 years 5 years Total
—FRmx
RER —EWF —ERF B
RMB’000 RMB’000 RMB’000 RMB’000
ARBTT ARBTFT ARETR ARETET
31 December 2017 2017412 A31H
Interest-bearing bank loans =t & R 17 f& & 533,735 — — 533,735
Trade payables B 5 REMERR 338,440 — — 338,440
Other payables and accruals £ i & {5t 78 &2
st E R 554,986 — — 554,986
1,427,161 — — 1,427,161
31 December 2016 2016512 H31H
Interest-bearing bank loans &t B R 1TE & 1,149,344 — — 1,149,344
Trade payables B ZREMNERRX 237,621 = = 237,621
Other payables and accruals £ fib & {5t 3t [
st & A 253,496 — — 253,496
1,640,461 — — 1,640,461

(e) Capital management

The Group's objectives for managing capital are to safeguard
the Group’s ability to continue as a going concern in order to
provide returns for shareholders and benefits for other
stakeholders and to maintain an optimal capital structure to

reduce the cost of capital.

() EXEE

AEBEREANBEBER/RER
SEFENREN UARREHE
MmMEBALRHEDRERME K&
S BALE RSB DR E B AR
o

N
=
0
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40. FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT OBJECTIVES 40 WHEBEEBEERBXR

AND POLICIES (Continued) (&)
(e) Capital management (Continued) (e) EXEHE @)
The Group uses different measures including an adjusted net RNREBFERATEIIEH BELHE
debt-to-equity ratio to monitor its capital. Net debt is calculated BEFEHRHEDLEET NEREE
as interest-bearing bank loans, as shown in the consolidated Ko ZFEBEUNEGHEEAERM
statement of financial position less cash and bank deposits THEREREZRE S RRTHF
(excluding frozen bank deposits). Total capital is calculated as R(TPEREERENRITER)
equity holders’ funds (i.e., total equity attributable to owners of EEH -BEANAHEERME
the parent), as shown in the consolidated statement of financial KRB EEEAES (A
position. AIREREARLAEER)GHTES
4o
2017 2016
RMB’000 RMB'000
220 ARBFT ARBFIT
) Interest-bearing bank loans (note 27)  &F B4R 77 & 3 (K 5% 27) 529,696 1,143,091
>
= Less: Ve
g* Cash and cash equivalents (note 24) R4 MR & ZE Y (M 5£24) 668,962 581,491
5 Short-term bank deposits (note 24) RHR 1T R (M 7E24) 1,079,433 1,061,327
s Long-term bank deposits (note 24) REIRITIF R (M 5E24) — 379,927
T Pledged bank deposits (note 24) PR %8R 17 177 5% (F 7% 24) 243,621 803,123
g
3 Net debt BEFRE (1,462,320) (1,682,777)
& Total equity attributable to owners of NRIRERE ARLER
> the parent 4R 5,490,927 5,701,614
ng_, Adjusted net debt-to-equity ratio KR E X (27%) (30%)
4 Neither the Company nor any of its subsidiaries is subject to Eimae AR A sk EIMATRQAHE
3 externally imposed capital requirements. MZE RN ERESK -
41. EVENTS AFTER THE REPORTING PERIOD 4. REHPRER
On 22 December 2017, Scient (China), Guangzhou Development R2017FE 12 A28 wB (R RA) - E
District Land Development and Reserve Exchange (“GDD") and its MEBEHE T HEREESSZPLORE
agents entered into an expropriation and compensation agreement RIBTY —BRIKEEWRZE B EM
pursuant to which certain properties of Scient (China) will be HERITHWEEXHEES SR LB A
expropriated by GDD for a compensation amount of RMB253 million. B(hE)BUDE HESEAARKE
The transaction is completed in January 2018. 253 E L %R HEN2018F1H T

ﬁylo



NOTES TO CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (CONTINUED)

S O B 7% R 3R M R )

31 December2017 2017412 HA31H

42. STATEMENT OF FINANCIAL POSITION OF THE
COMPANY

Information about the statement of financial position of the Company
at the end of reporting period is as follows:

42. AT B AROR ;R &

WERPRARBANFBARRELAOT

2017 2016
RMB’000 RMB’000
AR¥T AREFIT
NON-CURRENT ASSETS RBEE
Investments in subsidiaries R F R aE RS 5,745,792 6,184,284
Total non-current assets EMBEEBRE 5,745,792 6,184,284
CURRENT ASSETS mEEE
Cash and cash equivalents BERBEESEEY 1,694 2,068
Total current assets MEEERE 1,694 2,068
CURRENT LIABILITIES R EE 221
Loans and borrowings EHEIE K = 43,774
Other payables and accruals Ht e IE R EGER 13,203 11,503
Total current liabilities MEBERE 13,203 55,277
NET CURRENT LIABILITIES REBEEFHE (11,509) (53,209)
Net assets EEFH 5,734,283 6,131,075
EQUITY s
Share capital % 2 399,352 399,352
Reserves E 5,334,931 5,731,723
Total equity R ARRE 5,734,283 6,131,075
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42. STATEMENT OF FINANCIAL POSITION OF THE 42. A BB RR KR @)

COMPANY (Continued)
Note: B &E -
A summary of the Company'’s reserves is as follows: RNATIHREEES T
Capital
Share redemption Contributed Translation Retained Total
premium reserve surplus reserve earnings equity
RIDBE BEXREERE EgEs ERRHFE REER ERgR
RMB’000 RMB’000 RMB’000 RMB'000 RMB'000 RMB'000
ARBEFT ARETFT ARBTIT ARETT ARETT ARBTT
(i) (ii) (iii)
At 1 January 2016 20164E1 A1H®
b 3,881,093 818 1,449,863 42,100 6,252 5,380,126
Total comprehensive income % T Yt 2 44 %8
for the year — — — 387,459 (385) 387,074
Dividends approved in respect Aff # i% &1 5 At
222 of the previous year (35,477) — — — — (35,477)
g At 31 December 2016 7201612 A31H
§ B 45 R 3,845,616 818 1,449,863 429,559 5,867 5,731,723
3
3 Total comprehensive income 2 i Yg 25 44 58
§_ for the year — — — (400,462) 3,670 (396,792)
o
3 At 31 December 2017 72017612318
3 B 45 R 3,845,616 818 1,449,863 29,097 9,537 5,334,931
g-.
2
o Notes: P -
o
z (i) Share premium 10 BE A S% E
>
c
Q
F The excess of the issued price net of any issuance expenses over the par HOBEHMBRIEARTES) BEE T
3 value of the shares issued has been credited to the share premium account BRAEENHED ST ARD T B RG %E
~ of the Company. Under the Companies Law (Revised) of the Cayman Islands, BE BERSEEATDEEEE) &K
o
3 the funds in the share premium account of the Company are distributable to NEBRAEBENESTDEFAQTF
the shareholders of the Company provided that immediately following the B EEEEESEREBEHE - K
date on which the dividend is proposed to be distributed, the Company will NEIBBENEEERBEEXBBRES
be in a position to pay off its debts as they fall due in the ordinary course of BRHEER-

business.
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42. STATEMENT OF FINANCIAL POSITION OF THE

COMPANY (Continued)

Notes: (Continued)

(i) Contributed surplus

As part of the Reorganisation, the shareholders of Yashili (Guangdong)
transferred their equity interests in Yashili (Guangdong) to Yashili (HK) on 2
July 2010. A contributed surplus of RMB1,367,204,000 was resulted from
these transfers for the purpose of the Group’s consolidated financial

statements.

In addition, for the purpose of the Company’s financial statements, a
contributed surplus of RMB1,449,863,000 arose from the issuance of shares
by the Company in exchange for the equity interests in the subsidiaries held
by the shareholders of this subsidiary pursuant to the Reorganisation.

(iliy  Translation reserve

Translation reserve comprises all foreign exchange differences arising from

the translation of the financial statements of foreign operations.

43. APPROVAL OF THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

The financial statements were approved and authorised for issue by

the board of directors on 26 March 2018.

42. AT BB R R R @)

M ()

(ii)

(iii)

R2010F7H28 EREMEH — &1 -
A (ER)ERNOREGEER LA
(ER)MEZEZRELTN(ER) - K
SETEAHUBEREPAZEEELS
@ E e AR 1,367,204,000 7T °

o RADRMBHRES  HEAX
REBTEENBAFRAGARRET
REARENRBEELEHABARE
1,449,863,000 7T

BE 3 1

BRERBEERBREBIINEBOT B R
RMEEWAAINEZRE -

43. #LEMB®REK

BEEE2MN2018F3A26 8 L fE X
F 5t B 75 R 3% o
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A summary of the results and of the assets and liabilities of the Group for
the last five financial years, as extracted from the published audited financial

statements, is set out below.

The table below sets forth our summary income statement information for

FIVE-YEAR FINANCIAL SUMMARY

MERERYBEBRZ2ASEBEREYR
FEORAMZEE BEMBEHENT -

TR AEERARARNBSRBEE

the periods indicated: #
RMB million AREBETT 2013 2014 2015 2016 2017
Restated

Revenue 4 3,890.0 3,553.5 2,761.6 2,203.3 2,254.7
Cost of sales 5 & A A (1,809.9)  (1,734.7) (1,359.3)  (1,166.0)  (1,332.5)
Gross profit E] 2,080.1 1,818.8 1,402.3 1,037.3 922.2
Other revenue H g A 26.2 198.6 178.5 227.4 70.2
Other net (loss)/income Hib (B518), W F58 (0.8) — — — —
Selling and distribution expenses #4 & K 4% $ B % (1,393.8)  (1,368.3) (1,320.3)  (1,170.9) (893.2)
Administrative expenses THRX (219.2) (224.7) (207.9) (389.5) (271.2)
Other expenses EmAY (11.6) (86.0) (92.9) (148.3) (163.0)
Profit/(loss) from operations A () 480.9 3384 (40.3) (444.0) (335.0)
Finance income B & WA 108.2 61.8 187.3 130.2 123.7
Finance costs B 7% B AR (13.2) (6.7) (24.2) (18.8) (18.1)
Net finance income/(expense) FEEUW A (B X) 95.0 55.1 163.1 111.4 105.6
Profit/(loss) before income tax M BT8R R % A

(E18) 576.7 3935 122.8 (332.6) (229.4)
Income tax expense TS %i /X2 (137.4) (60.9) (4.5) 12.4 49.6
Profit/(loss) from continuing BECEEERER

operations (E1#8) 4393 3326 118.3 (320.2) (179.8)
Discontinued operation IR TR
Loss from discontinued operation #% || 48 & % 5% &5 18
(net of income tax) (F0BRPT1SHL)

Profit/(loss) for the year FEHMN/(EE) 4393 3326 118.3 (320.2) (179.8)
Profit/(loss) attributable to AR AR5 R,

(E518) 437.6 332.6 118.3 (320.2) (179.8)
Non-controlling interests FE 15 A hE 2 1.7 — = = —
Profit/(loss) for the year FEEN(BE) 439.3 3326 118.3 (3202)  (179.8)

The table sets forth our summary balance sheet information as of 31

December 2013, 2014, 2015, 2016 and 2017:

TR ANEBEMN 20134 - 20144 - 20154 -
2016 R2017E 12 43BN EERGEREE

&R
RMB million ARBEEHETT 2013 2014 2015 2016 2017
Restated
Non-current assets EREBEE 2,129.7 2,299.5 2,622.0 3,866.1 3,404.7
Current assets mENEE 2,386.9 3,393.7 5,041.7 4,099.9 4,025.9
Current liabilities mE A G 1,335.0 1,598.9 1,674.8 2,253.5 1,918.0
Net current assets/(liabilities) ThBEE/(AE)%EE 1,051.9 1,794.8 3,366.9 1,846.4 2,107.9
Total assets less current liabilities 2 & E R iE & E 3,181.6 4,094.3 5,988.9 5,712.5 5,512.6
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